PlansXpress[®] Tutorial

PlansXpress® Tutorial Version 4

Written by Olivia Wild & John Rees

© House Builder XL Limited 2007-14

HOW TO USE THIS BOOK AND GET STARTED

Thank you for purchasing **PlansXpress**[®]. We hope that you will find it an invaluable tool for helping your business draft professional building plans and elevations quickly and easily.

What can PlansXpress[®] do?

PlansXpress[®] is straightforward to use and has all the tools you need to produce planning application and building regulation compliant working drawings. What's more, **PlansXpress**[®] integrates with EstimatorXpress[®] to fully price up your building work directly from your plans! With **PlansXpress**[®] **Total Toolkit edition** you can draft plans for loft conversions, extensions, new build including timber frame construction, plus you can produce 3D visualisations of your projects.

To upgrade to PlansXpress® Total Toolkit edition or purchase EstimatorXpress®, call the HBXL Sales Team on 0845 1234 065.

How to use this guide and get started with PlansXpress®

To get the most benefit from **PlansXpress**[®], we recommend that all new users work through the Tutorials in this User Guide. The first Tutorial guides you through drawing plans and elevations for a sample house before estimating the job by importing it into EstimatorXpress[®]. The second Tutorial, which refers to features available only in **PlansXpress[®] Total Toolkit edition**, shows you how to draw plans and sections for a loft conversion. As the first Tutorial teaches you many of the basic skills required to use **PlansXpress[®]**, we recommend that you complete the first Tutorial before embarking on the second. After completing the Tutorials, you will have all the knowledge and skills required to undertake your own drawings. The first Tutorial will take around 4 hours and the second Tutorial will take around 2 hours.

This User Guide contains instructions for installing **PlansXpress**[®] on page 7. On page 11, you will find an overview of the basics you need to know to start using **PlansXpress**[®]. For a guide to the Shortcut Keys, see page 17. The House Tutorial, which talks you through drafting a typical new build house, starts on page 19. The Loft Tutorial, which guides you through drafting a loft conversion, starts on page 213.

Additional Help

Support for **PlansXpress**[®] is available from the **HBXL Help Team** on **0845 1234 085**. Please note support is only available with a valid Support and Updates subscription. For more information, call the **Help Team** on **0845 1234 085**.

Help is also available by pressing the F1 key on your keyboard at any time or pressing the Help button on screen.

In addition, extra PlansXpress® Tutorials are available online at www.hbxl.co.uk.

Disclaimer

House Builder XL (HBXL) has made every effort to ensure that the information regarding **PlansXpress®** contained in this User Guide is accurate at the time of going to press.

House Builder XL shall have no liability or responsibility insofar as **PlansXpress**[®] is applied by you to your business's construction projects in an inappropriate way. The Company does not warrant, guarantee or make any representations regarding the use, or the result of use, of the software or written materials in terms of correctness, accuracy, reliability, currentness or otherwise.

CONTENTS

HOW TO USE THIS BOOK AND GET STARTED	3
INSTALLING PLANSXPRESS®	7
WHAT CAN PLANSXPRESS DO?	9
BASIC PRINCIPLES	11
SHORTCUT KEYS	17
THE PLANSXPRESS® SCREEN IN DETAIL	18
HOUSE TUTORIAL House Plans Launching PlansXpress® & Setting up the Drawing Page Setting Out the Construction Lines Drawing the Construction Lines Drawing the Internal Walls Pracing the Internal Walls Placing the Windows Placing the Vindows Placing the Doors Placing the Staircase Creating the First Floor Setting Out the Suspended Floor Setting Out the Suspended Floor Setting Out the House Slab Adding Walls, Doors and Windows to the First Floor Adding Valls, Doors and Windows to the First Floor Adding Bathroom, Cloaks & Kitchen SYMBOLS Drawing the Roof Adding the Drain Runs & Manholes Creating Elevation Views Adding Hatch Patterning to the Elevations Adding Dimension Lines to the Plans	19 20 27 29 36 45 58 67 75 81 90 103 110 113 117 123 139 160 171 180
Adding Labels & Drawing Details to the Plans	184
	189
CREATING AN ESTIMATE IN ESTIMATORXPRESS® BASED ON A PLANSXPRESS® DRAWING	198
IMPORTING TECHNICAL NOTES INTO PLANSXPRESS® FROM ESTIMATORXPRESS®	201
CREATING A 3D VISUALISATION OF THE PLANS	204
LOFT TUTORIAL Loft Plans Creating the Loft Plan Forming the Loft Opening Drawing the Dormer Placing the Upstand Walls Placing the Collared Ceiling Marking out the Sloping Ceiling	213 214 219 235 242 253 263 263

Drawing the Stud Walls	272
Placing the Doors	279
Placing the Roof Windows	283
Marking out the Loft Floor	288
Adding the Bathroom Suite	301
Finishing off the Loft Plan	306
Developing the Loft Section	309
Applying Plaster and Decoration Treatment to Gable Walls	328
Creating a Rear Elevation	332
Printing the plans	337
TERMS & CONDITIONS	344
Terms & Conditions for PlansXpress [®]	344

INSTALLING PLANSXPRESS®

Before installing PlansXpress® please ensure your computer meets the following minimum system requirements:

- 1.5 GHz Processor
- 600 MB Hard Drive Space
- 1 GB Ram
- Windows® XP/Vista /7/8
- Graphics Card 1024x768 Resolution
- SVGA Monitor
- 3 Button Mouse with Scroll Wheel
- Internet Connection

In order to estimate directly from your PlansXpress® drawings, you must also have the following installed:

• EstimatorXpress[®] v.8.56 or later

INSTALLING YOUR PLANSXPRESS® SOFTWARE

- 1. Insert the PlansXpress® CD into your CD/DVD drive. The CD should autorun.
- 2. If Autorun has been disabled and you're running Windows[®] 2000/XP, select Run from the Start Menu, type in D:\Setup.exe (where D: is your CD/DVD drive). If you're running Windows[®] Vista or Windows 7, the Run option may not be available on the Start Menu, so instead type D:\Setup.exe into the Search box at the bottom of the Start Menu. If you are using Windows 8 then from the start screen type the word 'run' and then select the 'Run' option that the search will find to launch the Run box.
- 3. After the installation wizard has started, follow the onscreen instructions until the installation is complete.

LAUNCHING PLANSXPRESS® FOR THE FIRST TIME



- 1. To launch the software either double click on the PlansXpress[®] icon or go to Start, All Programs, HBXL, PlansXpress and click on the PlansXpress[®] icon.
- 2. You will then be required to follow the registration wizard to fill in your company contact details and register your copy of **PlansXpress**[®].

WHAT CAN PLANSXPRESS DO?

A straightforward to use program, **PlansXpress®** has all the professional tools you need from a CAD package – without the hassle!

Simply lay out your plans on-screen using the software's intuitive construction tools and comprehensive library of architectural symbols.

With a click of the mouse you can accurately place walls, roofs and floors, staircases, doors, windows, electrics and plumbing, drainage, kitchens and bathrooms, landscaping, lofts and more.

Quickly add intelligent auto-hatching and auto-dimension lines, insert sections and notes from the software's library, and personalize with your company information.

Suitable for planning applications and building regulations, you can print your professional drawings in plan format and the software will automatically generate elevations too.

Pricing the job from your plans is easy∞. At the click of a button simply import your **PlansXpress**[®] file into EstimatorXpress[®] and the job will be fully costed and quantified with a business winning quote*!

Already got plans from your customer or architect? Scan or import them into **PlansXpress**[®] and trace over them with your mouse^ to create instant estimates ∞ , customer quotes^{*} and 3D visualizations[†]!

- Comprehensive range of construction tools
- Comprehensive architectural symbol library
- Construction-standard hatch patterns
- Auto-dimension walls
- Auto-hatch elevations
- Object dimensioning tools
- Automatic 2D elevation generation
- 3D visualizations†
- Insert sections
- Insert notes
- Insert images
- Insert text
- Custom Layers, Views & Layouts
- Snap and X-Y drawing modes
- Additional pens
- Advanced functions
- Integrates with EstimatorXpress^{®∞}
- DWG/DXF/PDF/WMF/BMP/JPG/GIF File export
- DWG/DXF import

∞Requires EstimatorXpress[®] v.8.56 (or later) Lite or Total Toolkit edition †Requires **PlansXpress[®] Total Toolkit edition**

*Quote facility requires EstimatorXpress[®] v.8.56 (or later) Total Toolkit edition ^Requires **PlansXpress[®] ScanPack** (available separately)

BASIC PRINCIPLES

This section will teach you some important things you need to know about how to use **PlansXpress**[®]. It's a good idea to read through this section whilst referring to the software, before embarking on your first drawing.

USING YOUR MOUSE





DRAWING

Unlike other drawing packages you may have used, when drawing anything in **PlansXpress**[®], you must click and release the left mouse button to place the start and subsequent points of whatever you are drawing. Do not hold down the left mouse button and drag because this will not work.

SELECTING INDIVIDUAL ITEMS

You can select an individual item by clicking on it with the left mouse button.

SELECTING MULTIPLE ITEMS

Ctrl You can select multiple items by holding down the Ctrl key on your keyboard and clicking with the left mouse button on every item you wish to select. Alternatively, you can select multiple items by holding down the left mouse button and dragging the cursor so that all the items you wish to select are captured inside the rectangle which appears. If you drag from left to right, a blue rectangle with a solid line appears and only the items entirely within the rectangle are selected. If you drag from right to left, a green rectangle with a dotted line appears and all items which are partly or entirely within the rectangle are selected.



Left to right selection.

Right to left selection.

The Middle Mouse Button (Scroll Button/Wheel)

A scroll mouse is a system requirement because it is crucial to drawing with **PlansXpress**[®]. If you don't already have a scroll mouse, it's definitely worth investing in one.

ENTERING DIMENSIONS WHEN DRAWING

If you click the middle mouse button while drawing an item, a menu will pop up with input boxes to enter horizontal and vertical dimensions for the next point.

ACCESSING MIDDLE CLICK OPTIONS

A number of options can be accessed by clicking the middle mouse button when you have an item (or multiple items) selected. The options which appear on the popup menu are dependent on the item you have selected.

GRABBING AND MOVING THE PAGE

If you click and hold down the middle mouse button at any time, you can grab and move the page in order to get a better view. Release the middle mouse button once you're happy with the position of the page.

ZOOMING

Unlike in Microsoft[®] and other software packages, the scroll wheel does not scroll around the page but can be used to zoom in and out. Scrolling the scroll wheel upwards zooms in and scrolling the scroll wheel downwards zooms out.

The Right Mouse Button

CANCELLING AN ACTION

When you want to cease drawing whatever you are drawing, you can click the right mouse button. This will cancel whatever action the Command Window is prompting you to do.

This is equivalent to pressing the Esc key on your keyboard.

REPEATING THE LAST ACTION

You can also click the right mouse button to repeat your last action. For example, if you have just drawn a brick and block cavity wall, you can draw another brick and block cavity wall of the same specification by clicking the right mouse button.

USING X AND Y COORDINATE MODES

In order to accurately place items on the page, X-Y Coordinate mode must be switched on by pressing the XY Coordinate

button for pressing F8 on your keyboard.

When in X-Y Coordinate mode, **PlansXpress**[®] is set up like a graph with X and Y coordinates (see diagram below). The origin is located at the bottom left corner of the page. When placing an item on a page, the X coordinate defines its position along the horizontal plane/axis. The Y coordinate defines its position along the vertical plane/axis.



You can use X and Y coordinates to accurately place the start point of an item, such as a wall or drain run. You may also use X and Y coordinates to place subsequent points of an item, relative to the previously defined point.

You will see that the X-Y Coordinate mode is switched on once you've positioned the first point of an item. Dimensions will appear onscreen next to the cursor to show its dimensions relative to the previous point. As you move your cursor, the values are updated to reflect the position of your cursor. You can click the left mouse button to accept the coordinates and cursor position.

- \$-	5	21	0.	00)	-
-						1

Also, X and Y input boxes will appear at the top of the screen to allow you to enter X and Y coordinates. The X coordinate is shown in the left hand box and the Y coordinate value is shown in the right hand box. You can type in the X and Y values of the next point by clicking in either the X or Y input box and editing the value as required (double click on the existing text to select the current value which can then be deleted or overtyped as required). As soon as you enter a value, **PlansXpress**[®] will lock the dimension and the cursor will be locked along that axis. You can click the lock button to unlock the dimension and release the cursor. To accept the dimensions typed into one or both boxes click the left mouse button when the cursor is within the drawing area. Both values are unlocked automatically as soon as the point is accepted.

When placing a new point to the right of an existing point (be it the origin or a previously defined point), you need to enter a positive value into the X input box (see diagram below). However, you do not need to enter a plus sign (+) before the dimension.



When placing a new point to the left of an existing point, you need to enter a negative value into the X input box. Therefore you must enter a minus sign (-) before the dimension.



When placing a new point above an existing point, you need to enter a positive value into the Y input box. Again, you don't need to enter a plus sign.



(real)

When placing a new point below an existing point, you need to enter a negative value into the Y input box. Therefore you must enter a minus sign (-) before the dimension.



USING SNAP AND NEAREST SNAP MODES

Snap Points

You can draw items without using X and Y coordinates. Instead you can snap items you are drawing onto existing items.

Ъ.	You	must firs	st ensure	you	are ir	Snap	mode	by	pressing	the	Snap	button	or	pressing	the F	7 key	Ľ	on your
keyb	oard.																	

The different snap point options are indicated by different symbols. When the background is set to white, the symbols are blue and when the background is set to black they are yellow.

See below for the different snap point options. In the following explanation, where the word 'line' is used it refers to any linear item such as walls, drains, fencing etc. Equally where the word 'rectangle' is used, it refers to any rectangular item such as slab, tarmac drive and block paving.

End means End point. End points are found on either end of a line, the corners of a rectangle, either end of a dimension arrow and on the ends of an arc.

Mid Δ means Mid point. Mid points are located at the middle point of a line.

Cen O means Centre point. Centre points are found at the centre point of an arc or circle.

Int × means Intersection point. Intersection points are found where lines, circles and arcs cross over.

PlansXpress® Tutorial

Quad \diamond means Quadrant point. Quadrant points are found on circles and arcs at 0, 90, 180 and 270 degree positions (3 o'clock is 0).

Ins means Insertion point. Insertion points are found at the point where text symbols have been inserted into the page.

Tan Ω means Tangent point. The system will find a tangent point when the cursor passes over a tangency position on an arc or circle (from the current point). This snap will therefore only appear if a current point exists i.e. selecting the second point when drawing a line.

Perp means Perpendicular point. The system will find a perpendicular point when the cursor passes over a position an a line/arc/circle that is at a right angle to the current point. This snap will therefore only appear if a current point exists i.e. selecting the second point when drawing a line.

Locate the desired snap point by holding your mouse over the appropriate region of the item i.e. at the end of a line to find the 'End' point. Click the left mouse button to register the snap point.

Nearest Snap

Near Means Near point. Near points are found at any point on an item where there is no other specific snap point.

At times, you may wish to snap the item you are drawing onto another item, but not necessarily onto a specific snap point. For example, when drawing setting out lines, known as construction lines, you may wish to snap onto an existing construction line. In this instance, you can use the Nearest Snap function which can be switched on by pressing the Nearest Snap button.

SHORTCUT KEYS

Кеу	What does it do?	How do I use it?
F7	Switch on Snap mode	Press F7 to switch the Snap mode on in order to snap to End, Intersection and Perpendicular points etc. See 'Basic Principles' for more information on Snap points.
F8	Switch on XY mode	Press F8 to switch the XY mode on in order to place items using X and Y coordinates. See 'Basic Principles' for more information on XY coordinates.
	Enter direction and distance	Press one of the arrow keys to specify the direction of the next point, and enter the distance into the dialog box.
R	Enter relative input	Hold the cursor over an existing point (End, Intersection etc.) and press the R key to use the Snap point as a point of reference when placing a new point. Snap mode must first be enabled.
X	Snap to X coordinate	Hold the cursor over an existing point (End, Intersection etc.) and press the X key to fix the new point to the X coordinate of the existing point. Snap mode must first be enabled.
Y	Snap to Y coordinate	Hold the cursor over an existing point (End, Intersection etc.) and press the Y key to fix the new point to the Y coordinate of the existing point. Snap mode must first be enabled.
EMPT	Force snap	When in Snap mode, press either the E, M, P or T key to automatically snap to an End, Middle, Perpendicular or Tangent point respectively.
C	Close entity by snapping to the first point	Press the C key after you've placed the last point of the entity you're drawing. PlansXpress ® automatically links the last point with the first point to close the shape.
[+ Shift]	Draw straight line	Hold down the Shift key to draw a straight or diagonal line. As you move the cursor it will be restricted to drawing lines at 0° , 45° , 90° , 135° , 180° etc.
Ctrl	Select multiple items	Hold down the Ctrl key while left clicking on items to select multiple items.
+ Enter	Move between input boxes in Dimensions Wizards	Press the Enter key to move around the input boxes in the Dimensions Wizards, in order to enter dimensions.
Del	Delete one or multiple items	Press the Delete key to delete items you have selected.
Esc	Cancel the current action	Press the Escape key to cancel the current action.
Tab 🔸	Toggle measurement for positioning Windows/Doors	When placing Windows or Doors, press the Tab key to change the side PlansXpress ® is measuring from.

THE PLANSXPRESS® SCREEN IN DETAIL

This is how your screen appears when you first open **PlansXpress**[®]. The main areas of the screen are labelled. You will be referred to these during the Tutorial.



HOUSE TUTORIAL

The House Tutorial is a hands-on Tutorial for those with little or no experience of using **PlansXpress**[®]. The Tutorial talks you through drawing a five bedroom house, teaching you all the basic skills required to draw architectural plans and elevations in **PlansXpress**[®].

During the Tutorial you will work through sections which will teach you how to:

- Set out construction lines
- Draw internal and external walls
- Place windows, doors and a structural opening
- Place a staircase
- Copy a ground floor plan to create the first floor
- Set out a suspended floor
- Set out a house slab
- Place bathroom, cloaks and kitchen symbols
- Draw a roof
- Draw drain runs and manholes
- Create elevations
- Add dimension lines
- Add labels and title information
- Print plans and elevations
- Import the drawing into EstimatorXpress[®]
- Import technical information from EstimatorXpress® to create notes.

The time required to complete each section is indicated by this symbol at the start of each chapter:

The whole Tutorial should take around 4 hours to complete from start to finish.

When working through the Tutorial, we recommend that once you start a particular section, you continue until it is complete. At the end of each section, you are reminded to save the document, and you can then exit **PlansXpress**[®] and come back to the Tutorial at a later date.

Please note, the aim of this Tutorial is to teach you how to draft plans and elevations with **PlansXpress**[®]. Throughout the Tutorial, the Dimensions Wizards will not be discussed in detail as most of the information they request is required by EstimatorXpress[®] for estimating purposes. The dimensions required to draft the plans are highlighted in yellow for easy identification. For full instructions on how to use EstimatorXpress[®], and the Dimensions Wizards, please consult the EstimatorXpress[®] Getting Started Guide.





Diagram B: Ground Floor Layout



Diagram C: First Floor Layout





Ext. Wall 8 PlansXpress® Tutorial



Ext. Wall 2



Ext. Wall 8

PlansXpress® Tutorial



PlansXpress® Tutorial





LAUNCHING PLANSXPRESS[®] & SETTING UP THE DRAWING PAGE



The New Drawing dialog box contains templates which define elements of your drawing such as the page size and scale, unit of measurement. pen colours and line weights, and text sizes and styles. You can either select one of the drawing templates, or define your own drawing settings using the Wizard button at the bottom left of the New Drawing dialog box.

This section of the Tutorial talks you through launching **PlansXpress®** and selecting an appropriate drawing template. By the end of this section you'll be ready to commence drawing.

1. To launch the software either double click on the PlansXpress[®] icon on your desktop or go to Start, All Programs, HBXL, PlansXpress 4 and click on the PlansXpress[®] icon.

Once you have launched **PlansXpress**[®], the New Drawing dialog box pops up.

New Drawing	×
 Blank Drawing A1 1 to 100 Plain Page.pxd A1 1 to 100 Scanning & Tracing Template.pxd A1 1 to 100 with Title & Notes Block.pxd A1 1 to 50 Plain Page.pxd A1 1 to 50 Scanning & Tracing Template.pxd A1 1 to 50 scanning & Tracing Template.pxd A1 1 to 50 with Title & Notes Block.pxd A3 1 to 100 Plain Page.pxd A3 1 to 100 with Title & Notes Block.pxd A3 1 to 50 Plain Page.pxd A4 1 to 100 Plain Page Landscape.pxd A4 1 to 100 Plain Page Portrait.pxd 	A4 1 to 100 with Title Block.p> A4 1 to 50 Plain Page Landsca A4 1 to 50 Plain Page Portrait A4 1 to 50 with Title Block.pxc Electrics Template.pxd
< III	4
Wizard Show at Startup	OK Cancel

For now, we're going to use the template called A1 1 to 50 with Title & Notes Block.

- 2. Click on the drawing template called A1 1 to 50 with Title & Notes Block.
- 3. Click OK to select the highlighted template.

PlansXpress[®] sets up the page according to the settings within the selected template. The drawing template you have chosen has set up your page to be A1 in size, with a 1:50 scale, a 1mm unit of measurement and no grid. The page also has a border and contains a Notes and Title Block section on the right hand side of the page, ready for you to fill out later on.



Once the drawing template is open, you can adjust any of the settings, if required, using the Settings Menu. If you go to Settings, and then Page, you can alter the page size, orientation and scale. From within Units, you can amend the unit of measurement, the display precision of dimension lines and cursor increment when drawing. From within Grid, you can define the size of the grid, and switch it on or off. From within Display, you can alter the background colour of the page. It's worth taking a few moments to look at the different Settings options, as they will be useful in the future.



For now, as the page is set up appropriately, you're ready to start drawing.

SETTING OUT THE CONSTRUCTION LINES



This section of the Tutorial guides you through adding construction lines to your page in order to produce a ground floor plan. Construction lines allow you to set out the boundaries of the building and help speed up the process of drawing the external walls. The construction lines should be placed to the exterior of the walls so that they reflect the external measurements of the walls.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- draw horizontal and vertical construction lines;
- position a construction line by using another construction line as a point of reference to measure from;
- use the arrow keys on your keyboard to tell PlansXpress® where to place a construction line.

You will need to refer to Diagrams A and B during this exercise on pages 20 and 21.

At the end of this exercise, your page will look like this:



First, we're going to define the top left hand corner of the ground floor plan. To do this we need to place the vertical construction line, Line A, and the horizontal construction line, Line 1, which intersect at the top left of the house, towards the top left of the page. See Diagrams A and B on pages 20 and 21 for reference. The placement of these construction lines isn't critical at this time as the rest of the construction lines will be placed relative to these lines.

Vertical Line Press the Vertical Construction Line button.

	Architectural	Drawing &	Annotation	Non-Estimated Syr	mbols Modi	fy & Selecti	ion	Views & 3D	Settings
🔪 Line	🗙 Polyline 🕞	🛄 Rectangle	🐼 Image	👿 Point	Horizontal	<u>_</u>	Δ		× Linear Dimension
Arc	Ellipse	Offset	쉽 Array -	*** Divide as Points	• Vertical	A	A		Chain Dimension
🖸 Cirde	🖸 Polygon	🋵 Symbol	💹 Hatch 👻	🔀 Insertion Point	/ Angular	Delete	Text	Specification Notes	Multi-Point Dimension
		Draw			Construction	Lines			An

The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

1

The Command Window is the window which is located, as default, directly below the drawing area. When you press a button

on a toolbar, instructions appear prompting you what to do next.



- 2. You may wish to zoom in so the page fills the screen by using the scroll wheel on your mouse and the onscreen scroll bars.
- 3. Move your cursor to the position on screen where you want to place the vertical construction line, Line A, towards the left hand side of the page.



8

4. Once you're happy with the position of the line, click the left mouse button.

If you move your cursor away you will see that the vertical construction line has been permanently placed.

Now let's place the horizontal construction line.

5. --- Horizontal Press the Horizontal Construction Line button.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

- 6. Move your cursor towards the top of the page to the position where you want to place the horizontal construction line, Line 1.
- 7. Once you're happy with the position, click the left mouse button.

Again, the horizontal construction line is placed in the position selected with the cursor.



Now we will place the remaining lines, relative to the position of the original construction lines.

Vertical Press the Vertical Construction Line button again.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

The next construction line we want to draw is Line B. As you can see from Diagram B on page 21, Line B is 4030mm (or 4.03m) to the right of the original vertical construction line, Line A. We are going to use Line A as our point of reference to measure from to draw Line B.

- 9. Press the Nearest Snap button (near the top right corner of PlansXpress®r). This allows you to snap to existing construction lines to use as a point of reference.
- 10. Hold your mouse over Line A until 🕅 appears along with the message 'Near'.



11. Once the 'Near' message has appeared, press and release the R key on your keyboard.

This process of holding your mouse over the existing construction line until the 'Near' message appears and pressing the R key tells **PlansXpress**[®] that we want to use the construction line as a point of reference to place the new construction line.

You will notice that a dimension appears, indicating the distance between the construction line we are using as a point of reference, and the position of the new construction line.

As you move your mouse, you will see that the dimension changes. We want to place Line B 4030mm to the right of Line A (our reference point). We can do this either by using the onscreen dimension to guide us and place it by eye, or to place the line more accurately, we can type the desired distance into **PlansXpress**[®]. We will do the latter.

12. Press the right arrow key on your keyboard.

1		
1		~
-		
1		I II.
1	E340.00	I II.
	3510.00	
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		I II.
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
1		
		Balance Constant Libbo
		USEND BARKE BUTTCH
1		
1		
1		Dangary Harm
1		
1		Provid Countries
1		Standard 1
1		
		City of the last o
1		in the second seco
1		Denverse Probable
1		-
1		Here .
1		
		Hunter
		<u>-</u>
1		Damin Handy
1		
1		Source Street Test
1		

A dialog box pops up asking you to enter a distance. The arrow in the dialog box indicates which direction **PlansXpress**® is measuring in.

- 13. Type 4030 into the Distance box (you don't need to type mm as the drawing is set up in mm).
- 14. Click OK.





We have told **PlansXpress**[®] to draw a vertical construction line 4030mm to the right of Line A. You will see Line B has appeared 4030mm to the right of Line A.

Now we're going to repeat the process of drawing a construction line using an existing line as a point of reference. This time we'll use the construction we've just drawn, Line B, as a point of reference to draw Line C. Line C is 3855mm to the right of Line B.

- 15. **PlansXpress**[®] should still be ready to draw a Vertical Construction Line. You can tell by looking at the onscreen Command Window above the drawing area which should read: Give Point. If not, press the Vertical Construction Line button.
 - F7 or
- 16. Snap mode is switched off, as entering a dimension activates X-Y Coordinate mode, so press the F7 key

Snap button it on. The Snap button can be found at the very bottom right corner of the plan when placing the construction lines.

- 17. Hold your mouse over Line B until ⊠ appears along with the message 'Near'.
- 18. Once the 'Near' message has appeared, press and release the R key on your keyboard.



- 19. Move your mouse to the right.
- 20. Press the right arrow key on your keyboard.

A dialog box pops up asking you to enter a distance. The arrow on the dialog box indicates which direction **PlansXpress**[®] is measuring in.

- 21. Type 3855 into the Distance dialog box.
- 22. Click OK.

istance 🕅						
Input Sizes						
Free Input						
Distance Direction						
3855						
Brick Length No Bricks						
Brick Height						
Mortar Options						
🔘 Less 1 🔘 Equal 🔘 Add 1						
OK Cancel						



You will see Line C has appeared 3855mm to the right of Line B.

23. Repeat this process to place Line D, using Line C as the point of reference to measure from. Line D is 4030mm to the right of Line C. Remember you will need to turn Snap mode on again either by clicking the Snap button 💌 or pressing F7 **F7** on your keyboard.

24. Next place the horizontal construction Lines 2 and 3 in the same way, clicking the Horizontal Construction Line button

Horizontal, switching on Snap mode, and using the down arrow key on your keyboard to enter the distance between the construction line you're using as the point of reference and the new construction line. Refer to the table below for guidance on placing each construction line.

Line	How to place it
Line 2	7475mm below Line 1
Line 3	2465mm below Line 2



Once complete your page should look like this:

Let's save the work we've done so far.

25. Click Save on the top menu.

The Save As dialog box pops up.

😵 Save As						X
🚱 🗢 📕 🕨 Lib	raries 🕨 Documents 🕨 My Plans		• 4 ₇	Search My Plans		Q
Organize 🔻 New	v folder					?
✓ ★ Favorites ■ Desktop ■ Desktop	Documents library My Plans			Arrange by:	Folder 🔻	
 Downloads Dropbox Recent Places SkyDrive 	E	No items match your search.				
 ∠ibraries Documents → Music → Pictures ∀ Videos 						
⊿ 🖳 Computer ▷ 💒 Local Disk (C:)	Ŧ					
File name:	Mr Oliver 5 Bedroom House.pxd					•
Save as type:	PlansXpress Drawing (*.pxd)					•
Aide Folders				Save	Cancel	

- 26. Locate and click on the Folder you wish to save the File in.
- 27. Type Mr Oliver 5 Bedroom House into the File name input box.
- 28. Click Save.

All your work is saved. We recommend that you save periodically.

DRAWING THE EXTERNAL WALLS



This section of the Tutorial guides you through drawing the external brick and block cavity walls for the ground floor plan, using the construction lines to guide you.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- draw brick and block cavity walls;
- use Interception ('Int') points on construction lines to position the walls;
- join walls which haven't automatically joined;
- flip over the internal and external leaf of the walls.

You will need to refer to Diagram B during this exercise on page 21.

At the end of this exercise your page will look like this:



PlansXpress® Tutorial


- Press the External Walls dropdown button on the Architectural ribbon. 1.
- 2. Click on the external wall type called Brick and Block Cavity Wall.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Ground floor cavity wall for 2.325 high floor to joist height (Multi storey).



IMPORTANT! When using PlansXpress[®] in combination with EstimatorXpress[®], you need to draw, and thus estimate, each floor individually.

After selecting the dimensional template, the Dimensions Wizard pops up. Some of the information you enter here is used to draw your plans and elevations (such as Height of wall and Thickness of each leaf). These dimensions are highlighted in vellow. Other information is required purely for estimating. For now, we're going to focus on entering the information which impacts on the appearance of the drawings by concentrating on the input boxes highlighted in yellow. For guidance on using the Dimensions Wizards for estimating, please refer to your EstimatorXpress® Getting Started Guide.



IMPORTANT! The unit used by the Dimensions Wizards (and EstimatorXpress®) is metres, irrespective of the unit specified for drawing in PlansXpress[®].

Enter Dimensions Page 1 of 4	•		
Location: EternalWate - Wall dimensions		4.	Enter the height of wall of 2.55m. Use the Enter key
	0.1025 0.100		to move to the next input box.
		5.	Enter the external leaf thickness of 0.1025 (102.5mm wide brick) and the internal leaf thickness of 0.1 (100mm wide block), moving between the input boxes using the Enter key.
WALL ELEVATION	SECTION THROUGH WALL		·······
Options Show Tech Tip A	ccept Defaults 🗙 Cancel 🛞 Back 🕥 Next	6.	Click Next.

38 Tutorial Drawing the External Walls



	Enter Dimensions Page 4 of 4	3
11. Review the plastering and decoration details.	Plastering and decoration	
NOTE: You can click Back at any point to review the details on previous pages.	Is main wall blockwork plastered ? (Y/N) Is main wall plastering/blockwork decorated ? (Y/N) Number of skirting boards to main wall	1 r
 Once you're happy with the information you've entered, click Finish. 	Is main wall skirting primed? (Y/N) Is main wall skirting decorated? (Y/N) INTERNAL PLASTERED WALL ELEVATION	•
	Options Show Tech Tip Accept Defaults X Cancel 🕞 Back 💿 Fin	ish

Accept Defaults

NOTE: If you are happy with the default settings you can click the Accept Defaults button at the bottom of the any Dimensions Wizard page to close the wizard and begin drawing.

Now we're ready to start drawing our external walls. We will start by drawing the back wall of the house, External Wall 1.

On screen, you'll notice the grey Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

13. Hold your mouse over where Construction Line A and Line 1 intersect and a intersect and a

'Int' stands for Intersection. This tells us that the mouse is hovering over the Intersection of Lines A and 1.

14. Click the left mouse button to register the Start Point of External Wall 1 at this intersection point.



The onscreen Command Window now prompts: Give Next Point. We now need to tell **PlansXpress**[®] where External Wall 1 ends, on the intersection of Line 1 and Line D.

- 15. Hold your mouse over the Line 1 and D intersection until X and 'Int' appear.
- 16. Click the left mouse button to register this corner of the walls.



The Command Window now prompts: Give Next Point. We now need to indicate the next corner of the house, where Line 3 and Line D intersect.

- Hold your mouse over the Line 3 and D intersection until X and 'Int' appear.

Click the left mouse button to register this corner of the walls.



The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

 Hold your mouse over the Line 3 and C intersection until and 'Int' appear.







21. Continue in this way, drawing the external walls by clicking on the construction line intersections, as per Diagram B on page 21, until you have clicked on the point where Lines 3 and A intersect.

Now we need to connect the final point on the wall with the first point placed.

22. Hold your mouse over the Line 1 and A intersection until and 'End' appear.

This ensures the wall snaps to the end of the original wall.

23. Click the left mouse button.

PlansXpress[®] is ready to draw the next wall, but as we have finished drawing the external walls, we need to tell **PlansXpress**[®] that we've finished drawing this stretch of wall.

24. Click the right mouse button.



PlansXpress® is no longer in external wall drawing mode.



Zoom closely into the corner you have joined by scrolling the scroll wheel upwards. Use the horizontal and vertical scrollbars on screen to zoom in on the desired area. You may notice that the walls have not joined properly.

42 Tutorial Drawing the External Walls

- 25. \Box To get them to join, click on the left-hand wall of the house.
- 26. **Ctrl** Hold down the Ctrl key on your keyboard and click on the back wall of the house.

Both walls should now be highlighted.

- 27. Release the Ctrl key.
- 28. Click the middle mouse button (scroll button).





The walls are now joined.

30.

Click anywhere on a blank area of screen to deselect the walls.





Zoom closely into the external walls once again, by scrolling the scroll wheel upwards. Use the horizontal and vertical scrollbars on screen to zoom in on the desired area. If you inspect the walls closely, you will notice that each leaf has a different hatching pattern. The blockwork is represented by a grey crisscross pattern and the brickwork is represented by a red diagonal stripe pattern. If your external walls look like the adjacent picture, the walls have been drawn inside out and need turning the right way round, so continue from the next step. If your walls are the right way round, continue from step 37.

To flip the walls the right way round, we first need to select all the walls.

- 31. Zoom out so you can see the entire footprint of the house by scrolling the scroll wheel downwards.
- 32. Move your mouse above and to the left of the plans.
- 33 😷
 - \Box Click and hold down the left mouse button.
- 34. Drag you mouse down and to the right. You will notice a blue rectangle appears.
- 35. Move your mouse until all the walls are contained within the blue rectangle and then release the left mouse button.

All the walls are now highlighted and these shapes \Box appear,

indicating that the walls are selected.

We're now ready to flip the walls.





 In the External Side drop down box towards the top of the screen, click the arrow button to open the menu and click on 'Left'.

External Side	Right	•
	Left	
	Right	

The walls are now flipped the right way round, and the blockwork, represented by the grey crisscross pattern, is on the internal leaf of the wall and the brickwork, represented by the red diagonal pattern, is on the external leaf.



Now you've finished drawing the external walls, you can delete the construction lines as they're no longer required.



Your page should now look like this:



During this section of the Tutorial, you've learnt how to place walls using construction lines.

An alternative way of drawing walls is to use the Arrow Key method. Once you've placed the first corner of the wall, you can use the Arrow Keys on your keyboard to place the subsequent corners. For example, with this house, you might click to place the top left corner of the external walls, then press the Right key to place the top right corner. The Distance dialog box pops up, allowing you to enter the distance to this point. After placing the second corner, click the Down key to place the bottom right corner of the house, entering the dimension in the Distance dialog box. Continue in this way until the walls are complete.

39. 📕 Press the Save button.

DRAWING THE INTERNAL WALLS



This section of the Tutorial guides you through drawing the internal block walls in the ground floor plan. We will place the internal walls by measuring from points of reference on the external walls. This section only deals with drawing the internal walls; doors and openings are dealt with later in the tutorial.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- draw block walls using End ('End') and Perpendicular ('Perp') points on existing walls to position the walls;
- use the arrow keys on your keyboard to tell PlansXpress[®] where you want to place a new wall;
- alter the Justification of a wall (tell PlansXpress[®] whether the points you are placing are on the left or right of the wall).

You will need to refer to Diagram B on page 21 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise your page will look like this:



- Internal
- 1. Press the Internal Walls dropdown button under Architectural.
- 2. Click on the internal wall type called Block Wall.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Ground floor block wall for 2.325 floor to joist height (Single Storey).

The Block Wall Dimensions Wizard pops up.



	Enter Dimensions Page 3 of 4	3
 Confirm the Overall width wall (below ground) is set 0.1 and review the other footing details. Click Next. 	of o	DPC (Y/N)
	SECTION THROUGH FOOTING	
	Options Show Tech Tip Accept Defaults	X Cancel 💽 Back 💿 Next
	Enter Dimensions Page 4 of 4	٢
 Review the plastering and decoration details. 	Plastering and decoration	
NOTE: Remember you can clic Back at any point to review the details on previous pages.		Number of sides plastered (No.) 2000 Number of sides decorated (No.) 2.000 Number of skirting boards (No.) 2.000 Prime skirting boards ? (Y/N) Y
 Once you're happy with th information you've entered click Finish. 	9 , INTERNAL PLASTERED WALL ELEVATION	Decorate skirting boards ? (Y/N) Y
	Options Show Tech Labels Accept Defaults	X Cancel 💿 Back 💿 Finish

Now we're ready to start drawing our internal walls.

The Command Window now prompts: Give Start Point. We will start by drawing Internal Wall 1 which spans the house from External Wall 8 to External Wall 2. See Diagram B on page 21 for reference. Internal Wall 1 is 3548mm (3.548 metres) from the back wall of the house so we will use the back wall of the house, External Wall 1, as the point of reference from which to measure Internal Wall 1.

- Hold your mouse over the inside of the top left corner of the house (where External Walls 1 and 8 meet) and a will appear along with the message 'End'.
- 13. Press and release the R key on your keyboard.

The action of holding the mouse over the 'End' point and pressing the R key tells **PlansXpress**[®] that you want to measure from the 'End' point.

14. Move your mouse down the page.

You will notice that dimensions appear, indicating the distance between the point of reference we are measuring from and the position of the cursor.

As you move your mouse, you will see that the dimensions change. We want to place Internal Wall 1 3548mm below the External Wall 1 (our point of reference). You can do this by using the onscreen dimensions to guide you, but to place the line more accurately, we will type the desired distance into **PlansXpress**[®].

15. Press the down arrow key on your keyboard.

Dis	tance	23	
	Input Sizes		
	© Free Input		
	Distance	Direction	
	3548	•	
	O Brick Length	No Bricks	
	O Brick Height	0	
	Mortar Options		
O Less 1 O Equal O Add 1			
	ОК	Cancel	

The Distance dialog box pops up asking you to enter a distance. The arrow indicates which direction **PlansXpress**[®] is measuring in.

You'll notice that there are two different methods of entering a dimension in the Distance dialog box. You can either type in a dimension using the Free Input option, or use the Brick Length and Height options to calculate the dimension required by entering the number of bricks. This can be helpful when drawing brick walls using the Arrow Key method. The Brick Sizes are set up in the Sizes tab.

- 16. For now, simply type 3548 into the Distance input box (you don't need to type mm as the drawing is set up in mm).
- 17. Click OK.



We have told **PlansXpress**[®] to start drawing an Internal Wall 1 3548mm below the point of reference (where Externals Wall 1 and 8 meet). You will see that the start point of Internal Wall 1 has appeared 3548mm below the point of reference.

You can see that Internal Wall 1 spans the entire house to the right-hand wall, External Wall 2. The Command Window now prompts: Give Next Point. We now need to give the end point of Internal Wall 1 on External Wall 2.

- 8. F7 or 🔛 Press F7 or the Snap button.
- 19. Move your mouse to the right until it is over External Wall 2 and a appears along with the message 'Perp'.

'Perp' indicates that the wall you are drawing will be perpendicular to the wall it is joining. Thus, Internal Wall 1 will be at right angles to both External Wall 8 and External Wall 2, and parallel to the back wall of the house, External Wall 1.

- 20. Click your left mouse button to register the end point of the wall.
- 21. \Box Click your right mouse button to finish this wall.

Now let's draw Internal Wall 2. This wall is easy to draw as it is an extension of External Wall 6.

- р
- 22. Click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress®** you want to repeat the latest action, i.e. draw an internal wall of the same specification as the one we have just drawn.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

- Hold your mouse over the inside corner of where External Walls 6 and 5 meet.
 A will appear along with the message 'End'.
- 24. Click your left mouse button to register the start point.







The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

25. Move your mouse up until it is over the wall we have just drawn, Internal Wall 1, and a T appears along with the message 'Perp'.

If the wall we are drawing is perpendicular to Internal Wall 1, we know it is straight.



. igcup Click your left mouse button to register the end point of the wall.



igcup Click your right mouse button to finish drawing this stretch of wall.



Now we'll draw Internal Wall 3 which is 4386mm to the right of the external wall to the left of the house, External Wall 8. We will use External Wall 8 of the house as the point of reference from which to measure Internal Wall 3.



Click your right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress®** you want to start drawing a wall of the same specification.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

29. Hold your mouse over the inside of the top left corner of the house (where External Walls 8 and 1 meet) and a ☐ will appear along with the message 'End'.



- 30. Press and release the R key.
- 31. Move your mouse across to the right.

We have told **PlansXpress**[®] that we are measuring from the inside of where External Walls 1 and 8 meet. Dimensions appear indicating the distance between the point of reference, and the position of the cursor.

As before, we can type the desired distance to the start of Internal Wall 3 of 4386 into PlansXpress®.



Distance 🛛	
Input Sizes	
○ Free Input Distance 4386	A dialog box pops up asking you to enter a distance. The arrow indicates which direction PlansXpress [®] is measuring in.
Brick Length No Bricks	33. Type 4386 into the box.
O Brick Height	▲
Mortar Options	34. Uick OK.
OK Cancel	

We have told **PlansXpress**[®] to start drawing Internal Wall 3 4386mm to the right of the point of reference. You will see that the start point of Internal Wall 3 had appeared 4386mm to the right of the point of reference.

If you look at the Properties toolbar at the top of the screen, you'll see that the Justification of the Wall is set to Left, which means the points you're placing are on the left-hand side of the wall from the direction you're drawing. We want to place the points on the right side of the wall from the direction we're drawing the wall (although it looks like the left side as you view it on screen!) so that the measurement you've entered is used as the internal room measurement.



35. In the Justification drop down box, click the arrow button to open the menu and click on Right'.

The Command Window now prompts: Give Next Point. Again we will snap Internal Wall 3 to the 'Perp' point on Internal Wall 1 to ensure it's straight.

- 36. **F7** Press F7 to switch on Snap mode.
- 37. Move your mouse down until it is over Internal Wall 1, and a ⊤ appears along with the message 'Perp'.



38. \Box Click your left mouse button to register the end point of the wall.

9. Olick your right mouse button to finish this stretch of wall.

Next we'll draw Internal Wall 4. We're going to use External Wall 2 as the point of reference from which to measure the start point of Wall 4. We're going to learn a new technique for drawing the end point of the wall.

40. Click your right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**[®] you want to start drawing a wall of the same specification.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

- 41. Hold your mouse over the underside of where External Wall 2 and Internal Wall 1 meet and a will appear along with the message 'End'.
- 42. Press and release the R key.



43. Move your mouse across to the left.

The dimensions appear indicating the distance between the point of reference and the position of the cursor. As before, we can type the desired distance to the start of Internal Wall 4 into **PlansXpress**[®].



Dis	tance		23
	Input Sizes		
	Free Input		
	Distance	Direction	
	2224	+	
	🔘 Brick Length	No Bricks	
	Brick Height		
	Mortar Options		
Less 1 () Equal () Add 1			
	OK	Cancel	
O Brick Height Mortar Options Less 1 O Equal Add 1 OK Cancel			

The Distance dialog box pops up asking you to enter a distance. The arrow indicates which direction $PlansXpress^{\textcircled{m}}$ is measuring in.

45. Type 2224 into the box (you don't need to type mm as the drawing is set up in mm).



We have told **PlansXpress**[®] to start drawing Internal Wall 4 2224mm to the left of the point of reference. You will see that the start point of Internal Wall 4 has appeared 2224mm to the left of the point of reference.

The Command Window now prompts: Give Next Point. Because the end of Internal Wall 4 will not intersect another wall until we draw the next wall, instead of finding a 'Perp' point as we have done before, we are going to make the end point of Internal Wall 4 level with the corner where External Walls 4 and 5 meet. This means the end point of Internal Wall 4 will have the same Y coordinate as the inside corner of External Walls 4 and 5.

- 47. In the Justification drop down box, click 'Left' so that the dimension you've entered is used as the measurement to the *inside* of the Internal Wall 4.
- 48. **F7** Press F7.

Mr Oliver 5 Bedroom House.pxd

- 49. Hold your mouse over the inside corner of the External Walls 4 and 5 intersection until a appears along with the message 'End'.
- 50. Hold your mouse there until the Command Window gives you the message "(Intelli-Snap Found)".



 Move your mouse to the right. You will see a dotted line running parallel to the interior corner of External Walls 4 and 5.



Holding down the Shift key ensures the wall you are drawing is straight. If **PlansXpress**[®] knows that the line we are drawing is straight, and already knows the Y coordinate of the end point, it can work out the X coordinate.

 \bigcirc Click your left mouse button to register the end point of the wall.







Your page should now look like this:



The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point. We can continue from the end point of Internal Wall 4 to draw Internal Wall 5. All we need to do is find the End point on External Wall 4.

54. Hold your mouse over the internal corner of where External Walls 4 and 5 meet until a appears along with the message 'End'.

You may notice that the line indicating where Internal Wall 5 will be shows the wall will not be flush with the inside of External Wall 5. This is because the Justification of the Wall is set to Left which means that we are marking out the points on the left-hand side of the wall. If we set the Justification of the wall to Right, we can draw the right-hand side of the wall to be flush with External Wall 5. If the Justification is already set to Right in your **PlansXpress**[®], continue from step 56.

- 55. In the Justification drop down box, click the arrow button to open the menu and click on 'Right'.
- Justification Left

 Left

 External Sol
 Centre

 Rinht

End

↑

- 56. Find the 'End' point again on the corner of External Walls 4 and 5.
- 57. \bigcirc Click your left mouse button to register the end point.
- 58. Click your right mouse button to finish this wall.

Your page should now look like this:



Now we're going to draw Internal Wall 6. To do this we'll measure its start point from where External Wall 2 and Internal Wall 1 meet.

59. Click your right mouse button to start drawing another internal wall of the same specification.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

- 60. Hold your mouse over the underside of where External Wall 2 and Internal Wall 1 meet until a appears along with the message 'End'.
- 61. Press and release the R key.
- 62. Move your mouse down.

We'll enter the distance to Internal Wall 6 of 1900mm.

63. Press the down arrow key on your keyboard.





The start point of Internal Wall 6 is positioned 1900mm below Internal Wall 1.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.



- 67. Move your mouse to the left until it's over Internal Wall 4 and a \top appears along with the message 'Perp'.
- 68
- Click the left mouse button to register the end point of Internal Wall 6.
- $\mathcal P$ Click your right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**® that this wall is 69. finished.







NOTE: If you find that any of the internal block walls have failed to tee into the external blockwork, you can force the walls to join by holding down the Ctrl key whilst clicking on the internal wall and the perpendicular external wall, clicking the middle mouse button, and selecting the Join Walls option.

Your plans should now look like this:



NOTE: You can switch off the foundation outline by pressing the Layers button (Views & 3D tab), locating the Foundations Layer, and un-ticking the adjacent Light bulb tick box. This will hide the foundations from view. Click OK to close the Layers dialog box and return to the drawing area.

Now we'll turn our attention to adding windows to the plan.

70. 📕 Press the Save button.

PLACING THE WINDOWS



This section of the Tutorial guides you through accurately placing the windows on your ground floor plans.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- add windows to the plans.
- place the windows by measuring along the exterior or interior of the walls.

You will need to refer to Diagram B during this exercise on page 21.

At the end of this exercise your page will look like this:



If you look at Diagram B, you'll notice that there are two different window sizes on the ground floor plan: 1800 x 1200 and 600 x 1200. Firstly we'll place all the 1800 x 1200 windows and then we'll place the 600 x 1200 windows.



PlansXpress® Tutorial



- 1 Press the Windows dropdown button.
- 2. Click on the sub-menu called PVCu Standard Windows.
- 3. Click on the Window type called PVCu windows 1200 deep.
- Click on the dimensional template called 312 C 1800 x 1200 window. 4.

The PVCu Window Dimensions Wizard pops up.



IMPORTANT! You can adjust the window dimensions to take into account the minor variations which exist in the size 八 of different manufacturers' window units (e.g. altering the width from 1.8 to 1.805). However, we recommend that you refrain from making significant changes to the dimensions of windows with pre-specified dimensions, as the window symbol which appears in any elevations you draw may become distorted. In addition, the Workbook which the window imports to in EstimatorXpress® is set up with a pre-specified window, and thus will not be appropriate for a different size window. If you want to draw a window with significantly different dimensions, select an alternative dimensional template or create your own size of window using one of the Custom Size Windows.

6. Click Next.

5.

60 Tutorial Placing the Windows

Enter Dimensions Page 2 of 4 ③ Reveal and jamb details	7
	8
0.05 Plan view of window	
Options Show Tech Tp Accept Defaults X Cancel 📀 Back 📀 Next	

- Review the remaining window details, clicking Next to move onto the next page of the Dimensions Wizard.
- Once you've reviewed the decoration information on the final page of the Dimensions Wizard, click Finish.

We're now ready to place our 1800 by 1200 windows. First, let's place Window 1 on the rear wall of the ground floor plan.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall :

- 9. Scroll the wheel on the mouse upwards to zoom in until you can clearly see the section of External Wall 1 where Window 1 is going to be placed (as shown in Diagram B on page 21). You may need to use the horizontal and vertical scroll bars on screen to focus in on the desired area.
- 10. Hover the mouse cursor over the left-hand end of External Wall 1. Dimensions will show you the internal and external measurements from the window to the nearest perpendicular wall on either side. If you can't see four dimensions, you may need to zoom out or scroll around until they're all in view.



The dimension shown in square brackets indicates where the measurement will be made from, in the example above the window will be placed 2015mm from the external left corner.

The line extending from the window shows that the justification is currently set to centre, meaning measurements are being made to the centre of the window.

We want the external distance from the corner of the house (where External Wall 1 meets External Wall 8) to Window 1 to be 1115mm or 5 brick lengths less 1 mortar length.



11. In the Justification drop down box on the top menu, select 'Left' if it's not already selected.

12. Move your mouse cursor back to the external leave of wall 1.

You should now see a line coming from the side of the window that is being measure to; you can see an example below.

If your walls were drawn in different direction you might find PlansXpress is measuring from the opposite corner. If this is the case changing the justification to be Right should correct this and show the measurement from the corner to the left side of the window. Now let's tell **PlansXpress**[®] the distance from the corner of the wall to Window 1.



Correct - measured from corner to left side of window.

Incorrect - Measured from corner to right side of window.

1980

- 13. Just under the bottom right corner of your plan you should see a text box displaying the length from the left corner of the building to the left side of the window.
- 14. Click in the text box and type 1115 then move the mouse cursor back to the outer leave of the wall.
- 15. You should now see that the position of the window is fixed at 1115mm away from the corner. Single left click to place the window.

Window 1 is now placed 1115mm from the corner where External Walls 1 and 8 meet. Let's repeat this process to place Window 2. Because we haven't rightclicked to cancel the action, **PlansXpress**[®] is ready to place another window of the same size and specification.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall.



16. Scroll across and down the page so that you can see where we are placing Window 2 on External Wall 2.

- 17. Move your mouse to the right side of wall 1. We want to measure from the corner where wall 1 and 2 meet so make sure the dimensions on the external right side of the wall are in square brackets.
- 18. We also want to make sure that this time we are measuring to the side of the window nearest the corner so you may have to change the justification from left to right. (This might be the other way around if you have drawn the walls in a different direction.)

The dimensions should look like this when placing the window.



Click in the dimension box at the bottom right corner and enter 1115

The dimension on the wall should now look like this.

19. Single left click to place the window.





You've now successfully placed the first two windows.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall.

20. Now have a go at placing the remaining 1800 x 1200 windows (Windows 4, 7, 8 and 9) yourself. Use Diagram B on page 21 along with the table below to accurately place each window. You have already inserted the windows shown in italic on the table. Refer back to steps 9 to 20 to remind yourself of the process of inserting windows.



Window no.	Window size	How to place the window
1	1800 x 1200	Place 1115mm (5 brick lengths) from the corner where External Walls 1 and 8 meet.
2	1800 x 1200	Place 1115mm (5 brick lengths) from the corner where External Walls 1 and 2 meet.
4	1800 x 1200	Place 1115mm (5 brick lengths) from the corner where External Walls 2 and 3 meet.
7	1800 x 1200	Place 1115mm (5 brick lengths) from the corner where External Walls 6 and 7 meet.
8	1800 x 1200	Place 3365mm (15 brick lengths) from the corner where External Walls 7 and 8 meet.
9	1800 x 1200	Place 1115mm (5 brick lengths) from the corner where External Walls 8 and 1 meet.

If you get stuck at any point when placing the windows, remember the following 4 things:

- [1] Justification is **PlansXpress**[®] measuring to the correct side of the window? If not, use the Justification drop down to set **PlansXpress**[®] to measure to the left, centre or right of the window.
- [2] Dimension have you entered the dimension into the input box at the top of the screen?
- [3] Tab Key is **PlansXpress**[®] measuring to the correct end of the wall? If not, use the Tab key to alter the end **PlansXpress**[®] is measuring to.
- [4] Mouse position does PlansXpress® think the dimension you entered is an external or internal dimension? Tell PlansXpress® whether it's an internal or external dimension using your mouse. Place it on the external leaf to enter an external measurement and place it on the internal leaf to enter an internal measurement.



After inserting all the 1800 x 1200 windows, your page will now look like this:

Now let's place the 600 x 1200 windows, starting with Window 3.



- 21. Windows Press the dropdown arrow next to the Windows button.
- 22. Click on the sub-menu called PVCu Standard Windows.
- 23. Click on the Window type called PVCu windows 1200 deep.
- 24. Click on the dimensional template called 112 C 600 x 1200 window.

The PVCu Window Dimensions Wizard pops up.



We're now ready to insert our 600 x 1200 windows. This time, instead of measuring from the corner of an external wall, we'll place Window 3 by measuring from a window we have already placed, Window 2.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall.

28. Zoom into the desired area (where Window 3 is shown on Diagram B on page 21) using the scroll wheel on your mouse and the scroll bars on screen.

29. Hover the mouse cursor over External Wall 2, below Window 2.

Dimensions will pop up on either side of the wall showing you the internal and external measurements from the existing window, Window 2, to the new window, Window 3. We need the Justification to be set to 'Left' in order to measure the distance to the left-hand side of Window 3.



30. Check the Justification is set to 'Left' and change it if it isn't.

The dimensions should now be showing measurements to the left-hand side of the window. We want the external distance between the windows to be 2160 mm.



Just under the bottom right corner of your plan you should see a text box displaying the length from Window 2 to Window 3.

- 31. Type 2160 into the text box.
- 32. Hold your mouse over the external leaf of External Wall 2 to tell PlansXpress[®] that the dimension entered is the external measurement. The dimension we entered, 2160, should appear in brackets showing the external measurement. We need PlansXpress[®] to be measuring from Window 2 to Window 3 rather than from the corner of where External Walls 2 and 3 meet. If it's measuring from the wrong place, continue from step 33. If it's measuring from the right place, continue from step 34.



Press the Tab key on your keyboard.

The dimension between Windows 2 and 3 should now be set to 2160 mm.



- 34.
 - \Box Click the left button of your mouse to register the position of the window.
- 35. Now have a go at placing the remaining 600 x 1200 windows (Windows 5 and 6) yourself. Use Diagram B on page 21, along with the table below to accurately place each window. You have already inserted the windows shown in italics.

Window number	Window size	How to place the window
3	600 x 1200	Place 2160mm from Window 2.
5	600 x 1200	Place 310mm from the external corner where External Walls 4 and 5 meet.
6	600 x 1200	Place 310mm from the external corner where External Walls 5 and 6 meet.

Once you've placed Window 6, you're ready to move on to inserting doors into your plans. Your page should now look like this:



36. I Press the Save button.

PLACING THE DOORS

15-20 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial leads you through adding all the doors to the ground floor plan. As you can see from Diagram B on page 21, the ground floor has a front door, two patio doors on the rear wall and internal doors. The process of adding doors is the same as for adding windows.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- place the doors on the plans;
- set the doors to open inwards or outwards;
- set the doors to open to the left or to the right.

You will need to refer to Diagram B on page 21 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise your page will look like this:



Although there are a few different types of door on our plan, the principle for inserting them is the same irrespective of the door type. Let's start by inserting the front door.



- 1. Press the dropdown arrow next to the Doors button.
- 2. Click on the sub-menu called External Doors.
- 3. Click on the Door type called Front Door.
- 4. Click on the dimensional template called 838 Wide 4 Panel Arch Top.

The Front Door Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 5. Review the door frame dimensions.
- Click Next to work through the pages of the Dimensions Wizard.
- 7. Once you've reviewed the decoration details for the door, click Finish.

Enter Dimensions Page 1 of 4		0
Location: Front		
+ -		
		Bulking factor for spoil 1.5
DOOR ELEVATION		
Fixing details Show Tech Tip Show Tech Labels	Accept Defaults 🗙 Cance	el 🛞 Back 🕑 Next

MORTANT! As with windows, the door dimensions can be tweaked to take into account any variation in the size of different manufacturers' doors. Again, we recommend that you refrain from making significant changes to the dimensions of a door with pre-specified dimensions, as the door symbol which appears in any elevations you draw may become distorted. In addition, the Workbook which the door imports to in EstimatorXpress[®] is set up with a pre-specified door, and thus will not be appropriate for a door of a different size. If you want to draw a door with significantly different dimensions, select an alternative dimensional template or create your own size of door using one of the Custom Size Doors.

We're now ready to place our Front Door.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall.

- 8. Zoom in using the scroll wheel and onscreen scroll bars until you can clearly see External Wall 5.
- 9. Hover your mouse over the middle of External Wall 5.

Dimensions will pop up on either side of the wall showing you the internal and external measurements from the door to the windows on either side. We want the distance from Window 6 to the Front Door to be 552mm.

10. Use the Justification drop down box if needed to change the justification. Make sure the measurement is being made to the left side of the door. The side of the door being measured to is indicated by a single line extending to the dimensions in square brackets.



The dimensions are now indicating the measurements to the left-hand side of the Front Door. Now let's tell **PlansXpress**® the distance from Window 6 to the Front Door.



11. Type 552 into the input box on the Properties toolbar at the bottom of the screen.

It doesn't matter if we use the internal or external measurement to place the Front Door, as in this instance they are the same. Hold your mouse over either leaf of the wall. 552 should appear in two places, indicating the measurement from Window 6 to the left of the front door. The measurement to the right of the door is shown as 553 due to rounding.

- 12. You will see that one measurement on screen will be in brackets. This is the place where PlansXpress® is trying to measure your 552mm from. You may need to press the Tab key to make 552 appear in the correct place.
 - ₽,
- Click the left button of your mouse to register the position of the Front Door.

The Command Window now prompts: Give door alignment

We want the front door to open into the house.

14. Move your cursor up the page so that the door symbol shows that the door is opening inwards.

We also want the door to open into the hall to the left (i.e. the hinges are on the left as you look at the page).

- 15. Move your cursor to the left hand side of the door so that the door symbol shows the door is opening to the left.
- 16

igsquire Click the left mouse button to register the direction the door opens in.

The Front Door is now successfully placed, so let's move on to placing the patio doors located on the rear wall of the house.



17.

Press the dropdown arrow at the bottom of the Doors button.

- 18. Click on the sub-menu called Patio Doors.
- 19. Click on the Door type called PVCu 1800 Patio Door.
- 20. Click on the dimensional template called Patio Door 1800.







PlansXpress® is now ready to place the first set of patio doors, Patio Door 1.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall :

- 24. Zoom in using the scroll wheel and onscreen scroll bars until you can clearly see External Wall 1, the rear wall of the house.
- 25. Hover your mouse over the middle of External Wall 1.

Dimensions will pop up on either side of the wall showing you the internal and external measurements from the door to the nearest window or wall on either side. We want the distance from Window 1 to the Patio Door 1 to be 2240mm. We want to measure to the left of the patio door so we need to set the Justification to 'Left'.

4290	[4710]
	4405

26. In the Justification drop down box, select 'Left'.

The dimensions are now indicating the measurements to the left-hand side of Patio Door 1. Now let's tell **PlansXpress**[®] the distance from Window 1 to Patio Door 1.



27. Type 2240 into the input box at the bottom right of the plan.

28. Hold your mouse over the external leaf of the wall to tell PlansXpress® that the measurement entered is an external measurement. If 2240 appears in the desired place, indicating that PlansXpress® is measuring from Window 1, continue from step 30. If PlansXpress® is measuring from the opposite side, we need to tell it to measure from the correct side using the Tab key.



29. Press the Tab key on your keyboard.

The measurement from Window 1 to the left side should now read 2240 and be shown in brackets.

30. Click the left button of your mouse to register the position of Patio Door 1.

The Command Window now prompts: Move your mouse to either side of the Wall to indicate the Direction that the Door is to Open.

As you move your mouse around the patio door you will see the position of the doors changes.

31. Once you're happy with the direction the patio doors open, click the left mouse button.



32. Now have a go at placing Patio Door 2 for yourself, using Diagram B on page 21 and the table below to help you. PlansXpress[®] is already set up to place 1800 wide PVCu Patio Doors so you don't need to go through the Dimension Wizard again.

Patio Door number	How to place the Patio Doors
1	Place 2240 mm from Window 1.
2	Place 2045 mm from Patio Door 1.

If you're stuck at any point when placing the doors, remember the following 6 things:

- [1] Justification is **PlansXpress®** measuring to the correct side of the door? If not, use the Justification drop down to set **PlansXpress®** to measure to the left, centre or right of the door.
- [2] Dimension have you entered the dimension into the input box at the top of the screen?
- [3] Tab Key is **PlansXpress**[®] measuring to the correct end of the wall? If not, use the Tab key to alter the end **PlansXpress**[®] is measuring to.
- [4] Mouse position does PlansXpress® think the dimension you entered is an external or internal dimension? Tell PlansXpress® whether it's an internal or external dimension using your mouse. Place it on the external leaf to enter an external measurement and place it on the internal leaf to enter an internal measurement.
- [5] Open inwards/outwards after placing the door, move your mouse onto the side of the wall to register the direction you want it to open in.
- [6] Open to the left/right also place your cursor on the side of the door you want the hinges to be on.

Now you've placed the two Patio Doors, your page should look like this:



Let's move on to placing the Internal Doors. Let's start with Internal Door 1.



Doors

- 33. Press the dropdown arrow next to the Doors button.
- 34. Click on the sub-menu called Internal Doors
- 35. Click on the Door type called Typical Panel Doors.
- 36. Click on the dimensional template called 762 Door into Blockwork.
The Typical Panel Doors dimensions wizard pops up.

Enter Dimensions Page 1 of 4	0
Location: Ground Floor	
+	
2.05	
0.85	Bulking factor for spoil 1.5
DOOR ELEVATION	
Fixing details Show Tech Tip Accept Defaults X Cancel	🛞 Back 🕑 Next

- 37. Review the door frame dimensions.
- Click Next and review the remaining pages of the Dimensions Wizard.
- Once you're happy with the dimensions you've entered for the decoration to the door, click Finish.

PlansXpress® is now ready to start placing the internal doors.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall :

As the process of placing internal doors is not such an exact process, we will place them using Snap mode.

- 40. Press F7 or click the Snap button to turn on Snap mode.
- 41. Hold your mouse over Internal Wall 2 until you're happy with the location of Internal Door 1. You may need to zoom in to see the door clearly.
- 42. Click the left mouse button to register the position of Internal Door 1.

The Command Window now prompts: "Move your mouse to either side of the Wall to indicate the Direction that the Door is to Open." We want the door to open into the Kitchen.



43. Move your mouse to the left of Internal Wall 2 so that the door symbol shows that the door is opening into the Kitchen.

We also want the door to open to the right (i.e. the hinges are on the right as you look at the door from the hall).

- 44. Move your mouse to the right hand side of the door so that the door symbol shows the door is opening to the right.
- 45. Click the left mouse button to register the direction the door opens in.



You've successfully placed Internal Door 1.

46. Now have a go at placing the remaining Internal Doors (2, 3, 4, 5 & 6) yourself. Use Diagram B on page 21 to help you place each door by eye.

After placing all the single Internal Doors, your page will now look like this:



47. 📕 Press the Save button.

PLACING THE STAIRCASE



This section of the Tutorial guides you through placing the staircase on the ground floor plan.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- select a staircase type to add to the plans;
- enter the number of risers in each flight of stairs;
- position a staircase.

You will need to refer to Diagram B on page 21 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise, your page will look like this:



We need to start by adding a vertical construction line to help with the setting out of the staircase. The construction line needs to be placed running along the inside of External Wall 4.

1. **Vertical** Press the Vertical Construction Line button. (Found on the Drawing & Annotation tab)

The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

2. Hold your mouse over the inside of External Wall 4, until ⋈ appears along with the message 'Near'.

P

- 3. \Box Click the left mouse button to place the construction line.
- 4. C
 - Click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**[®] you don't wish to place any further construction lines.

We're now ready to place the staircase.



76 Tutorial Placing the Staircase

	Archited	ctural Dra	awing & An	notation	Non-Estimated	Symbols	Modify 8	Selection	Viev	vs & 3D	Settings					6	s 🚉 🔍	🔍 🔳 💉	2 🖗 🖳
		Theory						F		\checkmark	-13-			æ		à.	ita	E	🚔 Chimneys
External *	Internal *	Feature Masonary *	Doors *	Windows	Openings and Steelwork *	Stairs *	Flooring	Roofs *	Extend Roof	Attic	Drainage *	Ext and L	ernal Works andscaping *	Electrical	Plumbing *	Plastering *	Decoration *	Renovation *	Fire Stops
	Walling Openings 📑 Half Turn Staircase with 2 Intermediate Landings 🕨			Walling Openings Half Turn Staircase with 2 Intermediate Landings			Works		Т	rades		Renovation	Miscellaneou						
	Half Turn Staircase							,		A Not	es Picker								
	Quarter Turn Staircase			•	-	13 riser quart	er turn flig	nt staircas	e main fligi	nt against wa	II, first flight fre	e standing							
				Straight Flight	of Stairs			•	-	14 riser quart	er turn flig	nt staircas	e main fligl	nt against wa	ll, first flight fre	e standing			
										15 riser quart	er turn flig	nt staircas	e main fligl	nt against wa	II first flight fre	e standing			
		1					<u> </u>	1.00					16 riser quart	er turn flig	nt staircas	e main fligi	nt against wa	II first flight fre	e standing
		ii i	i									-	13 riser quart	er turn fligh	nt staircas	e free stand	ling		
					-	14 riser quart	er turn fligl	nt staircas	e free stand	ling									
						1	15 riser quart	er turn flig	nt staircas	e free stand	ling								
					-	16 riser quart	er turn fligh	nt staircas	e free stand	ling									
		LH.	11				Lk	1				-				1 1-574			

- 5. Stairs Press the dropdown arrow next to the Staircase button.
- 6. Click on the Staircase type called Quarter Turn Staircase.
- 7. Click on the 15 riser quarter turn flight staircase main flight against wall first flight free standing dimensional template.

The Quarter Turn Staircase Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- Set the No of risers in first flight to 3.
- 9. Set the Number of steps in landing (winders) to 3.
- 10. Enter a floor to floor height of 2.55.
- 11. Click Next

Enter Dimensions Page 1 of 5	3
Location: Hall Staircase details No of risers in first flight (No.) Total no of risers (No.) 15.000	
No of steps in landing (winders) (No.) 3	0.250
PLAN OF STAIRCASE	ELEVATION ON STAIRCASE
Allowance for sundry timbers (£) 20.000	Number of hours to first fix staircase (Hours) 8.000
Options Show Tech Tip	Accept Defaults 🗙 Cancel 💿 Back 💿 Next

nter Dimensions Page 2 of 5 ③		
% wall mounted handrail to first flight outer side (%) 0 % handrail and spindles to first flight outer side (%) 100.00	12.	Set Width of handrail to side 1 to 0.
Vidth of handrail to side 1 (M) 0 Width of handrail to side 2 (M) 0 Width of handrail to side 2 (M) 0 % wall mounted handrail to first flight inner side (%) 0 % handrail and spindles to first flight inner side (%) 100.00	13.	Set the Width of handrail to side 2 to 0.
% wall mounted handrail to second flight inner side (%) 0 100.00 % wall mounted handrail to second flight outer side (%) % handrail and spindles to second flight inner side (%) 100.00 % handrail and spindles to second flight outer side (%) % handrail and spindles to second flight inner side (%) 100.00 % handrail and spindles to second flight outer side (%) % handrail and spindles to second flight outer side (%) HANDRAIL AND SPINDLE DETAILS Y Do handrails extend beyond stairs (Y/N) 4.000 Length of balustrade to main landing (M)	14.	Click Next.
Options Show Tech Tip Accept Defaults X Cancel Sack Next		

15. Review the next 3 pages of the wizard. Once you've reviewed the staircase decoration details on the final page of the Dimensions Wizard, click Finish.

You're now ready to add the staircase to the plans. Use Diagram B on page 21 to help you place the staircase.

The Command Window prompts: Give top point for first landing.

- 16. Move your mouse so that the staircase is flush against Internal Wall 1 and the construction line.
- 17. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the half landing.



The Command Window now prompts: Give control point for bottom of staircase.

Holding down the Shift key ensures the staircase is placed at a right angle.

- 19. Move your mouse down the page.
- 20. Click the left mouse button to register the location of the bottom of the staircase.
- 21. Release the Shift key.

The Command Window now prompts: Give control point for top landing.

22. Move your mouse to the left.

This tells PlansXpress® that the staircase turns to the left.

23. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the top of the stairs.

Remember you can always move the staircase afterwards if required by clicking on it with the left mouse button. Click on the red square which appears and drag the staircase into the desired position.

Let's delete the construction line because we no longer need it.

24. Delete Press the Delete Construction Lines button. (Found on the Drawing & Annotation tab)





25. Click Yes.

All that remains is to add an up arrow to the staircase to show their direction.





26. Press the Leader Arrow button from the Arrows dropdown on the Drawing & Annotation tab.



27. Select Untitled from the Laver drop down box at the bottom of the screen.

Arrows are normally placed on the Arrows Laver, but we want to put the arrow we're about to place on a different Laver.

The Command Window prompts: Give Arrow Point. The Start Point is the arrowhead end of the arrow.

- 28. Hold the cursor towards the top of the staircase in the centre of a stair until \bigtriangleup appears along with the message 'Mid'.
- 29
 - Click the left mouse button to register the arrow Start Point.

The Command Window prompts: Give End Point.

mouse button to register the arrow End Point.

- 30. Move your cursor towards the bottom of the staircase until \triangle appears along with the message 'Mid'.



31.

- Click the right mouse button to indicate that you've finished drawing the arrow.
- Left click to select the arrow that we've just placed.
- 34. In the Properties Explorer set the Terminator length to 200.

You may need to go to the Views & 3D tab and tick Properties to view the Properties Explorer.

The Properties Explorer may also be hidden behind another Explorer window such as Layout Explorer (on the right side of the screen)

If this is the case there should be a small tab labelled Properties explorer just below the Layout Explorer Window.



Now let's add an UP label to indicate that the arrow is going up the stairs.



35. Press the Text button, found under the Drawing and Annotation tab.

	Edit Text	23
The Edit Text dialog box pops up.	UP	
36. Type UP into the white text box.		-
37. Click OK.	Insert Special Character Insert Drawing Property Ø ± ° 2 ° ¼ ½ % © Select Property	•
	Check Spelling OK Canc	:el

You are returned to the page where your cursor controls the position of the text.

The Command Window prompts: Give Text Point.

- 38. In the Text Properties that will appear in the Ribbon set the Height textbox to 150. This is the text size.
- 39. Move your mouse to the arrowhead end of the arrow.
- 40. Click the left mouse button to place the UP label.



Once complete, your page should look like this:

41. Press the Save button.

CREATING THE FIRST FLOOR

10-15 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial talks you through copying the ground floor to use as a template for the first floor. The brickwork shell will be retained, along with the windows, but the external doors will be deleted as they obviously won't be required on the first floor. The block walls will be retained so that we can lay out the suspended floor but will subsequently be deleted and replaced with stud partitions. The staircase will remain in its current position.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- set the level of the ground floor.
- copy the ground floor level to create the first floor.

You will need to refer to Diagrams B and C on pages 21 and 22 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise, your page will look like this:



First let's set the level of the ground floor.



1. Click the **Level** button on the 3D panel on the Views & 3D tab.

The Level dialog box pops up.



You'll notice that there are three input boxes in the **Level** dialog box. **Base Height** refers to the height at which the floor/storey starts. So for a ground floor the **Base Height** would be 0 and for a first floor it might be 2500 (remember you're working in mm). **Wall Height** refers to the height of the wall of that particular floor/storey so the **Wall Height** might be 2500 or 2700. **Level No** refers to the Level this floor appears e.g. ground floor is 0, first floor is 1, second floor is 2 etc.

Let's enter the appropriate details for the ground floor.

The Level dialog box loads with the default settings of a **Base Height** of **0**, **Wall Height** of **2550** and **Level No** of **1**. These settings are correct for our house.

- 2. Click OK.
- 3. The Command Widow prompts: Give Reference Point :

When setting up Levels, you need to ensure you place the reference point on the same position on every Level you create, so that when you view the 3D model or create an elevation they appear stacked on top of each other.

4. Move the mouse cursor to where external walls 7 and 8 meet until 'End' \Box or 'Int' imes snap point appears.



5. Move the mouse cursor just past the top left corner of the plan where external walls 1 and 8 meet.





The Command Window prompts: Give second point of box to define level :

7. Move the mouse cursor to past the bottom right corner of the plan where external walls 2 and 3 meet. You should see a box drawn around the entire ground floor.



8. Single left click. The box should then appear as a dotted pink line.

This line represents the boundary of the level you have set, everything within the line is on the same level.



Now we're ready to copy our ground floor plan to create our first floor.



This will copy the level and the ground floor plan contained within it. The copy will become the floor plan for the first floor.

When placing the first floor, your cursor click will register the position of the equivalent point on the first floor.

The Command Window prompts: Give Reference Point



Left click on the bottom left corner of the boundary level.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point To Copy To. We want to place the first floor directly below the ground floor.

Hold down the Shift key and move your cursor below the ground floor.

This ensures the first floor is placed directly below the ground floor.

13. Once the first floor layout is placed in the desired position, click the left mouse button to register the point to copy to.

After a few seconds, the first floor layout appears below the ground floor and the **Copy Plan Options** dialog box pops up. The **Copy Plan Options** dialog box allows you to select which walls, doors, windows and openings from the ground floor you wish to retain for the first floor. You can also set the level for the copied floor plan at the same time.

We obviously want to retain the external walls as the layout is the same for the ground floor and first floor. We also want to retain the windows because the placement is similar for both floors, but we won't need the external doors in the first floor. We need to retain the internal block walls to draw the first floor suspended floor, but will replace them with stud walls later. However, we can delete the doors, windows and openings associated with the internal walls now. We need to tell **PlansXpress**® that the first floor height is 2.325m, and that we don't need foundations and DPC etc. for the first floor walls.

Copy Plan Options	23						
Level							
Base Height :	2550						
Wall Height :	2325						
Level No :	2						
-	+						
Select Items to Copy	Select Items to Copy						
External Wall	✓ Internal Wall						
Doors	Doors						
Vindows	Windows						
Openings	Openings						
Wall Height :	Wall Height :						
2325	2325						
Remove Foundations & Footings	Remove Foundations & Footings						
OK Cancel							

Firstly, let's select the elements of the External Walls we want to copy to create the first floor.

- 14. Ensure the External Walls tick box is ticked.
- 15. Untick the Doors tick box because we don't want to retain the external doors.
- 16. Ensure the Windows tick box is ticked.
- 17. It doesn't matter if the Openings tick box is ticked because there are no structural openings in the external walls.

Now let's select the elements of the Internal Walls we want to copy to create the first floor.

- 18. Ensure the Internal Walls tick box is ticked.
- 19. Untick the Doors, Windows and Openings tick boxes because we don't want to retain these in the internal walls.
- 20. Enter the External and Internal wall height of 2325 (remember we're working in millimetres).
- 21. Ensure the Remove Foundations & Footings tick boxes for the External and Internal Walls are ticked to tell **PlansXpress**[®] that we don't need foundations, footings and DPC in the first floor walls.
- 22. Click the + button in the level section and change the Wall Height to 2325 to match the height we have set the walls to.

This means that **PlansXpress**[®] will automatically strip out the foundations, footings and DPC for the first floor. Obviously this is an important step if you are later going to export the data in **EstimatorXpress**[®]. If we don't tell **PlansXpress**[®] that the first floor doesn't have foundations, and footings like the ground floor, **EstimatorXpress**[®] will calculate two lots of foundations and footings!

Changing the level of the first floor will help **PlansXpress**® to draw elevations and create a 3D model with the first floor sitting on top of the ground.

23. Click OK.

After a few seconds, PlansXpress® strips out all the unnecessary elements according to the options you have chosen.

The footprint of the first floor is left.

You'll notice that the staircase for the first floor appears as it does in the ground floor layout. We need to explode the stairs symbol and delete the first flight section of staircase which wouldn't be visible from the first floor.

- 24. Single click on the stairs to select the entire staircase.
- 25. Click the Modify & Selection tab.

4 Entity Info Measure

Info

3 🗅 🗁 🖬 🍕 🔏 🗅 🖺 🤊 🦿

26. The Explode Click the Explode button.



Press the Delete key on your keyboard.

The green box will select everything it touches so you don't need to complete surround all the lines you want to select.

Architectural Drawing & Annotation Non-Estimated Symbols Modify & Selection Views & 3D

Move Copy 🚰 Scale 🕀 Quick Trim 🌾 Fillet 🛛 为 Explode 📣 Set Insertion Origin

Modify

The first flight of stairs is removed from the first floor view. This will not affect the staircase estimate as the first floor view of the staircase is merely a copy of the ground floor staircase and is not estimated.







UP

UP



Del

We now need to rotate the UP arrow and turn it into a DOWN arrow.







A menu pops up.

31. Click Rotate Selection.



- 32. Hold your mouse over the middle of the arrow until \triangle appears along with the message 'Mid'.
- 33



The Command Window prompts: Give Reference Point to Rotate.

- 34. Hold your mouse over the left end of the arrow until or appears with the message 'End'.
- 35. Click the left mouse button.

The arrow is now pointing down the stairs.



37

36. Type 180 into the Angle input box on the Properties toolbar at the bottom of the screen.

The angle of rotation is shown on the arrow on the drawing.

 \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to register the angle of rotation.







Info Move Selection Copy Selection

Mirror Selectio



UP

Now let's amend the UP label to create the DOWN label.

39. Click the middle mouse button.

The Modify menu pops up.

40. Click Modify.

The **Edit Text** dialog box pops up.

41. Overtype UP with DOWN.

42. Click OK.



DOWN

ΠP

You are returned to the page where the text is automatically updated. We now need to move the arrow so it's not overlapping the label.



44. Click on the red square which appears.

This allows you to move the arrow.

◆ Shift Hold down the Shift key.

This restricts the arrow to moving in either the horizontal or vertical plane.

46. Move your mouse to the right.



47. Click the left mouse button to register the new position of the arrow once it's clear of the label.



Once complete, your plans should look like this:



SETTING OUT THE SUSPENDED FLOOR



This section of the Tutorial guides you through drawing the suspended floor. First of all we will mark out each section of flooring, before placing the perimeter sealant, trimmers and end straps.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- draw sections of suspended floor;
- add perimeter sealant, trimmers and end straps.

You will need to refer to Diagram D on page 23 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise, your first floor plan will look like this:



We will draw the suspended floor section by section. Firstly we're going to mark out the sections of floor which don't require joist hangers, Sections 1, 3 and 6.



- 1. Press the dropdown arrow next to the Flooring button.
- 2. Click on the Flooring type called Suspended Floor.

3. Click on the dimensional template called Suspended insulated timber floor.



Let's start by drawing Section 1.



IMPORTANT! Remember to draw the floor on the first floor plan!

The Command Window prompts: Give First Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1).

On this occasion, let's assume External Wall 8 is Supporting Wall 1. We need to tell **PlansXpress®** that the inside corner of where External Walls 7 and 8 meet is the First Corner on Supporting Wall 1.



11. Hold your mouse over the inside corner of where External Walls 7 and 8 meet until appears with the message 'End'.



Click the left mouse button to register the First Corner.

The Command Window prompts: Give Second Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1 to indicate Floor Width at Right Angles to the Joists).

- Hold your mouse over the corner of where External Wall 8 and Internal Wall 1 meet, on the Kitchen side of the walls, until appears with the message 'End'.
- 14. Click the left mouse button to register the Second Corner at Right Angles to the Joists.

The Command Window prompts: Indicate the Length of the Floor (to give Clear Span of Joists).

15. Hold your mouse over the Kitchen side of Internal Wall 2 until ⊠ appears along with the message 'Near'.



 \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to give the Floor Length to give Clear Span of Joists.

A dialog box pops up asking whether you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps. If you click Yes, you'll be able to mark out Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps for this section of flooring.

We'll click No for now, and we'll place all the Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps after marking out each section of suspended floor.



17. Click No.

Section 1 of the suspended floor is now complete, so let's draw Section 3. We'll come back and do Section 2 later because we will need to go through the Dimensions Wizard again and tell **PlansXpress**® that Sections 2, 4 and 5 of the flooring have joist hangers.



18

Press the Suspended Floor button which is now visible on the Flooring menu.

PlansXpress® is now ready to draw another Suspended Floor of an identical specification.

The Command Window prompts: Give First Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1).

On this occasion, let's assume External Wall 1 is Supporting Wall 1 for Section 3. We need to tell **PlansXpress**[®] that the inside corner of where External Walls 1 and 2 meet is the First Corner on Supporting Wall 1.



- Hold your mouse over the inside corner of where External Walls 1 and 2 meet until appears with the message 'End'.
- 20. Click the left mouse button to register the First Corner.

The Command Window prompts: Give Second Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1 to indicate Floor Width at Right Angles to the Joists).

- 21. Hold your mouse over the corner of where External Wall 1 and Internal Wall 3 meet, on the Dining Room side of the walls, until appears with the message 'End'.
- 22. Click the left mouse button to register the Second Corner at Right Angles to the Joists.

The Command Window prompts: Indicate the Length of the Floor (to give Clear Span of Joists).

23. Hold your mouse over the Dining Room side of Internal Wall 1 until 🕅 appears along with the message 'Near'.



Now we need to go through the Dimensions Wizard again and set the No. of ends to generally have joist hangers to 1, as Sections 2, 4 and 5 require joist hangers to one side.



Right click on the Flooring button.

This tells **PlansXpress**[®] that we want to draw the same type of Floor again, but brings up the Dimensions Wizard to allow us to alter the specification of the floor.



Now let's mark out Section 2, as shown on Diagram D on page 23.

The Command Window prompts: Give First Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1).

On this occasion, let's assume External Wall 1 is Supporting Wall 1. We need to tell **PlansXpress®** that the inside corner of where External Walls 8 and 1 meet is the First Corner on Supporting Wall 1.



39. \Box Click the left mouse button to register the Second Corner at Right Angles to the Joists.

The Command Window prompts: Indicate the Length of the Floor (to give Clear Span of Joists).

40. Hold your mouse over the Kitchen side of Internal Wall 1 until ⊠ appears along with the message 'Near'.



A dialog box pops up asking whether you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps. Again, we'll leave this until later.

42. Click No.

43. Repeat this process to mark out Sections 4 and 5, using External Wall 2 and External Wall 5 as the supporting wall respectively. After marking out the Section 5 of the floor, the Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps dialog box pops up.

PlansXpress	
Do you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers & End Straps at this stage?	flooring accessories in EstimatorXpress [®] .
Yes No	11 For now click Yos
	44. I UI HUW, UICK TES.

A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place perimeter sealant.

PlansXpress			
Do you want to place perimet	ter sealant to this section of floor?	45.	Click Yes.
Yes	No		

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

To place the sealant, you have to mark out where the sealant will go by clicking round the perimeter of the floor.

- 46. Hold your mouse over the interior corner of where External Wall 8 meets External Wall 1 until □ appears with the message 'End'.
- 47. Click the left mouse button to register the first point on the perimeter of the wall.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

- 48. Hold your mouse over the interior corner of where External Wall 1 meets External Wall 2 until □ appears with the message 'End'.
 - ₽

51.

sealant.

- 49. Click the left mouse button to register the next point on the perimeter of the wall.
- 50. Repeat this process to register each corner point on the perimeter of the floor area.

the flooring, click the right mouse button to tell PlansXpress[®] you've finished setting out this stretch of

Once you've completed marking out the perimeter of





After you connect the last point of the sealant to the first point of the sealant to complete the perimeter of the floor, a dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place another perimeter of sealant. On this occasion we don't need to.

PlansXpress			
Do you want to place pe Yes	rimeter sealant to this section of floor?	52.	Click No.



- 53. A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place any Trimmers.
- 54. Click Yes.

A Dimensions Wizard pops up which requires you to enter the Number of hangers to trimmers to upper floor.

		Enter Dimensions Page 1 of 1	2
		Location: Upper Suspended Floo	
55.	Trimmer 1 intersects with one other trimmer and requires 1		_
	nanger, so enter 1.	Number of hangers to trimmers to upper floor (No.) 1	
56.	Click Finish.	HANGERS TO UPPER FLOOR SUSPENDED FLOOR TRIMMERS	
		Options Show Tech Tip Accept Defaults X Cancel 🛞 Back 📀 Fir	nish

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

Let's start by drawing Trimmer 1, which as you can see from Diagram D on page 23, runs from the top of the staircase to the front wall of the house. You will see that Trimmer 1 runs along one side of Section 6 of the suspended floor.

- 57. Hold your mouse over the top of the staircase where it meets Internal Wall 1 (the top right corner of suspended floor Section 6) until appears with the message 'End'.
- 58. Click the left mouse button to register the Start Point of the Trimmer.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

59. Hold your mouse over the cavity side of the blockwork on External Wall 5 until ⊥ or □ appears with the message 'Perp' or 'End'.



- 60. \Box Click the left mouse button to register the Next Point of the Trimmer.
- 61. Click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress®** you've finished drawing this Trimmer.



A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place any Trimmers. Let's now place Trimmer 2.

62. Click Yes.

A Dimensions Wizard pops up which requires you to enter the Number of hangers to trimmers to upper floor. We have already estimated for a hanger to support where Trimmer 1 and Trimmer 2 meet, so we just need to estimate a hanger for where Trimmer 2 meets Trimmer 3.

- 63. Enter 1.
- 64. Click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

- . (
- Click the left mouse button to register the Start Point of the Trimmer.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

- 67. Move your mouse over Trimmer 1 until × or □ appears with the message 'Int' or 'End'.
- 68. Click the left mouse button to register the Next Point of the Trimmer.



69. Click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**[®] you've finished drawing this Trimmer.



70. Repeat this process to place Trimmer 3. This time set the Number of hangers to trimmers to upper floor to 0 because we've already estimated for the 2 required trimmer hangers.

After you've registered the Next Point of the Trimmer and clicked the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress®** you've finished drawing Trimmer 3, a dialog box pops up asking if you wish to draw another Trimmer.

PlansXpress Do you want to place any Trimmers? Yes No	71. Click No.	
PlansXpress Do you want to place any End Straps to Yes No	this section of floor?	A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place any End Straps. 72. Click Yes.

Let's place the End Strap labelled 1 on Diagram D on page 23.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Rotate To.



79. Repeat this process to place all the remaining End Straps.

After you've placed the final End Strap, click No to the dialog box asking if you wish to place an End Strap.

Your first floor plan should now look like this:





- The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point.
- 73. Hold your mouse over the point where End Strap 1 meets External Wall 7 (as shown on Diagram D on page 23) until ⋈ appears along with the message 'Near'.
- 74. Click the left mouse button to register the point where the End Strap meets External Wall 7.

75. **Shift** Hold down the Shift key.

76. Move your mouse up the screen until the End Strap is vertical.



- 77. Click the left mouse button to register the orientation of the End Strap.
- 78. Release the Shift key.

SETTING OUT THE HOUSE SLAB

10 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial guides you through placing the house slab on the ground floor plan by marking out each section of the slab. Drawing the house slab is only necessary if you wish to go on to estimate the plans using **EstimatorXpress**[®]. It is obviously not required on production drawings.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- mark out each section of the house slab;
- place perimeter insulation.

You will need to refer to Diagram E on page 24 during this exercise.

During this exercise, you will draw a slab which looks like this:



We're going to place the house slab by marking out the largest section of Slab, Section 1.



PlansXpress® Tutorial



- 1. Press the dropdown arrow next to the Flooring button.
- 2. Click on the sub-menu called Floor Slabs.
- 3. Click on the option called House Slab.
- 4. Click on the dimensional template called Reinforced Slab.

The Slab Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 5. Review the Slab preparation details.
- 6. Click Next.
- Review the remaining slab details, clicking Next to move through the pages of the Dimensions Wizard.
- Once you're happy with the details you've entered into the last page of the Dimensions Wizard, click Finish.

	TESP	•	ં	•	0.025		
1.5			2				

PlansXpress® is now ready to draw the slab.

The Command Window prompts: Give First Corner of Floor. Ignore the bit in brackets – you may recall this helped you draw the suspended floor but is not relevant to the slab.

9. Zoom in so that you can clearly see the ground floor layout.



- 10. Hold your mouse over the inside of where External Walls 1 and 8 meet until appears with the message 'End'.
- 11. Click the left mouse button to register the first corner of this section of slab.

The Command Window prompts: Give Second Corner of Floor.

- Hold your mouse over the inside of where External Walls 1 and 2 meet until appears with the message 'End'.
- 13. Click the left mouse button to register the second corner of this section of slab.

The Command Window prompts: Indicate the length of the floor.

14. Hold your mouse over the inside of External Wall 5 until ⊠ appears along with the message 'Near'.



A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to add perimeter insulation to the slab. We'll place the perimeter insulation after drawing each section of slab.

16. Click No.



Let's now draw Section 2 of the slab.



17. Press the House Slab button on the Flooring menu or right click with the cursor over the drawing to start the new section of slab.

This tells PlansXpress® that we want to draw a slab with the same specification.

18. Review each page of the dimensions wizard again to make sure you're happy with the values set. You will notice that the last page has plant requirements that you will typically set for the entire slab, but only allow for them in one instance of the wizard. Once complete, click Finish.



The Command Window prompts: Indicate the length of the floor.

23. Hold your mouse over the edge of Section 1 of the slab until 🕅 appears along with the message 'Near'.



24. Click the left mouse button to register the length of the floor.

The dialog box pops up asking if you wish to add perimeter insulation to the slab. Again, we'll decline.

25. Click No.

н

26. Press the House Slab button again or right click and repeat the process to draw Section 3 of the slab, until the dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place perimeter insulation.



- 27. Click Yes.
- 28. Review the depth of perimeter insulation and click Finish.

To place the perimeter insulation, all you have to do is mark out where the insulation will go by clicking round the perimeter of the floor, just as vou did with the perimeter sealant for the suspended floor.



The Command Window prompts: Give First Point.

29. Hold your mouse over the interior corner of where External Wall 8 meets External Wall 1 until appears with the message 'End'.

Do you want to place perimeter insulation to this slab?

No



Yes

Click the left mouse button to register the first 30. point on the perimeter of the wall.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

31. Hold your mouse over the interior corner of where External Wall 1 meets External Wall 2 until appears with the message 'End'.



Click the left mouse button to register the next 32. point on the perimeter of the wall.

PlansXpress

33. Repeat this process to register each corner point on the perimeter of the floor area.



The dialog box pops up asking if you wish to draw another length of perimeter insulation.

35. Click No.

You've now finished drawing the slab and associated perimeter insulation.

We now need to turn off the Floor Layers so that they don't get in the way while we're drawing the rest of the house and so they don't appear on any printouts.



36. Layers Press the Layers button (Found under the Views & 3D tab).

The Layers dialog box pops up.

Layer	S								23			
L	Layers											
	Name 🔺	Alias	Colour	Style	- 1	1	۵		Add			
Ø.	Floor		0.05									
	Floor Structure		0.5						Select All			
	Flooring		0.05									
	Flooring Sundries		0.05						Edit Selected			
	Foundations		0.05		V		\checkmark		Delete Selected			
	Heads and Cills		0.15		V		\checkmark					
	Insulation		0.7						Purge Unused			
	Kitchen Furniture		0.05		1		1					
	Kitchen Plan		0.05		1		\checkmark		Find			
	Kitchen Sink		0.05		1		1		Use Alias			
	Landscaping		0.05		1		\checkmark	-	Use Groups			
0	Current Layer											
Current Layer Insulation Set Current												
OK Cancel												

- 37. Locate the Floor Layer using the scroll bar.
- 38. Untick the Light bulb (view on screen) and Printer (print) tick boxes associated with the Floor Layer.
- 39. Untick the Light bulb (view on screen) and Printer (print) tick box associated with the Floor Structure Layer.
- 40. Repeat this process to hide the Flooring, Flooring Sundries, Insulation and Sealant Layers so that they don't appear on screen or on printouts.
- 41. Click OK.

You'll notice both the Suspended Floor and House Slab are hidden onscreen. They will no longer appear in any printouts.







ADDING WALLS, DOORS AND WINDOWS TO THE FIRST FLOOR



This section of the Tutorial talks you through adding the stud walls, internal doors and any additional windows to the first floor plan.

During this exercise you will revise how to:

- draw internal walls;
- insert windows and doors.

You will need to refer to Diagram C on page 22 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise, your first floor plan will look like this:



We need to start by deleting the internal block walls.





Now use Diagram C (page 22) to place the stud walls in the same way as you placed the block walls.



Interna

From the Internal Wall dropdown, select the Stud Wall type and click on the dimensional template called Typical 2.325 floor to joist height stud wall.

When working your way through the Dimensions Wizard, ensure the **Width of wall** is set to 0.1. Refer back to the section on drawing internal walls, starting on page 45, if you need a reminder on how to draw internal walls.

5. Once you've placed the stud walls, you can place the internal doors.

From the **Doors** dropdown menu, click on the **Internal Doors** type, click on **Typical Panel Doors** and select the **762 Door into studding** dimensional template.

Place the doors according to Diagram C on page 22. Refer back to the section on placing doors (starting on page 67, if you need any tips).



Windows Referring to Diagram C on page 22, add the 1800 wide windows to External Wall 1 (these will be positioned exactly as per the 1800 patio doors on the ground floor).

In the Windows dropdown menu, click on PVCu Standard Windows, select the PVCu windows 1200 deep window option and use the 312C 1800 x 1200 window dimensional template. Refer back to the section on placing windows (starting on page 58 if you need any tips).

7. Delete the 600 wide windows on the front face of the house ready to replace with 1200 wide windows.

	ſĒ	1	Г
		L	ł
	L	l	l

Windows To place the 1200 wide windows, select the **PVCu** windows 1200 deep window type from the Windows dropdown menu and click on the 212C 1200 x 1200 window dimensional template.



ADDING A STRUCTURAL OPENING

5-10 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial takes you through adding the structural opening between the breakfast kitchen and dining room. The process for placing a structural opening is similar to that of placing a door or window.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

place a structural opening.

You will need to refer to Diagram B on page 21 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise, your ground floor plans will look like this:



I .	Archit	ectural	Drawing 8	Annotation	ı	Non-Est	imated Sym	bols I	Modify & S	Selectio	n	Vie	ews & 3D	Settings
		100						1	\succ		4	4	-11-	
External	Internal	Feature Masonary -	Doors	Windows	Oper Stee	iings and Iwork +	Stairs	Flooring	Roofs	Exter	nd At	ttic •	Drainage	External Works
	Walling			Openir		Structura	al Opening	to Existing	Wall	•	Attics		Ex	ternal Works
						Small St	ructural Op	ening to Ex	isting Wa	▶				
						Structura	al Opening	to New Wa	II	×		Large	Opening (3.6-4.2m)
						Small Str	ructural Op	ening to Ne	ew Wall	•		Medi	um Openin	ıg (3.0-3.6m)
						Fabricate	ed Steel Be	am		•		Smal	l Opening (2.4-3.0m)
					100	Encasing	y to Fabrica	ted Steel Be	am	•				
						Custom	Size Fabric	ated Steel B	eam	•				
					Ι	Fabricate	ed Steel Po	st		- +				
					Ι	Encasing	y to Fabrica	ted Steel Po	ost	- +				
					Ι	Custom	Size Fabric	ated Steel P	ost	•				
					I	Glulam B	Beam			•				
					_									

Openings

1.

4.

5.

6.

- Openings and Steelwork + Press the Openings and Steelwork dropdown.
- 2. Click on the Structural Opening type called Structural Opening to New Wall.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Small Opening (2.4-3.0m).

The Structural Opening Dimensions Wizard pops up.



		Enter Dimensions Pa	ge 2 of 2	3
7	Review the plastering	Plastering	0.4	
	details.			
8.	Click Finish.		NOTE: Plastering to face	Length of noggings to steels (M) 0.3 Are reveals plastered? (Y/N) Y No of angle basds required (0,1 or 2) (No.) 2 Are reveals to be painted? (Y/N) Y
		Options	STRUCTURAL OPENING ELEVATION Show Tech Tip Show Tech Labels Accept Default	is 🗙 Cancel 💿 Back 💿 Finish

PlansXpress[®] is now ready to place the structural opening.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall.

9. Press F7 (F7) or the Snap button (F7) to ensure you're in Snap mode.

We want to place the opening in the middle of the wall between the Kitchen and the Dining Room using the Mid snap point.

To do this we need to ensure the Justification of the opening is set to Centre. This will ensure the Centre of the opening will be placed on the Mid point of the wall.



10. Check that Centre is selected in the Justification drop down box.



- 11. Hold your mouse over the section of Internal Wall 1 where the opening is to be placed until appears along with the message 'Mid'.
 - Click the left mouse button to place the opening.

The opening is now shown in the plans, and your page should look like this:



ADDING BATHROOM, CLOAKS & KITCHEN SYMBOLS



This section of the Tutorial guides you through adding both estimated and non-estimated symbols to the plans.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- add estimated sanitaryware, baths and showers*;
- add symbols for non-estimated kitchen items.

* Estimating items from the Plumbing menu – such as sanitaryware, baths and showers - requires EstimatorXpress[®] Plumbing and Heating edition or EstimatorXpress[®] Ultimate Edition. To upgrade to either edition, call the HBXL Sales Team on 0845 1234 065. Without either of these editions you can still add items from the Plumbing menu to your drawing but you won't be able to estimate them when you import the drawing into EstimatorXpress[®].

You will need to refer to Diagrams B and C on pages 21 and 22 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise, your page will look like this:





PlansXpress® Tutorial

	Architectural	Drawing & Annotation	Non-Estimated Syn	nbols	Modify & Selectio	n V	iews & 3D	Settings					\$	<u>a</u> e e	, 🏼 🛃	€] ∢
1 Maria (M. 1997) 1 Maria (M. 1997) 1 Maria (M. 1997) 1 Maria (M. 1997)				f***	\bowtie		-11-		0	ل ه	r 📔 11	H	п	🚔 Chim	ineys 👻	
External	Internal Feature	Doors Windows Op	enings and Stairs	Flooring	Roofs Exter	nd Attic	Drainage	External Works	Electrical	Plumb	ng Plastering Decoration	Reno	vation	Fire	Stops 👻	
Ť	Walling	Openings	Stairs	Flooring	Roofs and	Attics	Ex	ternal Works	Ť		Radiators		ation	Miscell	aneous	
											Underfloor Heating	ĺ.		-	Propertie	es Exr
										Ċ.	Boilers	,				
										-	Heating System Compo	nents 🕨				
											Water Pipes	•				
										÷.	Gas Pipes	,				
										÷.	Pipe Fixings	•				
											Sanitaryware	•	U.S.	Ascot Rano	1e	•
										盲	Baths	•	(E) (E)	Cheltenhar	n Range	•
										nîc,	Showers	•	0	Chichester	Range	•
										U	Waste Connections	•	0	Cube Rang	e	
										<u>1</u>	Bathroom Taps	•	0	Onyx Rang	e	- F
										J	Cloakroom 1TH Basi	ı		Oxford Ran	ige	•
										\$	Pedestal 2TH Basin		0	Price Track	er Range	•
											Pedestal 1TH Basin		0	Pride Rang	e	- F
										P 8	Semi Pedestal 2TH B	asin	0	Zone Rang	e	->
											Semi Pedestal 1TH B	asin	曲	Urinals		•
											Close Coupled WC Fi	tting		-		
4										6	Cloakroom 2TH Basi	י ^א ו		×.		

Let's start by adding the toilet and wash basin to the ground floor W.C. First we'll place the toilet.

-

- 1. Pumbing dropdown from the Architectural tab.
- 2. Click on the category called Sanitaryware.
- 3. Click on the Oxford Range.
- 4. Select the Close Coupled WC Fitting option.

PlansXpress® is now ready to place the estimated toilet symbol.

5. Zoom into the W.C. by hovering your cursor over it and scrolling the scroll wheel away from you.



Let's repeat this process to add the wash basin.

- 10. Press the dropdown arrow on the Plumbing menu.
- 11. Click on the category called Sanitaryware.
- 12. Click on the Oxford Range.
- 13. Select the Cloakroom 1TH Basin.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point.

As you can see from Diagram B on page 21, the toilet is flush with External Wall 2 under the window.

6. Click your left mouse button on the point where the middle of the toilet cistern meets the wall.

The Command Window prompts: Give point to rotate to.

You'll see that as you move the mouse, the toilet rotates.

The shift Hold down the Shift key on your keyboard to lock the rotation of the toilet to 45 degree increments.

We obviously want the toilet to be straight so it's flush with the wall.

- 8. Move your cursor down the screen until the toilet symbol is flush with the wall.
- 9. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the toilet and release the Shift key.



18. Repeat this process to add estimated toilets, wash basins and baths to the bathrooms. Use the category called Baths in the Plumbing menu to adds baths. Remember, you can move any symbol once you've placed it by clicking on it with your left mouse button and clicking on the red square which appears.

If you zoom in closely to the plumbing symbols, you'll notice that they don't have any taps. You can add estimated taps to bathroom symbols using the Bathroom Taps option on the Plumbing menu.

You can't add estimated kitchen fittings to your drawings and consequently there aren't any kitchen fittings in the Architectural toolbar. However, you can add non-estimated kitchen fittings using the Non Estimated Symbols menu. Let's add a kitchen sink symbol.



20. Click on a suitable sink symbol.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point.

21. Place the sink as per the Diagram B on page 21.

If you wanted, you could create plans for a full plumbing installation – including a boiler, pipes and radiators – using the other options on the Plumbing menu.

In this case, we're happy just to show the plumbing items for the bathroom and kitchen fitting out.

Once you've placed all the bathroom, W.C. and kitchen symbols, your plans should look something like this:





DRAWING THE ROOF

15-20 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial guides you through adding the roof to the first floor plan. In order to draw the roof, you must first break it down into sections and draw the roof section by section.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- set out a roof, section by section;
- set out purlins and binders;
- place rainwater pipes.

1.

You will need to refer to Diagrams A and F on pages 20 and 25 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise, your first floor plan will look like this:



First let's place horizontal construction lines on the first floor layout which will guide us when placing the rainwater pipes later in this section.

- Horizontal Press the Horizontal Construction Line button (Drawing & Annotation tab).

The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

- 2. Move your mouse so that it's level with the internal side of External Wall 1 and a 'Near' ⊠ snap point appears.
- 3. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the construction line.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

- 4. Repeat this process to add a construction line running along the internal side of External Walls 3 and 5.
- 5. 🗸 Right click after you've placed the construction line to tell **PlansXpress®** you've finished placing construction lines.



Your plans should now look like this:

Take a look at the roof elevations on Diagram A on page 20 and the roof plan on Diagram F on page 25. Firstly, we will draw the main apex roof and then we will draw each of the apex valley roofs.

I -	Archite	ectural	Dra	wing & An	notation	Non-Estimate	d Symbols	Modify &	Selecti	on Viev	ws & 3D	Settings					۵
		والألار						н			4	-11-	2		8		ā
External *	Internal	Featur Masonar	re y ≁	Doors *	Windows *	Openings and Steelwork *	Stairs *	Flooring	Root	fs Extend Roof	Attic	Drainage Extern * and Lan	ial V dsca	Vorks aping *	Electrical	Plumbing *	Plastering
	Walling)			Openi	ngs	Stairs	Flooring	F	Cut Roof			•	FT	ypical 30 De	gree Cut F	Roof
									æ	Truss Roo	of		۲	F T	ypical 35 De	gree Cut F	Roof
									4	Small Cut	Roof (Do	ormers, Bays etc.)	۲	F T	ypical 40 De	gree Cut F	Roof
									4 3	Small Tru	ss Roof ([Oormers, Bays etc.)	۲	FT	ypical 45 De	gree Cut F	Roof
									4	Sloping R	oof Acce	ssories	۰I				
										SIPS Roof			•				
										SIPS Roof	Accessor	ies	•				
										Flat Roof			•				
									m	Flat Roof	for Bay W	lindow	•				
									5	Flat Roof	Accessori	es	•				

PlansXpress® Tutorial



- 6. Press the dropdown arrow next to the Roof button.
- 7. Click on the Roof type called Cut Roof.
- 8. Click on the dimensional template called Typical 40 Degree Cut Roof.

The PlansXpress Cut Roof Dimensions Wizard pops up.



- Make sure Pitch of roof side 1 and 2 is set to 40 and Thickness of roof is set to 0.100
- 10. Click Next.



- 11. Review the Roof structural information 1.
- 12. Click Next.

1

1

1

1

/!∖

		Enter Dimensions Page 3 of 5	3
3.	Set the Height of Bargeboard to 0.15.	Roof structural information 2	
4.	Set the Height of Fascia Board to 0.15.	0.400 Joist centres (M)	
5.	Review the remaining roof structural information 2.	0.15 Height of Bargeboard (M)	
6.	Click Next.	Are there eaves tascia boards?(17(N)) 0.15 Height of Fascia Board(M) STRUCTURAL PLAN VIEW OF ROOF	
		Gutter details Show Tech Tp Accept Defaults X Cancel 💿 Back 💿 Ne	xt

- 17. Review the remaining roof details, clicking Next to move onto the last page of the Dimensions Wizard.
- 18. Once you're happy with the information you've entered, click Finish.

A dialog box pops up asking you what type of roof you're drawing.



PlansXpress® is now ready to start drawing the roof. Refer to Diagram F on page 25.

IMPORTANT! Remember to draw the roof on the first floor plan so that it appears in the right place on the elevations!





The Command Window prompts: Indicate wall line that roof is on



Click on the rear wall of the first floor plan with 21. the left mouse button.

The selected walls lines should be shown appear dotted.

The Command Window prompts: Select First Corner for Width of Building.

When PlansXpress® refers to "Width of Building" and you're drawing an apex roof, it means the gable end of the roof. When PlansXpress® refers to "Length of Building", it means length along the eaves of the roof.

22. Hold your mouse over the external corner of the house where External Walls 1 and 8 meet until appears along with the message 'End'.



Click the left mouse button to register the first 23. corner of the building.





As you can see from Diagram F on page 25, the main roof runs over External Wall 5. Therefore we need to indicate to PlansXpress® the point on External Wall 8 in line with the outside of External Wall 5 so that it knows the width of the roof.

24. Hold your mouse over the outside of External Wall 5 until \bigtriangleup appears along with the message 'Mid'.



Press and release the Y key on your keyboard.

This tells **PlansXpress**® that the point we are registering must have the same Y co-ordinate as the point the mouse is hovering over.



- End
- A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to add Purlins, Binders and Rainwater Pipes.
- 31. Click No.

We'll add these once we've drawn the entire roof.

26. Move your mouse to the left until it's over External Wall 8.

You will see that the movement of the mouse is restricted in the Y axis.



This tells **PlansXpress**® to draw a straight line between the first point we have registered and the point we are registering now, thus finding the correct point on External Wall 8.

28. Click the left mouse button to register the second corner of the building.

The Command Window prompts: Indicate Corner for Length of Building or [T]ee to join to existing wall/roof.

On this occasion we're not teeing into an existing roof or wall. We need to indicate the length of the building measured from the first corner of the roof which you will recall is the back left corner of the house.

- 29. Hold your mouse over the back right corner of the house where External Walls 1 and 2 meet until appears along with the message 'End'.
- 30. U Click the left mouse button to register the length of the roof.

PlansXpress	
Do you wish to cor	isider the Flat Celling, Vaulted Celling, Purlins, Binders & Rain Water Pipes at this stage?
	No No



You'll see that the outline of the roof and the ridge line has appeared.

Let's now add the two apex valley roofs, starting with the left gable.

32. Click the right mouse button to repeat the action of drawing a roof.

A dialog box pops up asking you what type of roof you're drawing.





The Command Window prompts: Indicate wall line that roof is on.



35. Click on the front wall of the gable, External Wall 7, with the left mouse button.

The wall will be highlighted in red.

The Command Window prompts: Select First Corner for Width of Building.

Remember "Width of Building" is referring to the gable end of the roof.

 Hold your mouse over where External Walls 7 and 8 meet until appears along with the message 'End'.

37. \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to register the first corner of the building.

The Command Window prompts: Indicate Second Corner for Width of Building.

- 38. Hold your mouse where External Walls 7 and 6 meet until 🗌 appears along with the message 'End'.
- 39. Click the left mouse button to register the second corner of the building.

The Command Window prompts: Indicate corner for length of building, or [T]ee to join to existing wall/roof.

This time we are teeing the valley roof into the main apex roof. Therefore we need to press the T key on the keyboard to tell **PlansXpress**[®] that the roof we are drawing is teeing into an existing roof.



Press the T key on your keyboard.

The Command Window prompts: Select Wall/Roof line to Tee into.

41. \Box Click on the eaves line of the main roof which the valley is teeing into.



The valley roof appears teed into the main roof.

A dialog box pops up asking if you PlansXpress wish to add Flat Ceiling, Purlins, Binders and Rainwater Pipes. Do you wish to consider the Flat Ceiling, Vaulted Ceiling, Purlins, Binders & Rain Water Pipes at this stage? No Yes

42. Click No.

We'll add these later.

The valley roof appears teed into the main roof.

43. Repeat steps 32 to 41 to draw the second apex valley section of the roof.

After marking out the position of the second valley roof, your plans should look like this:



Once you've teed the second valley roof into the main roof, the dialog box pops up again asking if you wish to add Flat Ceiling, Purlins, Binders and Rainwater Pipes. This time we do.

132 Tutorial Drawing the Roof

44. Click Yes.

Refer to Diagram F on page 25 for the placement of the Purlins, Binders and Rainwater Pipes.

A dialog box pops up asking specifically if you wish to place an area of flat ceiling.

PlansXpress

Enter Dimensions Page 1 of 1

45. Click Yes.

The Ceiling Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 46. Check that Insulation to ceiling is set to Y.
- 47. Check that Ceiling plastered is set to Y.
- 48. Check that Plastering to ceiling decorated is set to Y.

Joist centres (M) 0-00 0-00 0-00 0-00 0-00 0-00 0-00 0-	End bearings for joists (both ends) (M) 0.200 Insulation to ceiling? (Y/N) Y Insulation usage factor (No.) 1.150 Ceiling plaster plastered? (Y/N) Y Plastering to ceiling decorated? (Y/N) Y
---	--

Do you wish to consider the Flat Ceiling, Vaulted Ceiling, Purlins, Binders & Rain Water Pipes at this stage?

No

Yes

Do you want to place an area of flat ceiling?

No

Yes

PlansXpress

49. Click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

- 50. Hold your mouse over the internal corner of where External Walls 8 and 1 meet until appears along with the message 'End'.
- 51. Click the left mouse button to register the start point of the ceiling.



The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

- 52. Hold your mouse over the internal corner of where External Walls 1 and 2 meet until appears along with the message 'End'.
- 53. Click the left mouse button to register the next point of the ceiling.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

- 54. Continue in this way, clicking on each internal corner of the house to mark out the ceiling area, until you're placed the last point.
- 55. Press the C key to complete the ceiling area.

Hatching appears to indicate the position of the ceiling.

Click the right mouse button to tell
 PlansXpress[®] that you've finished drawing the ceiling.

The dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place another area of ceiling.

57. Click No.

Another dialog box pops up specifically asking if you wish to place an area of vaulted ceiling.

58. Click No.







PlansXpress
Do you want to place an area of vaulted ceiling?
Yes No

Another dialog box pops up specifically asking if you wish to place purlins.

59. Click Yes.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

- 60. Hold your mouse over the rear slope of the left gable end of the main apex roof until appears along with the message 'Mid'.
- 61. Click the left mouse button to register the start point of the purlin.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

- 62. Hold your mouse over the same point on the right gable of the main roof until __ pops up along with the message 'Perp'.
- 63. Click the left mouse button to register the next point of the purlin.

PlansXpress	
Do you want to place any Purlins in this section of roof?	
Yes No	



64. Click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**[®] you've finished drawing this stretch of purlin.

The dialog box pops up again asking if you wish to place another purlin.

65. Click Yes.





66. Repeat the process detailed above to place a purlin on the front slope of the main apex roof.



67. Once you've drawn the purlin on the front slope of the roof, click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**[®] you've finished drawing the purlins.

The dialog box pops up asking if you want to place any more purlins.

PlansXpre	35
?	Do you want to place any Purlins in this section of roof?
	Yes No

68. Click No.

PlansXpres	ss
?	Do you want to place any Binders in this section of roof?
	Yes No

Another dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place any binders.

69. Click Yes.

70. In the same way as you placed the purlins, place the binders on the main roof. You'll see from Diagram F on page 25 that the binders span each slope of the main roof from gable to gable, slightly closer to the ridge than the purlins.

Remember to right click after drawing the first binder, and click yes to the dialog box asking if you wish to place Binders, in order to place the second binder.



71. Once you've drawn the second binder, click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**[®] you've finished drawing the binder.

The dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place Binders.	PlansXpress Do you want to place any Binders in this section of roof?						
72. Click No.	No No						
PlansXpress Do you want to place any Rain Water Pipes to Yes No	A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place Rain Water Pipes. 73. Click Yes.						

The Rain Water Pipe Dimensions Wizard pops up.

Enter Dimensions Page 1 of 1		
Gutter and downpipe details	74.	Set the number of gutter stop
NOTE THAT THE GUTTER ITSELF IS DEALT WITH IN THE MAIN ROOF WORKBOOK		ends to 1.
1 No. of gutter stop ends (No.)	75.	Set the number of gutter angles to 1.
Down pipe fixing centres (M) 1.200 Length of rain water pipes (M) 2.4 Supplied length of downpipe (M) 4.000 No. of gutter angles (No.) 1	76.	Review the remaining gutter details.
GUTTER AND DOWNPIPE DETAILS	77.	Click Finish.
Options Show Tech Labels Accept Defaults Cancel 🐵 Back 😁 Finish		

You're now ready to place the Rain Water Pipe.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point.

- 78. Hold your mouse just to the left of where the upper construction line intersects with the outside of External Wall 8.
- 79. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the rainwater pipe.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Rotate To.

80. Click anywhere to register the rotation of the rain water pipe – because it's circular it doesn't matter.

The dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place Rain Water Pipes.

81. Click Yes.



- 82. Repeat steps 73 to 80 to place the remaining Rain Water Pipes using the construction lines for guidance. Refer to Diagram F on page 25 for the positioning of the Rain Water Pipes.
- 83. After placing the final Rain Water Pipe, click No to the dialog box asking if you wish to place Rain Water Pipes.

Your first floor plan should now look like this:

All we need to do now is delete the construction lines.



84. Delete Press the Delete Construction Lines button (found on the Drawing & Annotation tab).

A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to delete the construction lines.

85. Click Yes.

PlansXpress
Are you sure you want to delete all construction lines ?
Yes No



Ö		/ö-
	•	

86. 📕 Press the Save button.

ADDING THE DRAIN RUNS & MANHOLES

20-25 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial guides you through adding drain runs and manholes for the foul drainage and surface water drainage.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- add manholes and soakaways;
- add soil vent pipes and gullies;
- draw drain runs;
- switch off the Drainage and Drain Run Layers.

You will need to refer to Diagram G on page 26 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise, you will have drawn this drainage system:



We don't want the drains to appear on the printouts of the ground floor layout, but we do want to estimate them. Therefore we're going to draw them on our ground floor plan, then switch off the Drainage Layer so they don't appear on screen or on any printouts.

Let's start by placing the Soil Pipe Drain in the W.C. and Kitchen.

	Architectural Dra	awing & Annotation	Non-Estimated Symbols		Modify & Selection		Viev	Views & 3D S		tings				a	S 🔍 🔍
						F		\swarrow	-1	-	2			畫	
External *	Internal Feature Masonary *	Doors Windows	Openings and Steelwork *	Stairs	Flooring	Roofs *	Extend Roof	Attic	Drain	age	External Works and Landscaping 👻	Electrical	Plumbing	Plastering	Decoration *
	Walling	Openir	ngs	Stairs	Flooring	Roo	ofs and At	tics		Dra	in Runs	•	Т	rades	
										Dee	ep Manhole	,			
										Ins	pection Chamber	•			
										Sha	llow Access Manhol	e 🕨			
									Ħ	Soa	kaway	•			
									Ħ	Co	ndensate Soakaway f	or Boiler 🕨			
									Ŧ	Gu	ly	•			
									Ŧ	Bac	k Inlet Gully	,			
									ľ	Soi	l Pipe Drain	•	1 9	oil Pipe Dra	in
									7	Ro	dding Eye	•	-		
										Ser	vices Installation	•			
									0	Dra	inage Plant	•			
									_				_		

- 1. Press the Drainage dropdown.
- 2. Click on the Drainage type called Soil Pipe Drain.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Soil Pipe Drain.

PlansXpress® is now ready to place the Soil Pipe Drain. The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point.



- 4. Referring to Diagram G on page 26, move your mouse to the location of the Soil Pipe Drain in the W.C.
- 5. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the Soil Pipe Drain.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Rotate to.

 As the symbol for a Soil Pipe Drain is circular, its orientation does not matter. Click the left mouse button (don't worry about the position of your cursor) to register the orientation of the symbol.

The W.C. Soil Pipe Drain is now positioned.

- 7. U Right click to tell **PlansXpress**[®] you want to place another Soil Pipe Drain.
- 8. Repeat the process to register the position and orientation of the Soil Pipe Drain in the Kitchen.

Now let's place the 0.9m Inspection Chamber outside the front of the house, which connects to the 1.2m drain in the road.



- 9. Press the dropdown arrow next to the Drainage button.
- 10. Click on the Drainage type called Inspection Chamber.
- 11. Click on the dimensional template called 900 mm deep inspection chamber.

The Inspection Chamber Dimensions Wizard pops up.



PlansXpress® is now ready to place the Inspection Chamber. The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point.

As you can see from Diagram G on page 26, the Inspection Chamber is 1m from the front of the house, half way between the two gables. We'll place the Inspection Chamber by measuring from the corner of one of the gables, where External Walls 3 and 4 meet.



20. Type -1000 into the Y input box.

This tells PlansXpress® that the Inspection Chamber is 1000mm (or 1m) from the point of reference, along the Y axis.





25. Vertical

Press the Vertical Construction Line button (Drawing & Annotation tab).



The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

- 26. Mean Ensure Nearest Snap is on.
- 27. Hold your mouse over the exterior of External Wall 8 until ⊠ appears with the message 'Near'.

28. Press and release the R key.

29. Move your mouse to the left.

The dimension between the wall and mouse pops up.

30. Press the left arrow key.

A dialog box pops up asking you to enter a distance.

- 31. Enter 1000 into the dialog box.
- 32. Click OK.



A construction line appears 1000mm (1m) to the left of External Wall 8.

PlansXpress® is ready to draw another vertical construction line.

33. Repeat this process to add construction lines 1m to the right of External Wall 2 and 1m under External Walls 3 and 7.
You will need to turn Snap mode back on by pressing the F7 key because Snap mode is switched off when you enter a dimension. Refer to the section on setting out construction lines, starting on page 29 if you need a reminder about adding construction lines to your page.



Once you've done this, your page should look like this:

We're ready to place the Shallow Access Manhole, starting with Shallow Access Manholes A and D which have an excavation depth of 0.55m. See Diagram G on page 26 for their location.

	Architectural	Dra	wing & An	notation	Non-Estimate	d Symbols	Modify 8	Selection	Viev	ws & 3D	Set	tings			6	s 🚉 🔍	🔍 🖩 💉
								F		\checkmark					à		E
External	Internal Feature Masona	ire iry ∗	Doors *	Windows	Openings and Steelwork 🔻	Stairs	Flooring	Roofs	Extend Roof	Attic	Drai	nage External Works and Landscaping *	Electrical	Plumbing	Plastering *	Decoration	Renovation *
	Walling			Openi	ngs	Stairs	Flooring	Roo	ofs and At	ttics		Drain Runs	•	1	Trades		Renovation
												Deep Manhole	•				
												Inspection Chamber	•	I			
												Shallow Access Manhol	e 🕨		Shallow acc	ess chamber	
											Ħ	Soakaway	•				
											H	Condensate Soakaway f	or Boiler 🔸				
											Ŧ	Gully	•				
											Ŧ	Back Inlet Gully	•	I			
												Soil Pipe Drain	•	I			
											7	Rodding Eye	•	I			
												Services Installation	۲				
											2	Drainage Plant	•				
											_			_			

34. Press the dropdown arrow next to the Drainage button.

- 35. Click on the Drainage type called Shallow Access Manhole.
- 36. Click on the dimensional template called Shallow access chamber.

The Shallow Access Manhole dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 37. Enter a Depth of excavation for manhole of 0.55.
- 38. Review the Manhole excavation details.
- 39. Click Next.
- 40. Review the details on the remaining pages of the Dimensions Wizard.
- Once you're happy with the information you've entered on the final page of the Dimensions Wizard, click Finish.



PlansXpress® is now ready to place the Shallow Access Manholes. Let's start by placing Shallow Access Manhole A.





The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point.

- 42. Hold your mouse over the Soil Pipe Drain in the kitchen until and 'Ins' appears.
- 43. Press and release the R key on your keyboard.

We're placing Shallow Access Manhole A 45° from the Soil Pipe Drain so that the drain run is also at 45°.

44. Hold down the Shift key on your keyboard.

This locks the cursor into moving in 45 degree increments.

- 45. Move your mouse until the Shallow Access Manhole is intersecting the construction line, diagonally down and to the left.
- Once you're happy with its position, click the left mouse button.
- 47. Release the Shift key.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Rotate to.

48. Click the left mouse button again to accept the orientation of the Shallow Access Manhole (again orientation doesn't matter because the Shallow Access Manhole is circular).

49. Click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**[®] you want to place another identical Shallow Access Manhole.

50. Repeat this process to place Shallow Access Manhole D on the opposite side of the house, positioning it adjacent to the W.C. on the right hand construction line.



Your page should now look like this:

Let's now place Shallow Access Manholes B and C. These Manholes are deeper than the two we have just placed so we need to go through the Dimensions Wizard again, and enter an excavation depth of 0.65.

Drainage

51. Right-click on the Drainage icon to launch the dimensions wizard for the Shallow Access Manhole.

The Shallow Access Manhole dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 52. Enter a Depth of excavation for manhole of 0.65.
- 53. Review the Manhole excavation details.
- 54. Click Next.
- 55. Review the details on the remaining pages of the Dimensions Wizard.
- Once you're happy with the information you've entered on the final page of the Dimensions Wizard, click Finish.



PlansXpress® is now ready to place the Shallow Access Manholes.



The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point.

- 57. Hold your mouse to the bottom left of the house, where the construction lines meet, until and 'Ins' appear.
- 58. Click the left mouse button to accept the placement of the Shallow Access Manhole at the intersection of the construction lines.
- The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Rotate to.
- 59. Click the left mouse button again to accept the orientation of the Shallow Access Manhole.
- 60. Say No to placing any Plant.
- 61. U Click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress®** you want to place another identical Shallow Access Manhole.
- 62. Repeat the process to place Shallow Access Manhole C on the opposite side of the house, where the construction lines meet.

Once you've placed Shallow Access Manhole C, your page should look like this:

We've drawn all the manholes for the foul drainage system. Now let's draw the drain run which runs from the Inspection Chamber along to the existing drainage in the road. This stretch of drain run will have a nominal depth of excavation of 1.25m. The drain run slopes from 0.9m at the Inspection Chamber to 1.2m at the road so the average depth of drain is 1.05. A 1.25m excavation allows for 0.2m of bedding material.



When you draw the drain run it will overlap the first floor plan. This doesn't matter because we're only drawing the drainage for estimating purposes. Later we will switch off the drainage Layers so they don't feature in the drawings.

63. Click the Drainage dropdown then Drain runs and select 1.5 metre deep drain run with no fittings.



The Drain Runs dimensions wizard pops up.

- 64. Enter a Depth of excavation of 1.25m.
- 65. Click Next.
- Review the details on the remaining pages of the Dimensions Wizard.
- 67. Once you're happy with the information you've entered on the final page of the Dimensions Wizard, click Finish.



PlansXpress® is now ready to start drawing the drain runs.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point. Firstly we want to find the 'Mid' point of the bottom of Inspection Chamber to place the start point.

- 68. Hold your mouse over the middle of the bottom of the Inspection Chamber until Appears along with the message 'Mid'.
- 69. Click the left mouse button to register the start point.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

The drain run connecting the Inspection Chamber and existing drainage runs 5m (5000mm) away from the house.

Press the down arrow key on your keyboard.

- A Distance dialog box pops up.
- 71. Type 5000 into the Free Input box.
- 72. Click OK.

70.







We've now drawn the drain run to the existing drainage. To do the other drains, with different depths, we need to go through the Drain Run Dimensions Wizard again. Let's draw the stretch of drain run from the Inspection Chamber to Shallow Access Manhole C. This stretch of drain run will have a nominal depth of excavation of 0.9m.



- 74. Press the Drainage dropdown (found on the Architectural tab).
- 75. Click on the Drain Runs dimensional template called 1.0 metre deep drain run with no fittings.

The Drain Runs dimensions wizard pops up.

- 76. Enter a Depth of excavation of 0.9m.
- 77. Click Next.
- Review the remaining pages of the Drain Runs Dimensions Wizard.
- 79. Once you're happy with the information you've entered, click Finish.



PlansXpress® is now ready to start drawing the drain runs.



The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point. Firstly we want to find the Mid-point of the right hand side of the Inspection Chamber to place the start point.

- Hold your mouse over the middle of the right of the Inspection Chamber until appears along with the message 'Mid'.
- 81. U Click the left mouse button to register the start point.



Let's now draw the length of drain run connecting Shallow Access Manholes C and D, which has an average excavation depth of 0.65.



- 85. Press the Drainage dropdown (found on the Architectural tab).
- 86. Click on the Drain Runs dimensional template called 0.6 metre deep drain run with no fittings.

The Drain Runs Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 87. Enter a Depth of excavation of 0.65m.
- 88. Click Next.
- 89. Review the other pages of the Dimensions Wizard.
- 90. Once you're happy with the details you've entered, click Finish.

PlansXpress® is now ready to start drawing the drain runs.



The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

n

- 92. Click the left mouse button to register the start point of the drain.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

- 93. Move your mouse up the page until it's hovering over the bottom of Shallow Access Manhole D and appears along with the message 'Quad'.
- 94. Olick the left mouse button to register the end point.
- 95. Uclick the right mouse button to finish drawing this length of drain run.



96. Let's now draw the length of drain run from Shallow Access Manhole D to the Soil Pipe Drain in the W.C., with an excavation depth of 0.6m.

First we'll insert diagonal construction lines to act as guides when placing the drain runs.

97. Angular Press the Angular Construction Line button (Drawing & Annotation tab).



Click the right mouse button to place another Angular Construction Line.

102. Repeat this process to add a Construction Line linking the 'Ins' point of the kitchen soil pipe drain and the 'Ins' point of Shallow Access Manhole A.



103. Drainage Click the right mouse button on the Drainage button to launch the Drain Runs dimensions wizard again.

The Drain Runs dimensions wizard pops up.

- 104. Enter a Depth of excavation of 0.6.
- 105. Review the other pages of the Dimensions Wizard.
- 106. Once you're happy with the details you've entered, click Finish.

	Note: Dept	th of dig is not the same as de	epth of drain!	
0.600	0.200		Back fill material Concrete pipe protection Pipe cover material Pipe bedding	Note: Plant associated with carrying out drainage works should be estimated using the Drainage Plant Workbook.

PlansXpress® is now ready to start drawing the drain runs.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.



158 Tutorial Adding the Drain Runs & Manholes



113. Insert a gully under the kitchen window by clicking on the Drainage dropdown menu, clicking on Gully and selecting the Gully template. After placing it, add a drain run to Shallow Access Manhole A with a 0.4m excavation depth.

Now have a go at drawing the surface drainage system.

- 114. To draw the surface water drainage system, start by placing a Soakaway 9 metres behind the house. Go to the Drainage dropdown, click on Soakaway and select the Medium pre-cast soakaway. Place the Soakaway by measuring 9 metres (9000mm) from the back of the house and 2 metres to the right. The soakaway will appear off the page this doesn't matter, it will still be estimated.
- 115. Place a Shallow Access Manhole for the surface water drainage and place all the drain runs for the surface water drainage according to Diagram G on page 26, entering suitable drain run depths. The surface water drains run around the house 2m from the walls. Each rain water pipe is connected to the drains with a drain run at approximately 45°. You may want to add additional Construction lines 2m from the external walls to help you.
- 116. Once you've placed the drain runs, add Rodding Eyes by going to the Drainage dropdown, clicking on Rodding Eye and selecting the Rodding Eye dimensional template.
- 117. Delete Press the Delete Construction Lines button to delete any construction lines on the page. Click Yes to the dialog box asking if you wish to delete the construction lines.

Once you have finished adding all the elements of the surface water drainage, you can switch off the Drainage layer so the drains don't appear on the plans.



118. Layers Press the Layers button (found on the Views & 3D tab).

The Layers dialog box pops up.

119. Locate the Drainage and Drain Run Layers in the list.

ayer:	5								23
L	ayers								
	Name 🔺	Alias	Colour	Style	:	2	۵		Add
	Dormers		0.05		1		1		
	Dowel Bars		1		1		1		Select All
	DPC		0.05		1		1		
	DPC Elevations		0.2		1		1		Edit Selected
	Drain Run		0.5						Delete Selected
I	Drainage		0.5						
	Electrical		0.05		\checkmark		1		Purge Unused
	Elevations		0.05		\checkmark		1		Contract of the second
	Estimating Labels		0.05		\checkmark		1		Find
	External Works		0.05		\checkmark		V		Use Alias
	Fencing		2		1		1	-	Use Groups
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							-	
Cu	rrent Layer Drain Run								Set Current
								ОК	Cancel

120. Untick the Light bulb and Printer tick boxes so that the Drainage and Drain Run Layers are no longer visible onscreen.

121. Click OK.

When you are returned to the page, the drainage will no longer be visible.

122. III Press the Save button.

CREATING ELEVATION VIEWS



This section of the Tutorial leads you through generating front and side elevations of the house based on the plan layouts you have drawn. It also guides you through adding detail to the elevations.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- create ground and first floor elevations;
- add detail to the elevations such as ground, trees, shrubs and cars;
- switch off the Roof Layer.

You will need to refer to Diagram A on page 20 during this exercise.

At the end of this exercise, your page will look like this:



Let's draw the front elevation of the house to begin with. To draw a multi-storey elevation, you work from the ground floor upwards so we'll start by drawing the front elevation of the ground floor.



1. Draw Elevation Press the Draw Elevation button on the Views & 3D tab.

The Command Window prompts: Give wall on which elevation will be based :

2. Click on External Wall 5 (The wall with the Front Door)

This tells $\ensuremath{\textbf{PlansXpress}}\xspace^{\ensuremath{\textbf{\$}}\xspace}$ that the selected wall is to be included in the Elevation.





The Command Window prompts: Give observation point for elevation.

3. Move your mouse down the page so it's in front of the forwardmost elevation of the house.

This way, all three front walls of the house will appear in the elevation.

4. Click the left mouse button to indicate where the elevation is being viewed from.



The Command Window prompts: Give depth of view for elevation.

5. Move the mouse up the page so it's behind the wall with the front door and past where the roof ridge would be on the first floor. You need to do this so that when the elevation for the first floor is drawn the roof is included.

Æ

6. Ulick the left mouse button to indicate that this is the furthest point to be viewed on the elevation.

The Command Window prompts: Give left extent point for elevation :

- 7. Move your mouse to the left until it's beyond the left wall of the house.
- 8. Click the left mouse button to indicate the left extent of the elevation.





The Command Window prompts: Give right extent point for elevation :

- 9. Move your mouse to the right until it's beyond the right wall of the house.
- 10. Click the left mouse button to indicate the right extent of the elevation.

The Command Window prompts: Give reference point for elevation :

- 11. Hold your mouse over the bottom left corner of the house until appears along with 'End'.
- 12. Click the left mouse button to register the Point of Reference.



The Command Window prompts: Give relative point for elevation :

Note that the 'Point of Reference on the Plan' will be Placed on the given Point. We want to place the front elevation to the right of the ground floor layout. Your cursor will dictate where the left-most point of the elevation will be, because we selected the left corner of the house as our Point of Reference.

- Hold down the Shift key on the keyboard.
- 14. Move your mouse to the right, until you are happy with the position of where the elevation will be.
- 15. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the elevation.

A message box will pop up asking if you want to create elevation for all levels?

16. Click Yes.

When we created the first floor by copying the ground floor we also set it to be a level above the ground floor.

PlansXpress® now uses these levels to automatically generate the elevations for the ground floor, first floor and roof.







17. Single click the elevation to select it and click the explode button on the top menu. The select it and click the explode button on the top menu.

	Archited	tural	Drawing & A	nnotation	Non-Estimated Symbols	Modify & Selection	Views & 3D	Settings
Rotate 0.	.0	⇒_	🍰 Copy	🕂 Mirror				
X Scale 1		ti:Cl	📫 Rotate	🆄 Explode				
Y Scale 1		Move	Scale	🗙 Delete				
Sym	bol		Manipulati	on				

You will notice that the middle windows are showing as being behind the fascia board in the elevation. This is down to the fact that PlansXpress® does not take into account the tricks that are used on-site to cut off the bottom of a rafter, add a tilting fillet or adjust how far down the fascia board hangs below the rafter's end. The upshot of this is that the bottom of the roof in this case needs to be shifted up to take this into account.



18. Stretch Press the Stretch button (Modify & Selection Tab).

The Command Window reads: Give first corner of box to Stretch.

19. \bigcirc Move the mouse to the left of the roof, around half way up then left.

The Command Window reads: Give second corner of box to Stretch.

20. Move the mouse to the bottom and right of the roof and left click again.



The Command Window reads: Give reference point.





The Command Window reads: Give Point to Stretch To.



The Distance dialog box pops up.

- 23. Type 215 into the Free Input box.
- 24. Click Ok.

Dista	ance	83
Ir	Input Sizes	
	Free Input	
	Distance	Direction
	215	^
	Brick Length	No Bricks
	🔘 Brick Height	3
	🔘 Less 1 🔘 Equ	al 🔘 Add 1
	ОК	Cancel

The roof should now be moved up above the windows and appear correctly, as it would be built.



Let's now generate a side elevation of the house, viewing the right wall of the house. Again, we'll start by creating the ground floor side elevation.



Draw Elevation Press the Elevation button. 25

The Command Window prompts: Select One Wall to be Shown in Elevation.



Click on the right wall of the ground floor plan. 26 External Wall 2.

The Command Window prompts: Give observation point for elevation.

27. Move your mouse to the right of the house.



Click the left mouse button to indicate where the 28. elevation is being viewed from.

The Command Window prompts: Give depth of view for elevation.

- 29. Move the mouse to the left so it's beyond Internal Wall 4 so that we get the ridge line of the roof in our elevation.
- Click the left mouse button to indicate that this is 30. the furthest point to be viewed on the elevation.

The Command Window prompts: Move your Mouse to Indicate the Left Extent of the Elevation.

Imagine you're standing directly in front of the right wall of the house. The left extent of the elevation is the front wall of the house, and the right extent of the elevation is the back wall of the house. First, we need to indicate the left extent of the elevation.

- 31. Move your mouse down until it's beyond the front of the house.
- Click the left mouse button to indicate the left extent of the elevation. 32

The Command Window prompts: Move your Mouse to Indicate the Right Extent of the Elevation.

33. Move your mouse up until it's beyond the back of the house.



 ∇ Click the left mouse button to indicate the right extent of the elevation.

The Command Window prompts: Give reference point for elevation.

35. Hold your mouse over the bottom right corner of the house until appears along with 'End'. This is the bottom left corner of the elevation.



 \Box Click the left mouse button to register the Point of Reference.

The Command Window prompts: Give relative point for elevation. Note that the 'Point of Reference on the Plan' will be Placed on the given Point.

We want to place the side elevation directly below the front elevation of the house, adjacent to the first floor layout. As before, your cursor will dictate where the left-most point of the elevation will be, because we selected the left corner of the elevation as our Point of Reference.



You will now see the side elevation of the house below the front elevation.

We can switch the Roof Layers off so that the roof does not appear in the plan views onscreen or on printouts. It will still, of course, appear in the elevation views. This is because the roof elevations have their own Roof Elevations Layer.

Ð

42. Layers Press the Layers button (found on the Views & 3D tab).

1	Name 🔺	Alias	Colour	Style	- 1 0	2	2	Add
	Roof		1					Auu
	Roof - End		0.05					Select All
1	Roof - Hip		0.05					
	Roof - Ridge		0.05					Edit Selected
	Roof - Side		0.05					Delete Selecte
	Roof - Valley		0.05					
	Roof Accessories		0.05					Purge Unused
	Roof Elevations		0.2		1		\checkmark	-
	Roof Structure		0.5					Find
	Sanitaryware		0.05		V		1	Use Alias
	Scaffolding		0.05		\checkmark		\checkmark	Use Group

- 43. Locate the Binders, Ceiling, Purlins, Roof, Roof End, Roof Hip, Roof Ridge, Roof Side, Roof Valley, Roof Accessories and Roof Structure Layers (not the Roof Elevations Layer!) and untick their associated View on screen (light bulb) and Print (printer) tick boxes.
- 44. Click OK.

You are returned to the page where the roof is no longer visible in the plan view. The roof will not appear in plan views on printouts.

We can now add some detail to the elevations.

Firstly, let's add the ground level to both elevations so that they're not floating around the page. Let's assume that the ground is flat. We can create the ground level by extending the line which delineates the bottom of the house on each elevation.

45. **Frim/Extend** Press the Trim/Extend button on the Modify & Selection tab.

The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend.



Click on the line which delineates the bottom of 46 the right gable on the front elevation.

PlansXpress® now knows that you want to trim or extend this line. On this occasion, we want to extend the line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to.

47. Move your cursor to the right of the elevation.

You'll see that the line is extended and now also indicates the around level.

48.

Once you're happy with the length of the ground line to the right of the house, click the left mouse button to register the extension of the line.

Now let's repeat this process to extend the ground level on the other side of the elevation.

Trim/Extend Press the Trim/Extend button on the Modify & Selection tab. 49

The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend.



Click on the line which delineates the bottom of 50. the left gable on the front elevation.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to.

51. Move your mouse to the left of the elevation.

You'll see that the line is extended and now also indicates the ground level on the other side of the house.



- Once you're happy with the length of the 52. ground line to the left of the house, click the left mouse button to register the extension of the line.
- 53. Repeat this process to add the ground level lines to the side elevation. Don't forget to explode the elevation so that you can edit it before trying to Trim/Extend the line.







Now let's add some trees and shrubs to the elevations.

- 54. Click on the Non Estimated Symbols tab.
- 55. Press the Landscape Symbols dropdown.

	Architectural Drawing & Ann	notation Non-Estimated Symbols Mon	dify & Selection Views & 3D Set	tings						a 💯 🦻 🏓
	🛄 Standard 👻 🗮 Sash 👻	E Full Sections - Floors -	Foundation and Wall Materials -	Wall Details 👻	💡 Electric 🕶	Kitchen +	🖉 Drawing	-		
Doors	Horizontal Bar 👻 📗 Roof 👻	Foundations and Footings - Koofs -	Flooring Materials -	Roof and Chimney -	Furniture -	Landscape	 Office + 			
Doore	Georgian - Parametric -	Walls - Lintels Et	c. • KRoof Materials •	Door and Window Frames Flavation Embeliebment	Heating *	All groups Trees in Elevati	ion			
		Secto								
L										

- 56. Scroll down the symbols until you find a suitable tree elevation symbol.
- 57. Click on a suitable tree symbol.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point.

Comma	ind Window									Ļ	×
Select	Command or 1	Item(s)	to Modify,	Click & Drag	for Mult	iple Selec	tion				-
INSER.	T SYMBOL		, ,								
Place I	tem:										-
Layer	Untitled	-	Colour	Layer	-	Style	Layer	•	Size: ISO A1 (841×594) Scale: 1:50 Units: mm 50405	, 28998	
						_					

58. To ensure the tree symbol appears on the desired Layer, select Untitled from the Layer drop down box (found in the very bottom left corner of the PlansXpress window.

PlansXpress[®] will now place the tree symbol, and all the symbols you place subsequently (until you add a different, estimated item to the page) on the Untitled Layer.

59. Move your cursor to where you wish to place the tree.





61. Repeat this process to add landscaping features to the elevations.

You can add extra detail to the elevations, such as cars and people, by clicking on the Non Estimated Symbols tab then clicking the Landscape dropdown button and scrolling down the list. The Non Estimated Symbols drop down menu also contains additional details to add to the elevations, such as guttering and down pipes.



Once you're happy with the appearance of the elevations, you can move on to the next section.

62. Press the Save button.

ADDING HATCH PATTERNING TO THE ELEVATIONS



This section of the Tutorial talks you through adding tile and brick detail to the elevations of the house.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- add hatching to elevations;
- create new Pens;
- create new Layers;
- assign hatching to a Layer.

You can automatically add texture and patterns to your elevations using the Elevation Hatch button in the Hatch dropdown on the Drawing & Annotation tab.

At the end of this exercise, your elevations will look like this:



Let's start by adding tile hatching to the roof on the front elevation.



1. Press the Elevation Hatch button on the Hatch dropdown (Found under the Drawing & Annotation tab).

The Command Window prompts: Give Hatch Point Inside Boundary.

2. Click anywhere inside the roof on the front elevation.



The Command Window prompts: Give Hatch Origin Point.

3. As we want to show a full tile at the top of the roof, click on the 'End' snap point on the top left corner of the roof.



PlansXpress® will draw the hatch pattern starting at the top left corner of the roof.

The Hatch Patterning dialog box pops up.

There are three tabs containing different types of hatch pattern. You can control the size of the pattern by changing the figure in the Size input box at the bottom left of the dialog box.

- 4. Click on the Page 2 tab.
- 5. Click on the hatch pattern at the bottom right of the dialog box called ROOFTILE.
- 6. Type 200 into the Size input box.
- 7. Click OK.







After a few moments, the roof is automatically hatched with the hatch pattern you have chosen.

You can repeat this process to add brick detail to the walls. This time you want the hatch origin point to be at ground level so that you have a full brick's height at the bottom of the walls.

8. Click the right mouse button to draw another area of hatching.

The Command Window prompts: Give Hatch Point Inside Boundary.

9. Click anywhere inside the walls, taking care not to click on a window or door.



The Command Window prompts: Give Hatch Origin Point.

10. Click on the 'End' snap point at the bottom left corner of the middle section of wall where it meets the DPC line.



The Select Hatch Pattern dialog box pops up.

- 11. Click on the Page 1 tab.
- 12. Click on the hatch pattern called BRICK1.
- 13. Check the Size input box is set to 225.
- 14. Click OK.





After a few moments, brick hatching automatically appears on the walls.

15. Repeat this process to add hatching to the remaining two sections of wall on the front elevation, and to the roof and walls of the side elevation of the house.

You can also add colour to the hatch patterning. First let's create a pen for the brick hatching.

16. Go to the Views & 3D Menu and click Pens.

	Architectural	Drawing & Annotation Non-Estimated Sy	mbols Sections Modify	& Selection Views	/s & 3D Settings		
Draw Elevati	ation 3D Previe	w Textures 3D PhotoVisualiser Level Vie	Show Opening Details Auto Refresh 3D Refresh 3D Manually	Layers	Hatching Hatching Notes Picker Area Fill Horperties Layouts Command Show/Hide	Zoom Window Zoom Full Page Zoom Extents Xoom In Xoom Previous Pan Zoom Out Zoom Next Pan Zoom Zoom Zoom	Save View Manage Views Select View Named Views

✓ Display Line The	nickness	Display : De	efault	
Print/Export Li	ne Thickness	Printing : De	efault	
Default				
en Set Description	: Default			
Pen 1 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm 🔺
Pen 2 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 3 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 4 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 5 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 6 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 7 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 8 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 9 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 10 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 11 Colour :		Thickness :	0.5	mm
Pen 12 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 13 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 14 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm
Pen 15 Colour :		Thickness :	0.05	mm 👻
Set Defaults	Set Mono	Add Pen	Duplicate	Pen Set
e: Pen thickness ar	e specified as	the size they w	ill appear w	hen printe

ettings		
Display Line Thickness	Display : Default	-
Print/Export Line Thicknes	ss Printing : Default	-
Default		
Defende		
en set Description : Default		
Pen 50 Colour :	Thickness: 0.1	mm 🔶
Pen 51 Colour :	Thickness : 0.1	mm
Pen 52 Colour :	Thickness: 0.1	mm
Pen 53 Colour :	Thickness : 0.05	mm
Pen 54 Colour :	Thickness : 0.05	mm
Pen 55 Colour :	Thickness : 0.05	mm
Pen 56 Colour :	Thickness: 2	mm
Pen 57 Colour :	Thickness : 0.7	mm
Pen 58 Colour :	Thickness : 0.15	mm
Pen 59 Colour :	Thickness : 0.2	mm
Pen 60 Colour :	Thickness : 0.15	mm
Pen 61 Colour :	Thickness : 0.15	mm
Pen 62 Colour :	Thickness : 0.15	mm ≡
Pen 63 Colour :	Thickness : 0.4	mm
Pen 64 Colour :	Thickness : 0.05	mm 🖵
		t
		Dicate Pen Set

The Pens dialog box pops up.

The Pens dialog box contains all the Pens which are set up as default and assigned to certain Layers. From here, you can alter the colour and thickness of existing Pens, and add new Pens.

17. Click Add Pen.

18. The Pen is added to the bottom of the list so scroll down to the bottom of the dialog box to find it.

19. Click with the left mouse button on the Colour box adjacent to the pen at the bottom of the list (the one with the highest number).

The Colour Selector dialog box pops up.

- 20. Choose an appropriate colour for the brick hatching using the Basic Colours or the Colour Mixer.
- 21. Once you're happy with the colour click OK.



ns				23
Settings				
Display Line Thickness	Display : De	fault		-
✓ Print/Export Line Thickness	Printing : De	fault		-
Default				
Pen Set Description : Default				
Pen 50 Colour :	Thickness :	0.1	mm	^
Pen 51 Colour :	Thickness :	0.1	mm	
Pen 52 Colour :	Thickness :	0.1	mm	
Pen 53 Colour :	Thickness :	0.05	mm	
Pen 54 Colour :	Thickness :	0.05	mm	
Pen 55 Colour :	Thickness :	0.05	mm	
Pen 56 Colour :	Thickness :	2	mm	
Pen 57 Colour :	Thickness :	0.7	mm	
Pen 58 Colour :	Thickness :	0.15	mm	
Pen 59 Colour :	Thickness :	0.2	mm	
Pen 60 Colour :	Thickness :	0.15	mm	
Pen 61 Colour :	Thickness :	0.15	mm	
Pen 62 Colour :	Thickness :	0.15	mm	≡
Pen 63 Colour :	Thickness :	0.4	mm	
Pen 64 Colour :	Thickness :	0.05	mm	-
Set Defaults Set Mono	Add Pen	Duplicate	Dan Se	.+
Set Derduits Set Mono	Addr/ell	Duplicate	rense	
lote: Pen thickness are specified as	the size they wi	l appear w	hen pri	nted
	0	ĸ	Can	cel

You're returned to the Pens dialog box where the colour selected has been assigned to your Pen.

Note: You can alter the pen weight from the Pens dialog box by changing the figure in the Pen Thickness dialog box.

22. For now, click OK.

You've successfully added the pen. We will now add a Layer to put our brick hatching on and assign our Pen to that Layer.



23. Layers Press the Layers button (found on the Views & 3D tab).

Colour

0.15

0.15

0.15

0.05

0.15

0.15

Style

- × ŵ

> 1 V

V

V

V

V **v v**

V

✓ ✓ ✓

1 V **v**

Add

Select Al

Edit Selected

Purge Unused

V Lice Alian

Line Group

Set Current

OK Cancel

Layers

15mm Copper Cold

15mm Gas

22mm Gas

Applance

Arrows

Current Layer

Current Layer Untitled

15mm Copper Hot

22mm Conner Cold 22mm Copper Hot

28mm Copper Cold

28mm Copper Hot 28mm Gas

Name

The Layers dialog box pops up.

24. Click Add.

The Layer Properties dialog box pops up.

- 25. Enter a Name for the Layer, such as Brick Hatching.
- 26. Click on the Colour dropdown box, scroll to the bottom and select the pen you've just added.

You're returned to the Add Layer dialog box where the new Pen is assigned to the new Layer.

27. Click OK to finish creating the Layer.

You're returned to the Layers dialog box.

28. Click OK to close out of the Layers dialog box.

All that remains is to assign the brick hatching you drew earlier to the Brick Hatching Layer.







30. Click on each of the three sections of brick hatching and the front elevation to select them.

31. Press the arrow on the Layer dropdown box.

(Found just below the Command Window at the bottom of the screen)

- 32. Locate and click on the Layer you've just created.
- A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to change the current selection to this Layer.
- 33. Click Yes.
- 34.

. \bigcup Click anywhere on the page to deselect the brick hatching.

						/^		0000010000000
]	
								$\langle \rangle$
Mr Oliv Brick Cavity Brick Fill Orrer Brick Hatching DRAW Brick Wall Give H Brickwork detail								
Give H Cavity Fill Select Ceiling Layer Text	- Colour	Layer	▼ Mul ▼	tiple Sele Style	ection Layer	•	Size: ISO	A1 (841x59
PlansXpres	s Chano	e curre	ntse	electi	on to) curre	entlav	ver
	(Y	'es] [No)	

You'll see that brick hatching is now on the Brick Hatching Layer and drawn using the Pen you created.

35. Repeat this process to create a Pen and Layer for the Tile Hatching.

Once complete, your front elevation will look like this:



- 36. Repeat this process for the side elevation, assigning the brick hatching and tile hatching to the respective Layers.
- 37. 📕 Press the Save button.

ADDING DIMENSION LINES TO THE PLANS



This section of the Tutorial demonstrates how to add dimension lines to your plans. You can quickly and easily add multipoint dimension lines to walls using the automatic dimension tool within **PlansXpress**[®]. These automatic dimension lines provide dimensions for each brick pier and each window and door along a stretch of wall. You can also manually add dimension lines to your drawings where required.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- add auto dimensions;
- manually add dimensions.

You will need to refer to Diagrams B and C on pages 21 and 22 during this exercise.





Let's start by adding external dimension lines to the ground floor. We will do this using the automatic **PlansXpress®** wall dimensioning tool.



Γq.				 	 -	 			 - E	1-	_	 2011			5	 	 			D
1	5	222.77	in the second	 				ad l	 		_	 1170				 	 	Prices:	22114	
		1						5.0											- n II	
Н																				
i.	in a star							1											12	fili
1 I								i -											- j 1	


A menu pops up.

3. Click Dimension.

The Command Window prompts: Give Dimension Point.

Dimensions for the wall automatically appear on screen. Depending on the position of the cursor, the dimensions will show either the internal or external dimensions for the selected wall. You'll notice that the dimensions include the length of the span of the wall and also dimensions for each section of wall and each window and door. You can register the placement of the dimension lines using your mouse.

4. Once you're happy with the placement of the dimension lines, click your left mouse button to register their position.



 Repeat this process to add dimension lines to each external wall for the ground floor plan.







6. Repeat the process to add dimension lines to the first floor plan.

You can also easily add internal room dimensions to the plans. Let's add internal dimensions to the dining room.

7. Inter Dimension Press the Linear Dimension button (Found on the Drawing & Annotation tab).

The Command Window prompts: Give First Point.

- Hold your mouse over the internal leaf of External Wall 8 until pops up along with the message 'Near'.
 - e
- 9. Uclick the left mouse button to indicate the first point of the dimension line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Second Point.

 Hold your mouse over Internal Wall 3 on the Dining Room side until pops up along with the message 'Perp'.



11. U Click the left mouse button to register the Perp point.

The Command Window prompts: Give Dimension Point (H)orizontal, (V)ertical or (A)ligned.

You can now move your mouse up and down to place the dimension line in a suitable place.



igsquire Click your left mouse button once you're happy with the placement of the dimension line.

We've added the horizontal dimension so let's now add a vertical dimension for the dining room.

13. \bigcirc Click the right mouse button to repeat the last action.

The Command Window prompts: Give First Point.

- 14. Hold your mouse over the internal leaf of External Wall 1 until ⋈ pops up along with the message 'Near'.
- 15. Click the left mouse button to indicate the first point of the dimension line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Second Point.

- Hold your mouse over the Dining Room side of Internal Wall 1 until pops up along with the message 'Perp'.
- 17. Click the left mouse button to register the Perp point.



The Command Window prompts: Give Dimension Point (H)orizontal, (V)ertical or (A)ligned.

You can now move your mouse side to side to place the dimension line in a suitable place.

18. Click your left mouse button once you're happy with the placement of the dimension line.

You've now added the internal dimensions for the dining room.

19. Repeat this process of adding dimension lines to each room on the ground floor and first floor plans.

Once complete, your plans should look like this:





20. Conce you've added the dimension lines, press the Save button.

ADDING LABELS & DRAWING DETAILS TO THE PLANS

10 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial talks you through adding different types of labels to the plans, such as room labels, diagram labels and technical information. It also shows you how to set up the Title Block with any project and drawing details.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- add text labels to the page;
- place text labels on the plans;
- alter the text font;
- alter the text size;
- complete the Title Block with any relevant information.

Let's start by adding the room labels to the plans. Use Diagrams B and C on pages 21 and 22 for reference.

At the end of this exercise, your page will look like this:



 You should see the Notes Picker on the right side of the plan. If you cannot see the Notes Picker make sure Notes Picker is ticked on the Show\Hide panel on the Views & 3D tab.



The Notes Picker tab allows you to drag and drop labels onto your drawing without you having to type a thing.

You'll see there are a number of different room and drawing labels.

Let's start by inserting a label for the Kitchen.





3. Assign this label, and any labels you subsequently place, to the Untitled Layer by selecting Untitled from the Layers drop down box.

The Command Window prompts: Give Text Point.

Double click on the Kitchen label.

2

All you need to do is click the left mouse button to place the label in the desired position, but first let's change the style and size of the font.

- 4. Select an alternative from the Font drop down box towards the top of the screen.
- 5. Overtype the Height input box towards the top of the screen with 200.

This will edit the size of the text.





6. Place your cursor over the kitchen.

A

7. U Click your left mouse button once you're happy with the position of the label.

Once you're happy with the style of the text, use the Notes 8. Picker to add a label for each room on the ground floor and first floor. Any labels you add will automatically have the font and size you've just specified for the kitchen label.

Note: If you find you're missing a particular label, you can add it into the Notes Picker ready for use now and in the future by typing it into the input box at the top of the Notes Picker and clicking Add.

Now let's add the diagram labels to the plans. Use Diagrams B and C on pages 21 and 22 for reference.

The Command Window prompts: Place Text.

10. Overtype the Height input box towards the top of the screen with 300.

This will edit the size of the text.

- 11. Move your cursor under the ground floor layout.

9

Click your left mouse button once you're 12. happy with the position of the label.

A Arial





= # x Add 🗙







14. Add any other notes and labels, using either the Notes Picker or the Text button on the Drawing & Annotation Tab.

Now let's complete the Title Block on the right hand side of the page. The text within the Title Block is just like the text you have added to label the rooms and elevations so you can edit it in just the same way.

USING IMAGE BUTTON		
Co	mpany Name	
Project Project Desci Site Address 1 Site Address 2 Site Address 3 Drawing Title Drawing Title Drawing Type Drawing No. Name Drawing No. Name Date Month Year Drawn by Name Page Size - A1 Company Address,	ription ed 1:50 Checked by Name 3000 mm Phone & Email	

¹ Double-click on the text which reads Project Description to open up the

15.

Edit Text dialog box.

		Edit Text	х
16.	Overtype the existing text with a description such as Proposed New Dwelling.	Proposed New Dwelling	
17.	Click OK.	Insert Special Character Insert Drawing Property Ø ± • a • ¼ ½ % © Select Property Check Spelling OK	▼ ▼

1	Q		

Double-click on each item of text in turn to enter information as per the table below:

Current Text	Replace with
Site Address 1	Land adjacent to Holly Cottage
Site Address 2	Church Lane
Site Address 3	Avonbury
Drawing Type	Production Drawing
Drawings Included	Floor Plans and Elevations
Name	Mr Oliver
Number	1
Month Year	[Current Date]
(Drawn by) Name	[Your Name]
Scale	1:50
Checked By	[Appropriate Name]

Image 35 Image You can also insert your Company Logo using the Image button (found on the Drawing & Annotation tab) and insert your Company Name and Company Contact Details in the spaces provided, if desired. 19.



Once you've finished adding all the text to the page, your page should look like this:

PRINTING PLANS

10 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial leads you through printing an A4 Drainage Layout. You can, of course, print the whole drawing page, using Printer settings on the File menu to arrange the printout. This exercise shows you how you can be more selective about what you print, using Layouts and Views to print particular parts of a drawing, showing specific Layers in a zoomed area of the drawing page.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- create your own Views;
- create your own Layouts;
- use Print Options and Print Setup;
- preview a printout;
- print a drawing.

At the end of this exercise, you will have printed a drainage layout which looks like this:



PlansXpress® Tutorial

Let's start by creating a View of the existing plans which we can return to later on. Views work in two key ways. Firstly, when you save a View, it takes a snapshot of the current Layer settings. Secondly, it captures the current zoom setting. Therefore, you can use Views to save useful compositions of your drawings. Our finished plans are particularly useful, so we'll save them in a View called Finished Plans.

1. Save View Press the Save View button on the Views & 3D tab.

The Save View dialog box pops up.

- 2. Type Finished Plans into the View Name input box.
- 3. Tick the Save Print Options tick box.
- 4. Select the Actual Scale option and select 1:50 from the Scale dropdown box.
- 5. Tick the Centre on Page option.
- 6. Click OK.

The finished plans are now safely saved in their own View, so whatever changes we make to Layers on the drawing, we can return to it in this form at any point.

Now we can prepare the drawing to create a Drainage View.

Let's start by switching the Drainage Layer on and switching the Dimensions Layer off.



7. Layers Press the Layers button (found on the Views & 3D tab).

The Layers dialog box pops up. From here you can define which Layers appear on the page onscreen, which Layers are locked so can't be edited, and finally, which Layers appear on the print outs.

Τ	Name 🔺	Alias	Colour	Style	.	2	2		Add
ľ	Dimensions		0.05				1	1	Aud
ľ	Door Elevations		0.05				1		Select All
	Doors		0.05				1		
	Dormers		0.05		1		1		Edit Selecte Delete Select Purge Unuse
	Dowel Bars		1				1		Delete Selecte
	DPC		0.05		1		1		
	DPC Elevations		0.2		1		V		Purge Unused
	Drain Run		0.5		1		1		Cont.
	Drainage		0.5		1		1		Fina
	Electrical		0.05		1		1		Use Alias
	Flevations		0.05				1		Use Group

Save Named View 🛛	3
View Name	
Finished Plans	
Save Print Options	
Scale	
O Scale To Fit	
O Actual Scale 1:50 ▼	
Options	
Centre On Page	
Monochrome with Colour Fill	
OK Cancel	

8. Locate the Layers called Drainage and Drain Runs.

You'll notice that each Layer has three associated tick boxes. The Light Bulb tick box controls whether the Layer appears on screen; the Padlock tick box controls whether the Layer is locked for editing; and the Printer tick box controls whether the Layer appears on printouts.

- 9. Ensure the Light Bulb and Printer tick boxes are ticked for the Drainage and Drains Run Layers. This will ensure the Drainage and Drain Run Layers are visible on screen and included in any printouts.
- 10. Ensure the Light Bulb and Printer tick boxes are unticked for the Dimensions Layer. This will ensure the Dimensions Layer does not appear on screen or in any printouts
- 11. Click OK.



You are returned to the page where the Drainage items should now be visible and the Dimensions should be hidden.

We can now save this particular selection of Layers in a Drainage View.

12. Save View Press the Save View button on the Views & 3D tab.

The Save View dialog box pops up.

- 13. Type Drainage into the View Name input box.
- 14. Click OK.

We now want to create a Layout which shows only the ground floor plan and associated drainage.

Under the Notes Picker tab, on the right-hand side of the screen, you'll see the Layout Explorer tab.

Save Named View	23
View Name	
Drainage	-
Save Print Optio	ons
Scale	
🔘 Scale To Fit	
Actual Scale	1:50 -
O Match Drawir	ng Scale
Options	
Centre On P	age
Monochrome	
Monochrome	e with Colour Fill
	DK Cancel

15. Remember you may need to click the Layout Explorer tab at the bottom to switch from viewing the Properties Explorer.

Layouts work a bit differently from Views. A Layout allows you to focus in on a selection of items – often, as the name suggests, a Layout. The key thing is that once you have created a Layout, you cannot edit any of the existing items on it, but you can add and edit new ones. A Layout exists in parallel to your original drawing – anything you add to it will only appear on the Layout, and not on the original drawing.

We need to select the ground floor and associated drainage so that we can use it in the new Drainage Layout.

- 16. Place your mouse to the bottom right of the house, outside the manholes.
 - P
- 17. U Hold down the left mouse button as you drag your cursor up and to the left.
- Once each item in the ground floor layout and drainage system is at least partly included in the dashed selection box, release the left mouse button.



20. Using the left mouse button, click on anywhere except the entity handles of each of the items you want to take out of the selection, including the Ground Floor Layout diagram title. Do not click on the entity handles as this will move the selection.









The items will no longer appear selected.

21. Once you're happy that you've only selected the items you want in the Drainage Layout, press the New Layout – button.



The new Layout is created and opened up.

22. Click with the left mouse button on Layout1 under Drawing in the Layout Explorer.

You can now rename the Layout.

- 23. Overtype the name with Drainage Layout.
- 24. Click the Enter key on your keyboard to register the new name.

Layout Explorer		ņ	x
Drawing]		

We can add labels to the diagram as desired now. Let's start by adding a diagram title.

Edit Text



25. Text Press the Text button (Drawing & Annotation tab).

The Edit Text dialog	box pops up.
----------------------	--------------

- 26. Type Drainage Layout into the text area.
- 27. Click OK.

Drainage Layout			
			-
Insert Special Character	Insert Drawing Property		
	Inscrebrawing Property		
Ø ± ° 2 3 1/4 1/2 3/4 © ®	Select Property		*
Check Spelling		ОК	Cancel
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

28. Overtype the Height input box on the Properties toolbar at the top of the screen with 300.

This will edit the size of the text.

A Arial	•	BI	300
	Font		Height

x

The Command Window prompts: Place Text.

- 29. Place your cursor above the house plan.
- 30.
- \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to place the title.
- 31. Click the right mouse button to add more labels.

The Edit Text dialog box pops up.

- 32. Enter Scale 1:100 to show the scale of the printout.
- 33. Click OK.

Insert Drawing Property	
Select Property	Т
	Insert Drawing Property

The Command Window prompts: Give Text Point

- 34. Click the left mouse button to place the scale label near the diagram title.
- 35. Continue in this way to place any additional labels you require.

36. Go to the File menu (top left corner of PlansXpress® window) and click Print > Printer Settings.

Once you're happy with the drainage layout, you can print the document.

3	🗁 🔡 🍕 👌	6 () 🕻	7 6
I				
	New	۲	Ē	Print
	Open			Print Preview
	Save	۲		Printer Settings
8	Close Drawing			
0	<u>D</u> rawing Properties			
E	<u>I</u> mport	۲		
	<u>E</u> xport	•		
	Print	۲		
×	E <u>x</u> it			
	About PlansXpress			

Printer	CutePDF Writer	Casla				
Size:	A4 -	Scale				
Source:	Automatically Select	Match Drawing Scale				
Orientation O Portrai C Landsc	t e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e	Options Centre On Page Monochrome Monochrome with Colour Fill Line Thickness				
Margins Left 0 Right 0 Top 0 Bottom 0						

You're now ready to print the document.

The Print Options dialog box pops up.

- 37. Set the Left, Right, Top and Bottom Margins to 0.
- 38. Click Actual Scale and select 1:100 from the dropdown menu.
- 39. Click Centre on Page.
- 40. Click OK.

A dialog box may pop up informing you that the margins are outside the printable area and giving you the option to increase the margins to an appropriate size. If this dialog box pops up, click Yes.

	New 🕨	Print
	Open	Print Preview
	Save 🕨	Printer Settings
8	Close Drawing	
0	<u>D</u> rawing Properties	
EE¢	Import •	
EE	Export •	
	Print •	
×	E <u>x</u> it	
	About PlansXpress	

41. Click on the File menu at the top left of the screen and go to Print > Print Preview.

PlansXpress® now generates a Print Preview of the document.



Further information on printing can be found on the HBXL website, www.hbxl.co.uk.

CREATING AN ESTIMATE IN ESTIMATORXPRESS® BASED ON A PLANSXPRESS® DRAWING



Once your drawings are complete and you've saved the final version, you can import the **PlansXpress®** drawing into EstimatorXpress® in order to create an Estimate based on the dimensional data within the drawing.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

import a PlansXpress[®] drawing into EstimatorXpress[®] to estimate the Job.



 Launch EstimatorXpress[®] by either double clicking on the EstimatorXpress[®] icon or going to Start, All Programs, HBXL, EstimatorXpress v.8 and clicking on the EstimatorXpress icon (later versions of the software may be in a different location).



2. From the Main Menu, press the My Estimates button.



3.

Estimate From within My Jobs, press the New Estimate button.

The New Estimate Wizard pops up.

Estimate Wizard - Step 1 of 9	
	4. Enter a Job Name of Mr Oliver.
Enter a name for your new Estimate and enter or select a Job Description.	5 Select a Job Description of 5 Bedroomed
Job Name: Mr Oliver	House.
Job Description: <u>5 Bedroomed House</u>	
The Job Name and Job Description appear on the Customer Quote but do not affect the content of the Estimate.	6. Press the Import button.
Import from PlansXpress™ drawing: C:\Users\john.rees\Documents\Mr Oliver 5 Bedroom House.pxd	 Locate the PlansXpress[®] file called "Mr Oliver 5 Bedroom House.pxd" and click on
43	lt.
	8. Click OK.
	The file path appears in the New Estimate Wizard, along with a thumbnail showing the drawing, to ensure you've selected the correct drawing.
∑ancel ତ Back ⊙ Next	9. Click Next.

10. Work your way through the following pages of the New Estimate Wizard, selecting a Price Book and Specification as indicated by the instructions.



11. When prompted to select a Group of Workbooks, select the PlansXpress Import option. The PlansXpress Import Group of Workbooks contains a number of Workbooks for items which do not feature in the PlansXpress drawing, but which you may wish to estimate – such as site preliminaries, subcontract quotations and plant. You may like to add extra Workbooks to the list for any non-estimated items on your drawing - such as kitchen fittings.

12. Work your way through the remaining pages of the New Estimate Wizard, and once you're happy with the options you've selected on page 9, click Finish.

EstimatorXpress[®] creates a Job based on the dimensional data from within the **PlansXpress**[®] drawing.

A dialog box pops up alerting you to any Workbooks which require items to be defined, such as drainage plant. This dialog box will also inform you if there are any items which can't be imported into the estimate – for example if you've drawn plumbing items in **PlansXpress**[®] but don't have **EstimatorXpress**[®] **Plumbing & Heating edition**. You are also advised to review any Workbooks which **EstimatorXpress**[®] has made automatic corrections to. If, for example, you have entered a letter into a number input box, **EstimatorXpress**[®] will automatically revert the data to its default setting. You may wish to revisit and amend this information. You are also prompted to review the Specification if you haven't already done so.

13. Follow the onscreen instructions to complete your Estimate import.

See the EstimatorXpress® Getting Started Guide for more information on estimating using EstimatorXpress®.

IMPORTING TECHNICAL NOTES INTO PLANSXPRESS® FROM ESTIMATORXPRESS®



Once you've completed your Estimate, including any additional Workbooks which weren't included in the drawing, you can import the technical data from **EstimatorXpress**[®] into **PlansXpress**[®].

During this exercise you will learn how to:

- generate technical notes based on a Job in EstimatorXpress[®],
- import technical notes into PlansXpress[®].



- Launch EstimatorXpress[®] by either double clicking on the EstimatorXpress[®] icon or going to Start, All Programs, HBXL, EstimatorXpress8 and clicking on the EstimatorXpress icon (later versions of the software may be in a different location).
- 2. Open the Mr Oliver Estimate from the My Jobs screen.
- 3. From within the Mr Oliver Estimate, click on the Reports tab.
- 4. Click on the Word Printouts dropdown button and click Notes Wizard.



The Notes Wizard dialog box pops up. From within the Notes Wizard, you can control the level of detail which appears in the drawing notes. The preview window at the top of the dialog box shows you an example of how the notes will appear with the current options selected.

Include with Notes		
	5.	Click Drawing Import Only.
	6.	Review the remaining options
C Word Document and Drawing Import C Word Document Only C Drawing Import Only	7.	Once you're happy with the options, click Create Notes.
Specification Notes Profile: PlansXpress™ House Notes 💌		

- 8. If it isn't already open, launch PlansXpress[®] by either double clicking on the PlansXpress[®] icon or going to Start, All Programs, HBXL, PlansXpress and clicking on the PlansXpress icon.
- 9. Open the Mr Oliver 5 Bedroom House drawing.
- 10. Go to the Drawing & Annotation tab and click Specification Notes.

The Edit Text dialog box pops up, containing the notes you've exported from the estimate.

Edit	Text			23
	k E			*
	Drag and drop paragraph in	to te	xt editing area	
	Text >> DoorsAll cavities to be Front Door>>>Fron PVCu 1800 Patio Doors Typical Panel Doors> DrainsNew foul and st Drain Runs>>>Drai	4	Doors All cavities to be closed around openings with proprietary insulated cavity closers incorporating DPC or blockwork & insulated DPC. Lintels to specialist design to have minimum 150mm end bearings with stop ends and are to be factory insulated. Weep holes above openings at maximum 450mm centres, minimum of 2 per opening.	-
	Insert Drawing Property Select Property		Check Spelling OK Cance	a .:

You are returned to your drawing page where you can now place the Notes.



- 11. Click on a line in the Text Window to preview the paragraph in the Preview Pane.
- 12. Drag the paragraphs you want to add to your drawings from the Text Window into the Edit Text Window, where you can edit them as desired.
- 13. Once you're happy with the notes you've selected to appear on the drawing, click OK.

PlansXpress® Tutorial





The Command Window prompts: Give First Point.

- 14. Hold your mouse towards the top left corner of the Notes area.
 - •

15. Click the left mouse button to register the first point of the rectangle in which the Notes will appear.

The Command Window prompts: Give Second Point.

- 16. Move your mouse towards the bottom right of the Notes area.
 - .

17. Click the left mouse button to register the second point of the rectangle in which the notes will appear.

Your Notes will appear on screen in the Notes Block.

You may need to make the text smaller to fit the Notes into the Notes block. Click on the text to select it and enter a lower number into the Height input box on the Properties toolbar to shrink the notes.

Please be aware that all automatically generated notes are for guidance only and must not be relied upon without detailed review and adaptation for your specific projects. The Company does not warrant, guarantee or make any representations regarding the use, or the result of use, of the notes in terms of correctness, accuracy, reliability, currentness or otherwise.



Press the Save button.

For further information on importing technical notes from **EstimatorXpress®** visit the HBXL website at **www.hbxl.co.uk**.

CREATING A 3D VISUALISATION OF THE PLANS



This section of the Tutorial talks you through creating and viewing a 3D visualisation of your plans.

Please note this feature is only available in PlansXpress® Total Toolkit edition. To upgrade to PlansXpress® Total Toolkit edition, call the HBXL Sales Team on 0845 1234 065.

During this exercise you will learn how to:

launch the PlansXpress 3D viewer;



At the end of this exercise, you will have created a 3D visualisation of the plans which looks like this:

In preparation for creating the 3D visualisation, let's ensure all the Layers (except the drainage and dimension) Layers are visible on screen.



4. Layers Press the Layer button on the Views & 3D tab.

The Layers dialog box pops up.

- 5. Work your way down the list, switching on all the Layers except the Drainage, Drain Run and Dimensions Layers. Ensure the Roof, Floor and Ceiling Layers are switched on by ticking the respective Light bulb tick boxes.
- Hide the Dimensions Layer from screen by unticking the adjacent Light bulb tick box.
- 7. Once complete, click OK.

					-	0	_	
Name 🔺	Alias	Colour	Style	2 9 2	1	۲		Add
Roof		0.4						
Roof - End		0.05						Select All
Roof - Hip		0.05						
Roof - Ridge		0.05						Edit Selected
Roof - Side		0.05						Delete Selected
Roof - Valley		0.05						
Roof Accessories		0.05						Purge Unused
Roof Elevations		0.2				1		
Roof Hatching		0.05				1		Find
Roof Structure		0.4						Vuse Alias
Sanitaryware		0.05		1		1	-	Use Groups
rrant lavar								
nene bayer								
Current Laver Text Set Current								

After a few seconds, all the roof Layers will be visible on screen and the dimensions will be hidden.

You need to move the first floor plan away from the ground floor plan so that there is plenty of space around each plan. This is an important step, as when you set out Viewpoints of the exterior of the house, if the Viewpoints are close to the building, you will only be able to see a small amount of the elevations.

Let's turn off the hatching so that the screen refreshes quickly when moving the plans.

8. On the Show/Hide panel on the Views & 3D tab untick Hatching.



The plans and elevations are shown without hatching.

9. Click 3D Preview on the 3D panel on the Views & 3D tab



10. The 3D View should appear on the right side of the screen where the Notes Picker was. You can switch to and from the Notes Picker by using the tabs at the bottom.

Hold the left mouse button down whilst you resize the screen to a good size for viewing the 3D model.



11. Click and drag the 3D View window so it appears in front of the plan.



12. You can make the window bigger by clicking and dragging the corners of the window.







13. U To rotate around the drawing hold down the left mouse button and move the cursor through the centre of the screen, or point of rotation. Moving you mouse from left to right, or right to left along the x-axis will rotate around the model, and along the y-axis from top to bottom or bottom to top will spin it vertically.





14. To zoom in or out from the centre of rotation use the scroll wheel on your mouse. Scrolling up will zoom in and scrolling down will zoom out.

15. Holding down the middle mouse button and move the mouse to move the your point of view up, down, left and right.



16. You can use the small dropdown box in the top right corner of the 3D View window to change the way the preview is displayed.



пх



17. If you click the Orthographic button the 3D View will be displayed without perspective.



- 18. Click the Reset View button 🗾 to restore the 3D view window to its original viewpoint.
- 19. Click the Save Image button it to save the current view as a .jpg image.

As you can see the 3D view is already setup with an appropriate colour scheme and set of textures. However you can if required change the colours and textures used.



20. Click the Textures button on the 3D panel (Views & 3D tab)

The Texture window box pops up.

From the Texture window you can set up colours and textures for the different elements of the 3D visualisation of the house. If you click an item from the 'Object' Window on the left hand side of the dialog box, you'll see that there are options for the 'Sub Object' of the Frame, the Glass and the Furniture. This means you can set up a different textures or colours for the Glass and the Frame of the Window.

- 21. Tick Walls in the Object panel.
- 22. Tick External in the Sub Object panel.
- 23. Tick Apply Texture if it isn't already selected.
- 24. Double click on the texture preview box (the box showing the currently selected texture).

Tex	xture 83							
	Architectural Objects	Symbol L	ayers.					
	Object O Walls		Sub Object O Apply Texture					
					Textures\BRICKS\BRICK.JPG Select File X Size : 1500			
	O Doors		O External		Clear File Y Size : 1000			
	O Windows				O Apply Colour			
	O Stairs		O Internal		Red : 160 Green : 82			
					Blue : 45			
	O Floors				Glass Setting Transparency : 0 %			
ļ								
	OK Cancel							

The Select Image window pops up.



25. Locate and double click on the brick texture called ETRUSCAN_RED.GIF.

Apply Texture

Select File

Clear File

Blue

Glass Setting

Apply Colour

Textures\BRICKS\ETRUSCAN_RED.GIF

160

Transparency :

X Size : 450

Y Size : 450

0 % Cancel

OK

You're returned to the Texture window where the brick you selected is now assigned as the texture for the External-Outer Walls.

Texture

Object

Walls

O Doors

🔘 Windows

Stairs

🔘 Roof

Texture

Architectural Objects Symbol Layers

Sub Object

O External

Internal

26. Set the X and Y size to 450.

Let's change the colour of the Window Frames.

- 27. Tick Windows in the Object panel.
- 28. Tick Frame in the Sub Object panel.
- 29. Double click the colour preview box

Architectural Objects Symbol Layers

The Colour dialog box pops up. You can either select a colour from the Basic Colours or mix your own using the Custom Colours.

- 30. Click a colour from the Basic Colours.
- 31. Click OK.
- 32. Working your way through the other Objects set up textures and colours for the remaining elements of the house.



Object	Sub Object	C Apply Texture						
🔘 Walls	O Frame	Select File X Size : 1000						
O Doors		Clear File Y Size : 1000						
	Glass	Apply Colour Red : 255						
O Stairs		Green : 255 Blue : 255						
O Roof	O Furniture	Glass Setting Transparency : 0 %						
OK Cancel								

PlansXpress® Tutorial

33. Once you're happy with the textures and colours click OK.



34. Click 3D Preview again to view the new textures and colours.



Depending on your computers graphics card the navigation speed around the drawing may be affected. It can be quite sensitive on faster computers but with a few minutes practice you will get the hang of navigating around the model to view the entire visualisation.

You may also wish to turn on the 3D viewer as you're designing each floor layout so that you can get a different perspective on your designs.

LOFT TUTORIAL

Before you begin this Tutorial, ensure you have completed the House Tutorial and are confident using **PlansXpress**[®]. The Loft Tutorial guides you through drafting a loft conversion, ready to estimate, using the house you have just completed in the House Tutorial, Mr Oliver 5 Bedroom House, as a starting point. The Loft Tutorial assumes that the conversion is taking place to an existing house and does not estimate the fabric of the house itself.

Please note that the Architectural tools for drafting lofts are only available in PlansXpress[®] Total Toolkit edition. To upgrade to PlansXpress[®] Total Toolkit edition, call the HBXL Support Team on 0845 1234 085.

During the Tutorial you will work through sections which will teach you how to:

- Create a loft layout view
- Form the opening
- Draw dormers
- Place upstand walls
- Mark out a collared ceiling
- Mark out sloping ceilings
- Draw attic stud walls
- Place internal doors
- Place roof windows
- Mark out a loft floor
- Develop a loft section
- Apply plaster and decoration to an existing wall

You will also revise how to:

- Add bathroom fittings
- Add labels and dimension lines
- Create elevation views
- Print plans

The time required to complete each section is indicated by this symbol at the start of each chapter:

The whole Loft Tutorial should take around 2 hours to complete from start to finish.

When working through the Tutorial, we recommend that once you start a particular section, you continue until it is complete. At the end of each section, you are reminded to save the document, and you can then exit **PlansXpress**[®] and come back to the Tutorial at a later date.

Please note, the aim of this Tutorial is to teach you how to draft plans and elevations with **PlansXpress**[®]. Throughout the Tutorial, the Dimensions Wizards will not be discussed in detail as most of the information they request is required by **EstimatorXpress**[®] for estimating purposes. The dimensions required to draft the plans are highlighted in yellow for easy identification. For full instructions on how to use **EstimatorXpress**[®], and the Dimensions Wizards, please consult the **EstimatorXpress**[®] Getting Started Guide.

For guidance on estimating the loft after completing the plans, refer back to the chapter called Creating an Estimate in EstimatorXpress® based on a PlansXpress® Drawing on page 198.





Diagram I: Loft Layout



Diagram J: First Floor Layout






Diagram L: Attic Suspended Floor Layout

CREATING THE LOFT PLAN

15 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial talks you through creating a loft layout from plans of an existing house.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

- set items on a drawing to be non-estimated;
- copy a first floor plan to make a loft plan.

You will also revise how to:

- unlock Layers to edit them;
- show and hide Layers on screen;
- use Construction Lines;
- insert staircases;
- insert arrows;
- insert text.

You will need to refer to Diagrams H, I and J, which can be found on pages 214 to 226, during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:



First of all, we'll create a new drawing to use to draft the loft conversion. We'll use the plans from the original drawing as a basis for the loft drawing.



Note: If you were designing a loft conversion and only had a hard copy of the original house plans, you could use **ScanPack** to scan them onto your computer, import them into **PlansXpress®** using the Import Image button, and trace over them using the Architectural tools. For more information about **ScanPack**, call our **Sales Team** on **0845 1234 065**.

Save As

Coo ▼ → Libraries → Documents →

- 1. If it's not already open, locate and open Mr Oliver 5 Bedroom House.pxd.
- 2. Go to the File tab and click Save > Save As.



Organize 🕶 0 Documents library - Favoriter E Desktop Download E Recent Pla acal-0.0 4/03/2011 16-4 🚞 Librarie Docum A Music Video: Local Disk (C:) 😪 john.rees (\\hbxl-File name: Mr Oliver Loft Cor ve as type: PlansXpress Drawing (".pxd Save Cancel Hide Folder

The Save As dialog box pops up.

- 3. Type Mr Oliver Loft Conversion into the File Name input box.
- 4. Click Save.

We've now created a separate document which we can edit without affecting the original house plans.

Let's start by deleting the elevation views of the house. The side elevation will be different once we've converted the loft and the front elevation won't be required. We'll need to select the elevation Layers in order to delete them.

- 5. Move your cursor above and to the left of the front elevation of the house.
- Click and hold down the left mouse button.
- Move your cursor down and to the right until the front and side elevations are encompassed by the selection box.
- 8. Release the left mouse button.

Everything within the selection box now appears selected.



Co to the Modify & Selection tab and click Delete (alternatively, press the Del/Delete key on your keyboard).

The elevations have now been removed.

The Notes are no longer required, so we'll delete them too.



The Notes have now been removed.



The plans will be a little clearer without the dimension lines, so we'll remove them by switching off the Dimension Lines Layer. We also need to switch on the Roof Layer, so that we can copy it onto the loft layout we're about to create, and the Floor Layers, so we're ready to draw the loft floor.



- 11. Layers Click the Layers button (found on the Views & 3D tab).
- 12. Click Select All to select all of the Layers.
- 13. Click Edit Selected.
- 14. Click the **Visible** tick box until it shows a tick.
- 15. Click **OK**. All layers are now set to visible.

ayer		23
Properties		
Name :	*Varies*]
Alias :	*Varies*	
Colour :	Style :	
	▼	
Visible	Plot Locked	
		51
	OK Cancel	

- 16. Scroll down to the Dimensions Layer and click on it to deselect all the other Layers.
- 17. Switch off the Dimensions Layer by unticking the adjacent Light bulb tick box.

ers	i								:
La	yers								
	Name 🔺	Alias	Colour	Style	÷.	2	۵		Add
	Demolition		0.05		1		1		
	Desk		0.05		1		1		Select All
I	Dimensions		0.05				V		
	Door Elevations		0.05		1		1		Edit Selected
	Doors		0.05		1		1		Delete Selected
	Dormers		0.05		1		1		
	Dowel Bars		1		1		1		Purge Unused
	DPC		0.05		1		1		Find
	DPC Elevations		0.2		1		1		Find
	Drain Run		0.5		\checkmark		\checkmark		Use Alias
	Drainage		0.5		\checkmark		\checkmark	-	Use Groups
Current Layer Current Layer Current Layer Set Current Set Current									
								ОК	Cancel

18. Once complete, click OK.

You're returned to the drawing page where the dimension lines are hidden and the roof is visible.

19. At the moment, the walls, roof, windows, doors, stairs and fittings in the existing house are still estimated items, which means that they will be estimated when the job is imported into EstimatorXpress®. Because we don't want to estimate the fabric of the original house, just the conversion of the loft, we need to set these items to be non-estimated.

20. Select the ground floor and first floor layouts in the same way as you selected the elevation views, by holding down the left mouse button and dragging the selection box around the plans.



We can now set the selected items to be non-estimated.

ant to set the current selection of items to be non-estimated?

No

Yes



nated Go to the Modify & Selection tab and click Set Selection as Non Estimated.

A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to set the selection as non-estimated.

22. Click Yes.

We now need to add a new staircase, which will be an estimated item, to the first floor plan. We need to delete the existing staircase symbol, which shows the flight of stairs from the ground floor to the first floor, but first we'll add some Construction Lines which will help us place the new staircase.

PlansXpress

Before replacing the staircase we need to hide some of the detail that is shown over the top & around the staircase.



1.

- 23. Layers Press the Layers button (found on the Views & 3D tab).
- 24. Click Select All to select all of the Layers.
- 25. Click Edit Selected.
- 26. Click the Visible tick box until it shows a tick.

Click OK. All layers are now set to visible.

- 27. Untick the Light bulb tick box adjacent to the Binders, Ceiling, Drain Run, Drainage, Floor, Floor Structure and Purlins Layers.
- 28. Once complete, click **OK** then **OK** again to close the Layers window.
- 29. Vertical Press the Vertical Construction Line button. (Drawing & Annotation tab)

The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

30. Hold your cursor over top riser line of the staircase until a 'Near' in the staircase u

P	Note: If the 'Near' snap point doesn't appear, switch on Nearest
snap l	by pressing the Nearest snap button (located at the top right
corne	r of the screen)

31. \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to place the Construction Line.

Layer		23
Properties		
Name :	*Varies*	
Alias :	*Varies*	
Colour :	Style :	
	-	
✓ Visible	Plot	Locked
	0	K Cancel





Horizontal 32. Press the Horizontal Construction Line button (Drawing & Annotation tab).

The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

- 33. Hold your cursor in the middle of the one of the riser lines until the 'Mid' A snap point appears.
- 34
 - Click the left mouse button to place the Construction Line.



Click the right mouse button to finish drawing construction lines.

Now the staircase can be deleted.

36. Move your cursor above and to the left of the staircase.



Click and hold down the left mouse button.

- Move your mouse down and to the right until the 38. staircase encompassed by the selection box.
- 39. Release the left mouse button.
- Ensure that no objects other than the staircase, DOWN label and arrow are selected. 40.
- Del Press the Delete key on your keyboard. 41.

We can now place the staircase up to the loft, which as you can see from Diagram J, on page 216, is a straight flight of stairs.



Press the Stairs dropdown arrow on the Architectural tab.





- 43. Click on the Staircase type called Straight Flight of Stairs.
- 44. Click on the dimensional template called 15 risers staircase wall one side.

The Straight Flight of Stairs Dimensions Wizard pops up. Remember, the yellow boxes highlight the dimensions which affect how the staircase is drawn on screen.





Enter Dimensions Page 5 of 5 Decorating specification	•
DECORATION TO PLASTERING	5 JIII JIII JIII JIII JIII JIII JIII JI
Is plaster to be painted? (Y/N)	M
Number of hours to decorate plaster (Hours)	1.000
DECORATION TO STAIRS AND HANDRAI	AILS FTC.
Quantity of undercoat required (Litres) (No.)	1.000
Quantity oftop coatrequired (Litres)(No.)	2.000
Number of hours to prime staircase (Hours)	4.000
Number of hours to undercoat staircase (Hours)	rs) 4.000
Number of hours to top coat staircase (Hours)	4.000
Options Show Tech Tip Show Tech Labels	Accept Defaults 🗙 Cancel 💿 Back 💿 Finish

- 42. Enter a Floor to floor height of 2.525.
- 43. Review the remaining Staircase details and click Next.

- 44. Set the Width of handrail to side 1 and 2 to 0, as we don't want to show handrails in the plan.
- 45. Review the remaining Handrail details and click Next.
- Click through the remaining pages of the Dimensions Wizard, checking you're happy with the dimensions and options.

47. Once you're happy with the information entered into the final page, click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Give top point for landing

- Hold your cursor over the point where the horizontal and vertical Construction Lines intersect until the 'Int'× snap point appears.
 - ٠
- 49. Ulick the left mouse button to position the top of the staircase.

The Command Window prompts: Give control point for bottom of staircase

- 50. Hold your mouse over the horizontal Construction Line to the right of where you placed the top of the staircase until the 'Near' in snap point appears.
- 51. Click the left mouse button to finish placing the staircase.

Land	ding	
	Near	
Land	ding	/

Using the Construction Lines ensures that the staircase is placed square. The Construction Lines can now be deleted.



52. Delete Press the Delete Construction Lines button. (Drawing & Annotation tab)

A dialog box pops up asking if you're sure you want to delete all the construction lines.



53. Click Yes.

Let's complete the staircase by adding an UP arrow, to demonstrate that the plans show the new staircase up to the loft.

54. Click the Arrows dropdown and then Leader Arrow. (Drawing & Annotation tab)

1	Arrows 👻					
1	🖌 Leader Arro <u>w</u>					
Double Ended Arrow						

55. Type 200 into the Terminator Length box on the top menu. This increases the size of the arrowhead.

	Architectural	Drawing & Annotation	Non-Estimated Symbols	s Modify & Selectio	on Views & 30) Set	ttings
A Arial	*	Height 150 Prefix	Сору Ø	Line Line	e Offset	60	
0.0)5 🔹	Overri	de Copy °	Line	e Extension	60	
-> Arrov	N -	Offset 40 Suffix	Copy ±	✓ 2nd Leader Ter	rminator Length	200	0.01 -
			Dimensio	n			

The Command Window prompts: Give ArrowPoint. The Start Point is the arrowhead end of the arrow.

56. Hold the cursor towards the top of the staircase in the centre of a riser line until you locate a 'Mid' A snap point.



Click the left mouse button to register the arrow 57 Start Point.

The Command Window prompts: Give End Point.

- 58. Move your cursor towards the bottom of the staircase and locate a 'Mid' snap point on one of the lines.
- 59. Once you're happy with the length of the arrow, click the left mouse button to register the arrow end point.
- Click the right mouse button to indicate that 60. you've finished drawing the arrow.





Landing

Now let's add an UP label to show that the arrow is going up the stairs.

Α

Click OK.

61. Click the Text button on the Drawing & Annotation tab.



PlansXpress® Tutorial

228 Tutorial Creating the Loft Plan

You are returned to the drawing page where your cursor controls the position of the text.

The Command Window prompts: Give Text Point

- 63. Type 150 into the text height box.
- 64. Move your cursor to the arrowhead end of the arrow.
- 65. Click the left mouse button to place the UP label.

We have now finished drawing the staircase, which is automatically drawn as an estimated item. You can check that the staircase is estimated by hovering your cursor over it. An information box pops up, indicating, among other things, whether the staircase is an estimated item.

Let's now create the loft layout itself. We want to place the loft plan where the ground floor layout is currently placed. The ground floor plan is only needed to create elevation views, so we'll move it off the drawing page. Firstly we need to turn on the layers that we switched off so that everything gets moved together.



All layers are now set to visible.

Layer		23
Properties		
Name :	*Varies*	
Alias :	*Varies*	
Colour :	Style :	
	•	
Visible	🗆 Plot	ocked
	OK	Cancel



Landing



- 71. Select the whole ground floor layout by holding down the left mouse button and dragging the selection box around the layout from bottom left to top right.
- 72. **Ctrl** Hold down the Ctrl key and click on any items that have not been selected by the group selection such as the bottom line of the drain runs.
- 73. Click the middle mouse button.

A menu pops up.

74. Click Move Selection.

The Command Window prompts: Give Reference point.



Modify

2

å.

Å

пÓ

Flip Wall Side

Move Selection

Copy Selection

Mirror Selection

Rotate Selection

Info

77. Click the left mouse button to reposition the ground floor layout.

Now we're ready to copy the first floor layout to create the loft layout.

78. Click on the first floor level boundary to select the level. 1 Click your middle mouse button. Click Copy Selection. à Modify Info Move Selection ஃ Copy Selection Mirror Selection æ r the second sec Rotate Selection

The Command Window prompts: Give Reference Point :

Hold your mouse over the bottom left corner of the first floor layout until you find the 'End' - snap point.



79.

80.

A menu pops up.

Click the left mouse button to register the reference point.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point To Copy To.



Hold down the Shift key.

- 83. Move your cursor up the screen until the copied layout sits neatly in the space above the original layout.
- Click the left mouse button to place the copied 84. layout.



The Copy Plan Options dialog box pops up.

Copy Plan Options

Level

Base Height : 4875

Wall Height : 0

Level No: 3

_

Select Items to Copy

✓ External Wall

Doors

Wall Height :

Remove

Foundations & Footings

0

Windows
 Øpenings

+

Internal Wall

Wall Height :

Remove

Footings

Cancel

OK

85. Set the **Base Height** to 4875 (the height of the ground floor plus the first floor) and the **Wall Height** to 0.

The level settings are used for elevations and 3D views.

- 86. We don't want to copy the internal walls to our loft plan so untick the Internal Walls tick box. All the associated Doors, Windows and Openings will also be removed.
- 87. We want to copy the External Walls, so leave the External Walls tick box ticked. However, we don't want to copy the first floor windows, so untick the associated Windows tick box.
- Enter a Wall Height of 0 as the loft layout doesn't require any external walls. This will ensure that the roof appears in the correct place on any elevations.
- 89. Click **OK**.

PlansXpress® takes a few moments to create the new loft layout, stripping out the internal walls and windows.

90. Delete any remaining items, such as floors labels and symbols (but not the staircase or roof)

We can edit the ground floor layout title to create the loft layout title.



First Floor Layout



The Edit Text dialog box pops up.

- 92. Edit the text to read Loft Layout.
- 93. Oclick **OK**.

Edit Text	83	3
Loft Layoud	*	
	~	
Insert Special Character Insert Drawing Property		
0 ± 2 1/4 1/2 9/4 0 0 Select Property	-	
Check Spelling OK Can	cel	

You may wish to reposition the label, by clicking on it and using the red entity handle to move it around the screen.



Let's now delete the lower tread from the staircase on the loft layout - it wouldn't be visible in the loft plan. If you hold your cursor over the staircase, the information box which pops up indicates that this copy of the staircase is not estimated. The copied version of the staircase is not estimated to avoid duplicating costs when importing the job into **EstimatorXpress**.



Olick to select the staircase and then click the Explode button on the Modify & Selection Tab.

- 95. To select the lines we want to delete, we'll draw the selection box from right to left all items which appear partly or entirely within the dashed selection box will be selected.
- 96. Move your cursor to the bottom right of the staircase.



7. abla Click and hold down the left mouse button.

- Move your cursor up and to the left until the selection box is over (but not encompassing!) the bottom tread.
- 99. Release the left mouse button.

The lines which make up the bottom stair are now selected.



Press the Delete key on your keyboard.



The final thing we need to do is delete the roof from the first floor plan, as it has now been copied to the loft plan. When creating elevations, the roof elevation will be taken from the loft plan, so is no longer required on the first floor plan.

101. Layers Press the Layers button (found on the Views & 3D tab).

The Layers dialog box pops up.

102. Click Select All.

103. Click Edit Selected.

Name	-	Allas	Colour	Style	×.	-	3		Add
15mm Copper Cold			0.15		1		1		
15mm Copper Hot			0.15		1		V		Select All
15mm Gas			0.15		V		V		Edit Colocted
22mm Copper Cold			0.15		V		V		Euroseecteu
22mm Copper Hot			0.15		1		X		Delete Selected
22mm Gas			0.15		1		1		
28mm Copper Cold			0.15		V		V		Purge Unused
28mm Copper Hot			0.15		7		1		
28mm Gas			0.15		V		V		Pino
Appliance			0.05		V		X		Vse Alias
Arrows			0.05		1		1	-	Use Groups
urrent Layer									



All layers are now locked

105. 😷 Click **OK**.

106. Scroll down the list until you get to the Roof Layer.

Lay	er		23
1p	Properties		
	Name :	*Varies*	
	Alias :	*Varies*	
	Colour :	Style :	_
		·	
	✓ Visible	Plot V Loc	ked
		ок	ancel

- 107. Untick the Lock tick box for the Roof Layers drawn with a red pen Roof, Roof End, Roof Hip, Roof Ridge, Roof Side and Roof- Valley.
- 108. Click OK.

All Layers except the Roof Layers are now locked down and can't be selected or edited.

109. Select the entire roof on the first floor plan by dragging your cursor around the roof.





110. Press the Delete key on your keyboard.

The roof from the loft floor plan will be used for elevations and the 3D view.



111. Layers Press the Layers button (Views & 3D tab).

The Layers dialog box pops up.

112. Click Select All.

113. Click Edit Selected.





115. Click OK & OK again to close the Layers dialog.

All of the Layers are unlocked once again.

Layer		23
Properties		
Name :	*Varies*	
Alias :	*Varies*	
Colour :	Style :	
	-	
Visible	Plot	Locked
	OK	Cancel

Once complete, your drawing page should now look like this:

116. 📕 Press the Save button.



FORMING THE LOFT OPENING



This section of the Tutorial talks you through estimating the forming of the opening into the loft.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

• form openings in existing floors.

You will also revise how to:

- place trimmers;
- hide Layers.

You will need to refer to Diagram L on page 218 during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:



- 1. Click the Renovation dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 2. \Box Click on the item called Opening in Existing Floor.
- 3. Select the dimensional template called Typical Opening.

The Opening in Existing Floor Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 4. Set the Thickness of floor to 0.2.
- 5. Click Next.

6. Review the details on the final page of the Dimensions Wizard, and once you're happy, click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

7. Hold your cursor over the 'End' snap point on the top left corner of the staircase, as you view it on screen.

End

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

- 9. Hold your cursor over the 'End' snap point on the top right corner of the staircase, as you view it on screen.
- 10. Click the left mouse button to place the next point on the opening.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point or (A)rc or (3) Point Arc

11. Hold your cursor over the 'End' snap point on the bottom right corner of the staircase, as you view it on screen.

Direction

Add 1

Cancel

Distance

Input Sizes

Free Input Distance

Brick Length

Brick Height

Less 1 🔘 Equal

OK

100

We're going to place the next point of the opening 100mm from the bottom of the staircase, as you view it on screen.

- 12. Press the R key on your keyboard.
- 13. Press the down arrow key on your keyboard.
- The Distance dialog box pops up.
- 14. Type 100 into the Free Input box.
- 15. Click OK.

The third point of the opening is placed 100mm below the bottom right corner of the staircase.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point or (A)rc or (3) Point Arc

- 16. Press the F7 key on your keyboard to turn Snap mode back on.
- 17. Hold your cursor over the End snap point on the bottom left corner of the staircase, as you view it on screen.

238 Tutorial Forming the Loft Opening

We're going to place the next point of the opening 100mm from the bottom left of the staircase, as you view it on screen.

- 19. Move your mouse down until \top 'Perp' appears.
- 20. Click the left mouse button to place the fourth point on the opening.
- 21. C Press the C key to complete the opening.
- A dialog box pops up asking if you want to place any trimmers.
- 22. Click Yes.

A trimmer is required either side of the staircase.

The floor trimmer Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 23. Ensure the Number of hangers to trimmers to upper floor is set to 0.
- 24. Click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

The trimmers bear onto the wall below, so we want to start them 100mm above the staircase as viewed on screen.

citer Dimensions Page 1 01 1	(I)
Location: Attor Floor 💌	
Number of hangers to trimmers (No.)	
SECTION THROUGH FLOORING	
Options Show Tech Tip Show Tech Labels	🗙 Cancel 🗢 Back 🗣 Finish 📐

25. Hold your cursor over the top left corner of the staircase (as you look at it on screen) until you find an 'End' □ or 'Int' × snap point.

27. Press the up arrow key on your keyboard.

The Distance dialog box pops up.

- 28. Type 100 into the Free Input box.
- 29. Click OK.

Distance	23		
Input Sizes			
Free Input			
Distance Direction	1		
100			
Brick Length No Brick	S		
Brick Height			
Mortar Options			
🔘 Less 1 🔘 Equal 🔘 Add	d 1		
OK Cancel			

30. \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to register the start of the trimmer.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

- 31. Hold your cursor over the cavity side of the internal leaf of the external wall to the front of the house until the 'Perp'⊥ snap point appears.
- 32. Click the left mouse button to register the end of the trimmer.
- 33. Click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**® you've finished drawing the trimmer.

A dialog box pops up asking if you want to place any more trimmers.

34. Click Yes, and repeat steps 25 to 33 to draw the second trimmer in the same place on the right-hand side of the staircase.

- 35. Once you've finished, the dialog box pops up asking if you want to place any more trimmers.
- 36. Click Yes, and place a final trimmer linking the two trimmers you have already placed at the bottom of the opening in the floor as you view it on screen.
- 37. When asked about placing any more trimmers, click No.
- 38. Your trimmers should now look like this:

Let's switch off the Opening in Floor and Floor Structure Layers so they don't get in the way.

- 39. Layers Press the Layers button (found on the Views & 3D tab).
- 40. The Layers dialog box pops up.
- 41. Locate the Floor Structure and untick the Light bulb and Printer tick boxes to hide the trimmers and remove them from any printouts.
- 42. Untick the Light bulb and Printer boxes for the Opening in Floor Layer.

ers									٤
L	ayers								
	Name 🔺	Alias	Colour	Style	ж.	â	8	-	Add
	Fixture		0.05		1		1		
	Floor		0.05		V		V		Select All
I	Floor Structure		0.5						Cabat 4.1
	Flooring		0.05		V		V		East Selected
	Flooring Sundries		0.05		1		1		Delete Selected
	Foundations		0.05		\checkmark		1		
	Heads and Cills		0.15		1		1		Purge Unused
	Insulation		0.7		V		V		
	Kitchen Furniture		0.05		V		V		Find
	Kitchen Plan		0.05		V		V		Vise Alias
	Kitchen Sink		0.05		V		1	Ŧ	Use Groups
C	urrent Layer								
Current Layer Opening in Floor Set Current									
								ок	Cancel

43. Click OK.

You're returned to the drawing page where the trimmers and opening are no longer visible on screen:

44. Press the Save button.

DRAWING THE DORMER

This section of the Tutorial talks you through adding a dormer to the loft plans. Dormers are made of up three parts - walls, windows and roofs - which must be drawn separately using the different Architectural tools.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

- place dormer walls;
- insert a window into a dormers;
- add a roof to a dormer.

You will also revise how to:

• show and hide Layers.

You will need to refer to Diagrams I and K, on pages 215 and 227, during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:

When drawing dormers, you must always start with the dormer walls. **PlansXpress**[®] uses the information you enter about the floor level and the height of the dormer to place the dormer walls at the correct point on the slope of the roof, so all you have to do is position the dormer horizontally along the roof. The dimensions you need to enter are shown on Diagram K on page 216.

🐮 🗅 🗁 🔛 🎿 🔺 🗅 🖾 🧐 🥙	PlansXpress	PlansXpress
Architectural Drawing & Annotation Non-Estimated Sys	nbols Modify & Selection Views & 3D Settings	kon-Estimated Symbols Modify & Selection Views & 3D Settings 🗢 🖾 🔍 🔍 🐨 🚱 🚱
External Internal Feature Walton	Taris Fooring Roofs Extend Attic Drainage External Works are Roof attic Roof Attic Drainage External Works are Roof and Attic Attic Support of Energy and Attic Supp	enrogs and Stairs Forong Stairs Forong Stairs Forong Add Attic Scanadad Landscapes - Trades
	Attic Supended Floor for Truss Roof Attic Supended Floor for Side Violds Attic Supended Floor for Side Violds Attic Supended Floor Accessories Upstand Walls for Cut Roof Upstand Walls for Truss Roof Attic Side Viold Wall Stoping Celling for Truss Roof Collared Celling for Truss Roof Collared Celling for Truss Roof Attic Side Wall Wall Dommes	Antic Suppreder Prior Truss Roof Antic Supervised Prior for Side Voids Antic Supervised Prior Accessories Antic Supervised Prior Accessories Upstand Walls for Truss Roof Antic Stude Void Wall Soping Ceiling for Cut Roof Soping Ceiling for Cut Roof Collered Ceiling for Truss Roof Antic Stude Wall Formas Roof Collered Ceiling for Truss Roof Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Formation Conservision Conservision Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Formation Conservision Conservision Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Formation Conservision Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Conservision Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Formation Antic Stude Wall Antic Stude W
	Roof Dormers	Roof Dormers Isad Dormer Walls Dormer for 1800 11200 window Roof Windows Isad Dormer Walls Dormer for 1800 11200 window Tiled Dormer Walls Dormer for 1800 11200 window Dormer for 1800 11200 window Dormer for 1800 11200 window Dormer for 1800 11200 window Dormer for 1800 11200 window Dormer for 1800 11200 window Dormer for 1800 11200 window Dormer for 080 11200 window Dormer for 080 11200 window Dormer for 080 11200 window Dormer for 080 11200 window Dormer for 080 11200 window Dormer for 080 11200 window

- 1. Press the Attic dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 2. Click on the category called Roof Dormers.
- 3. Click on the type called Clad Dormer Walls.
- 4. Select the dimensional template called Dormer for 1800 x 900 window

The Clad Dormer Walls Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- Set the Level of floor structure relative to wall plate to 0.2.
- Set the Height of dormer above floor level to 2.0.
- . Click Next.
- Set the Height of studding below window to 0.453.
- Review the remaining pages of the Dimensions Wizard, and once you're happy with the information you've entered, click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Select position for dormer centre

The dormer is locked in the Y axis, so all you have to do is place it in the X axis. We're going to measure 2m from the outside of the right wall of the house (as you look at the plans on screen) to place the dormer.

12. Hold your cursor over the outside of the wall until a 'Near' 🖂 snap point appears.

- 13. Press the R key to indicate that you're going to place the dormer relative to this point on the outside of the wall.
- 14. Press the left arrow key on your keyboard.

The Distance dialog box pops up.

- 15. Enter 2000 into the Distance input box.
- 16. Click OK.

Input Sizes	
Free Input	
Distance	Direction
2000	÷
O Brick Length	No Bricks
O Brick Height	0
O Less 1 O Ec	gual 🔘 Add 1

The dormer walls are automatically placed 2m in from the edge of the wall.

Now we can add the dormer window.

17. Press the Windows dropdown button on the Architectural tab.

- 18. Click on the category called PVCu Dormer Windows.
- 19. Click on the type called PVCU Windows 900 Deep for Dormer.
- 20. Select the dimensional template called 1800 x 900 PVCu Window.

The PVCu Windows 900 Deep for Dormer Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 21. Set the Height to the top of the window to 1.1 This measurement is from the bottom of the dormer walls to the top of the window.
- 22. Click Next.
- Review the remaining pages of the Dimensions Wizard, and once you're happy with the information you've entered on the final page, click Finish.

 You're now ready to place the window.

 The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall

 24. Move your cursor over the centre of the dormer front until the 'Mid' snap point appears.

 25. € Click the left mouse button to register the position

- of the dormer window.
- 26. Click the right mouse button to indicate that you've finished placing windows.

Finally, let's add the roof to the dormer.

There is a Workbook specially designed for small cut roofs - such as those used on dormers - with smaller timbers specified.

Press the dropdown arrow on the Roof menu.

- 27. Press the Roofs dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 28. Click on the Roof type called Small Cut Roof (Dormers, Bays etc.).
- 29. Select the dimensional template called Typical 30 degree Cut Roof.

The Small Cut Roof Dimensions Wizard pops up.

- 30. Set the Pitch of roof side 1 and side 2 to 30.
- 31. Ensure the Thickness of roof is set to 0.1.
- 32. Click Next, review the Roof Structural Information 1 and click Next again.

- 33. Set the Height of Bargeboards and Height of Fascia Boards to 0.15.
- 34. Review the remaining pages of the Dimensions Wizard, and once you're happy with the information you've entered, click Finish.

The Roof Type dialog box pops up.

- 35. Click on the Hipped Valley Roof Dormer picture in the dormer section to select it.
- 36. Click OK.

PlansXpress® is now ready to place the roof.

The Command Window prompts: Select any Wall which will Support the Roof.

37. Click anywhere on the dormer walls.

Select Roof Type **- X** Roof Options Choose the type of roof you want to draw. Dormer Boofs Apex Valley Roof O Apex Valley Roof with Barn Hip Hipped Valley Boof Bay Window Roof: Apex Roof Hisped Bor C Lean to Roof Roof Information Draw an Apex Valley Roof with Hipped End for a Dorme OK Cancel

The hipped dormer roof is drawn automatically.

nas for joists (both ends) (M) 0.200 N

1.150

🔿 Fini

y.

Y

🛞 Bai

to ceiling? (Y/N)

Accept Defaults 🗙 Cancel

r plastered? (Y/N)

to ceiling decorated? (Y/N)

A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to consider flat ceiling, purlins, binders and rain water pipes.

nsXpress	
Do you wish to consider the Flat Ceiling, Vaulted Ceiling, Purlins, Binders & Rain Water Pipes at this stage?	
Yes No	

38. We need to estimate the dormer ceiling, so click Yes.

A dialog box pops up asking if you want to place an area of flat ceiling.

39. Click Yes.

PlansXpres	s	
?	Do you want to place an area of flat ceiling?	
	Yes No	
nter Dimensions Page	10f1	(2)
Location: Seing	-	
	plastering decoration to ceilings	
	X45 crt2ss (P) 0.000	

PLAN VIEW OF ROO

Show Tech Tip Show Tech Lab

The Joists, insulation, plaster decoration to Ceilings Dimensions Wizard pops up.

40. Review the ceiling details and click Finish.

250 Tutorial Drawing the Dormer

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

- 41. Zoom into the dormer using the scroll wheel on your mouse.
- 42. \bigcirc Click on one interior corner of the dormer.

43. Mark out the perimeter of the ceiling by clicking on the three remaining interior corners of the dormer.

44. Once you've clicked on the fourth corner of the ceiling, press the C key on your keyboard to complete the ceiling.

A dialog box pops up asking if you want to place any more areas of flat ceiling.

45. Click No.

A dialog box pops up asking if you want to place an area of vaulted ceiling.

46. Click No.

A dialog box pops up asking if you want to place any purlins.

47. Click No.

A dialog box pops	up asking	if you want to
place any binders.		

48. Click No.

A dialog box pops up asking if you want to
place any rainwater pipes

49. Click No.

PlansXpres	SS				
?	Do you want to place an area of flat ceiling?				
	Yes No				

PlansXpress	
Do you want to place an area of vault	ed ceiling?

PlansXpre	35
?	Do you want to place any Purlins in this section of roof?
	Yes No

P	lansXpres	35
	?	Do you want to place any Binders in this section of roof?
		Yes No

PlansXpress
Do you want to place any Rain Water Pipes to this section of roof?
Ves No

Now the ceiling is complete, we can switch off the ceiling layer to keep the drawing uncluttered.

50. Layers Press the Layers button (found on the Views & 3D tab).

.ay	rers		1	1					
	Name 🔺	Alias	Colour	Style	÷.	Ē	2	-	Add
1	Brickwork details		0.05		1		1		
(Carpeting		0.05		1		1		Select All
(Cavity Fill		0.05		V				Edit Colorised
:	Ceiling		0.05						Edit Selected
(Centre		0.05		\checkmark		1		Delete Selected
1	Chimney		0.05		1		1		
1	Collared Ceiling		0.05		1		\checkmark		Purge Unused
(Concrete Edgings		0.7		1		1		End
(Constructions		0.05		1		\checkmark		Find
1	Decking		0.05		1		1		V Use Alias
1	Decking Balustrade		1		1		1	-	Use Groups
	rentlaver								
Inn	ent Layer Opening in Floor								Set Current

51. Untick the Light bulb tick box adjecent to the Ceiling Layer.

Click OK.

The dormer is now complete and should look like this:

PLACING THE UPSTAND WALLS

10 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial talks you through drawing the loft upstand walls with steels incorporated.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

- place upstands;
- resize and reposition upstands.

You will need to refer to Diagrams I and K, on pages 215 and 227, during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:



When drawing Attic upstands, **PlansXpress**[®] automatically works out where to place the wall based on the height of the upstand. The height of the upstand is entered in the Dimensions Wizard.

First, let's place the rear upstand.

	Architectural	Drawing & Annotation Non-Es	timated Symbols	Modify & Selection	Views & 3D	Settings						
			ferre.				0	lę, 🚺	11		🚖 Chimneys 🕞	
External	Internal Feature	Doors Windows Openings and	Stairs Flooring	Roofs Extend	Attic Drainage	External Works	Electrica	l Plumbing Plastering	Decoration	Renovation	Fire Stops 🔹	
Ť	→ Masonary → Walling	Openings	Stairs Flooring	Roofs and At	A Antia Suumana	and Landscaping *		Trades	~	Renovation	Miscellaneous	
					Attic Suspend	led Floor for Truce Po						
					Attic Suspend	led Floor for Truss Ko	or F					
					Attic Suspend	led Floor for Side Void	15					
				•	Attic side voi	as (using existing jois	⁽³⁾					
				1	Attic Suspend	led Floor Accessories	•					
					Upstand Wall	s for Cut Roof	· · 2	🖌 🛛 0.6m High, Plaste	ered and Insul	lated Upstand v	vith Steelwork	
					🖌 Upstand Wall	s for Truss Roof	+ 2	🖌 0.9m High, Plaste	ered and Insul	lated Upstand v	vith Steelwork	
					🚄 🛛 Attic Block W	all	· · / 2	🚹 1.2m High, Plaste	ered and Insul	lated Upstand v	vith Steelwork	
					🚄 Attic Stud Wa	11	· · /	🖌 0.6m High, Ply Fa	aced Both Sid	es, Plastered an	d Insulated Upstand	No Steelwork
					🖌 Sloping Ceilir	ig for Cut Roof	٠ ،	🖌 0.9m High, Ply Fa	aced Both Sid	es, Plastered an	d Insulated Upstand	No Steelwork
					🖌 Sloping Ceilir	g for Truss Roof	•	1.2m High, Ply Fa	aced Both Sid	es, Plastered an	d Insulated Upstand	No Steelwork
					🛆 Collared Ceili	na	F					
					Collared Ceili	ng for Truss Roof						
					Amis Channel							
				1	Attic snaped	waii rinisning	••••					
					Wall Dormers		- •					
					Roof Dormer:		•					
				1	Roof Window	s	- - -					

- 1. Press the Attic dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 2. Click on Upstand Walls for Cut Roof.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called 0.6m High, Plastered and Insulated Upstand with Steelwork.





- 4. Set the Internal height of supporting upstands to 0.6. This measurement is used to place the upstand.
- 5. Review the other Upstand timber details and click Next.

- 6. Set the Level of floor structure relative to top of wall plate to 0.2.
- 7. Click Next.
- 8. Review the depth of birdsmouth in rafter measurement and click Next.



nter Dimensions Page 5 of 5 Plastering, insulation and finishes	
Is upstand plastered? (Y/N)	
Is upstand decorated? (Y/N) Y	
Is upstand insulated? (Y/N) Y	
Is the upstand skirted? (Y/N) Y	
Is skirting board to be primed? (Y/N) Y	
Is skirting board to be decorated? (Y/N) Y	
	ELEVATION OF UPSTAND
Options Show Tech Tip Show Tech Labels	Accept Defaults 🗙 Cancel 💿 Back 💿 Finish

- 9. Enter Y to Do you wish to incorporate steel in or under the upstand?
- 10. Review the remaining Upstand steel details and click Next.

11. Once you're happy with the information you've entered on the final page of the Dimensions Wizard, click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Select roof eaves line.

12. Click on the eaves line of the main roof at the rear of the house.





PlansXpress[®] automatically draws the upstand, measuring from the roof line you selected.

You'll notice that the upstand wall currently runs through the dormer. We need the upstand to stop at either side of the dormer, as per diagram I (page 223). We also need the upstand to stop at the blockwork of the external walls, and not continue to the roof line, as it does at present.



The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend





The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to.

You'll notice as you move your mouse, the upstand is being resized according to the position of your cursor.

- 15. Place your cursor 'End' snap point on the corner of the left dormer wall.
 - Ph.
- 16. Click the left mouse button to reposition the end of the upstand.

17. Click the right mouse to repeat your last action (using the Trim/Extend tool)

The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend

18. Click on the left end of the upstand.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to

- Move your cursor to the right until it's hovering over the cavity side of the external wall blockwork and the 'Near' snap point appears.
- 20. Click the left mouse button to reposition the end of the upstand.

Vear



We need to add another small length of upstand for the other side of the dormer.

- Attic
- 21. Press the button at the top of the Attic menu, which is currently set to Upstand Walls for Cut Roof.
- 22. Click the Accept Defaults button, or review each page of the wizard and click Finish.

PlansXpress® is ready to draw another stretch of upstand wall with the same specification.



The Command Window prompts: Select roof eaves line.

23. Once again, click on the eaves line of the main roof at the rear of the house.

An upstand wall spanning the roof is placed automatically. We need to resize this upstand too.

24. **Trim/Extend** Press the Trim/Extend button on the Modify & Selection Tab.

The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend





The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to

- 26. Move your cursor to the left until it's hovering over the cavity side of the external wall blockwork and the 'Near' snap point appears.
- 27. Click the left mouse button to reposition the end of the upstand.



28. Click the right mouse button to repeat your last action and use the Trim/Extend tool once again.

The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend

29

 $igodoldsymbol{\Theta}$ Click on the left end of the upstand.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to

30. Place your cursor 'End' snap point on the corner of the right dormer wall.

А.

31. Click the left mouse button to reposition the end of the upstand.



260 Tutorial Placing the Upstand Walls

The upstand to the rear of the loft is now complete. Let's now add the upstand walls to the front of the loft. The front upstand spans the length of the roof.

- 32. Press the button at the top of the Attic menu, which is still set to Upstand Walls for Cut Roof.
- 33. Click the Accept Defaults button, or review each page of the wizard and click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Select roof eaves line.

34. Click on the eaves line of the main roof at the front of the house (in between the gables).



UP ------

c=================

You'll see that the upstand has been drawn the same length as the eaves line.

Note: In the case of an upstand wall which has a 90 degree turn into a valley, you can place the valley upstand by clicking on the eaves line of the valley. You can then join the main roof upstand and the valley roof upstand by selecting them both, clicking the middle mouse button and clicking Join Walls.



For now, we simply need to extend the upstand so it stretches from one side of the roof to the other.

🧬 Trim/Extend 35

Press the Trim/Extend button.

The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend

 7 Click on the right end of the front upstand. 36.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to

- 37. Move your cursor to the right until it's hovering over the 'Near' snap point on the cavity side of the external wall blockwork.
- ${\cal P}$ Click the left mouse button to reposition the end of 38 the upstand.
- Click the right mouse button to repeat the action 39. of trimming/extending.





The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend



40. \bigcirc Click on the left end of the front upstand.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to

- 41. Move your cursor to the right until it's hovering over the 'Near' ⊠ snap point on the cavity side of the external wall blockwork.
- 42. Click the left mouse button to reposition the end of the upstand.





Your loft plan should now look like this:

43. Press the Save button.

PLACING THE COLLARED CEILING



This section of the Tutorial talks you through placing the collared ceiling.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

- place collared ceilings;
- resize collared ceilings.

You will need to refer to Diagrams I and K, on pages 215 and 227, during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:



When drawing flat collared ceilings in attics, **PlansXpress**[®] automatically works out the width of the ceiling based on the ceiling height and the floor level. The height of the ceiling and floor level are entered in the Dimensions Wizard.



- 1. Press the Attic dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 2. Click on the item called Collared Ceiling.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Area of Collared Ceiling.



- 4. Set the Level of floor structure relative to top of wall plate to 0.2.
- 5. Set the Height of collared ceiling to 2.2.
- 6. Review the other collared ceiling details and click Next.

7. Once you're happy with the plastering, decoration and insulation details, click Finish.



Herp

The Command Window prompts: Select Roof Line.

Click on the apex roof ridge. 8.

PlansXpress® automatically draws the flat collared ceiling on the roof you select, however the collared ceiling is drawn to the edge of the roof at each end.

Click on the collared ceiling to select it. Use the top right blue entity handle which appears to reposition 9 the corner of the collared ceiling to the corresponding 'Perp' _____ snap point located on the inside of the blockwork.

10. Reposition the blue entity handles for the remaining three corners of the collared ceiling to move the collared ceiling into the correct position.



Once complete, your loft should look like this:

11. Press the Save button.

MARKING OUT THE SLOPING CEILING



This section of the Tutorial talks you through marking out the sloping ceiling areas of the loft.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

• mark out sloping ceilings.

You will need to refer to Diagram I, on page 215, during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:



Drawing sloping ceilings in lofts is a slightly more manual process than drawing collared ceilings. You simply mark out the perimeter of each area of sloping ceiling.

Archited	tural	Drawing 8	Annotation	n Non-Es	timated Sym	ools	Modify & S	election		/iews & 3D	Settings						
	3					I	R		A	-12-		•••	1ş.	1	11		🚖 Chimneys 👻
External Internal	Feature	Doors	Windows	Openings and	Stairs	Flooring	Roofs	Extend	Attic	Drainage	External Works	Electrical	Plumbing	Plastering	Decoration	Renovation	Fire Stops 🔹
Walling	4asonary ≠	*	Openir	Steelwork -	Stairs	Flooring	Roo	Root ofs and At	*	· ·	and Landscaping +	*	Ť	rades	*	Renovation	Miscellaneous
				-		-			4	Attic Suspens	ied Floor						
									4	attic Suspeni	ied Floor for Truss Ko	or 🕨					
									4	Attic Suspen	led Floor for Side Void	15					
									4	Attic side vo	as (using existing jois	G) 🖡					
									5	Attic Suspen	ied Floor Accessories	•					
									4	Jpstand Wal	s for Cut Roof	· ·					
									4	Jpstand Wal	s for Truss Roof	· ·					
									<i>e</i>	Attic Block W	all	· ·					
									4	Attic Stud Wa	ll	•					
									1	Sloping Ceilii	ng for Cut Roof	• 4	🔶 Area o	f Sloping C	eiling		
									4	Sloping Ceilii	ng for Truss Roof	- • ["					
									A	Collared Ceil	ng	•					
										Collared Ceil	ng for Truss Roof	- -					
									4	Attic Shaped	Wall Finishing	•					
									7	Wall Dormer		•					
									1	Roof Dormer	s						
										Roof Windov	/5	•					

- 1. Press the Attic dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 2. Click on the item called Sloping Ceiling for Cut Roof.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Area of Sloping Ceiling.



- 4. Set the Percentage overrun of rafters beyond supports to 50%.
- 5. Review the remaining timber details and click Next.

6. Once you're happy with the insulation, plastering and decoration details, click Finish.



We'll start by marking out the sloping ceiling to the rear of the loft.

7. Click on the rear eaves line of the roof.



The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point

 Hold your cursor over the point where the collared ceiling meets the external wall on the right-hand side of the loft and the 'End'
snap point appears.



9. Click the left mouse button to mark the top corner of the sloping ceiling.



The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point

10. Hold your cursor over the point where the collared ceiling meets the external wall on the left-hand side of the loft and locate the 'End' snap point.



11. U Click the left mouse button to mark the next corner of the sloping ceiling.



The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point or (A)rc or (T)hree Point Arc or (Escape) to End.

- 12. Hold your cursor over the internal corner where the rear upstand meets the external wall on the left-hand side of the loft and locate the 'End' snap point.
- Click the left mouse button to mark the next corner of the sloping ceiling.



The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point or (A)rc or (T)hree Point Arc or (Escape) to End.

- 14. Hold your cursor over the point where the rear upstand meets the left dormer wall and locate the 'End' Snap point.
- Click the left mouse button to mark the next corner of the sloping ceiling.
- Continue in this way, tracing around the outside of the dormer using 'End' snap points, until you've placed the point where the rear upstand meets the external wall on the right-hand side of the loft.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point or (A)rc or (T)hree Point Arc or (Escape) to End.

17. Click the C key on your keyboard to complete the sloping ceiling area.



The first area of sloping ceiling is complete and should look like this:



- 18. Click the right mouse button to draw another area of sloping ceiling of the same specification.
- 19. You can now repeat this process to mark out the sloping ceiling area to the front of the loft. Simply select the eaves line at the front of the main roof when prompted to Select Roof Line and click on the 'End' is snap point at each corner of the ceiling, pressing the C key on your keyboard to complete the area of sloping ceiling.



20. Once complete, your loft should look like this:

Now we can switch off the Sloping Ceiling Layer so that the outline of the sloping ceiling doesn't overlap the upstands.



21. Layers Press the Layers button (Views & 3D tab).

The Layers dialog box pops up.

- 22. Locate the Sloping Ceiling Layer and untick the adjacent Light bulb and Printer tick boxes.
- 23. Click OK.

Colou 🌾 🍰 0.05 Section 0.05 7 Services Select Al 0.05 2 Slab Bea 0.05 I Sloping Ceil 0.05 Stone Cavit 0.2 J 7 Stone Fill 0.05 7 Stone Wa 0.2 Structural St 2 0.05 Stud Wal V 0.2 Stud Wall Fi 0.05 7 V Set Current Opening in Flor OK Cancel

The Sloping Ceiling no longer appears on screen or in any printouts.

24. El Press the Save button.

DRAWING THE STUD WALLS



This section of the Tutorial talks you through drawing the loft stud walls. Stud walls are used to partition the different rooms in the loft.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

• draw attic stud walls;

You will also revise how to:

• use relative inputs.

You will need to refer to Diagram I, on page 215, during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:



Let's start by drawing the stud wall which divides the bedroom from the landing.



- 1. Press the Attic dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 2. Click on the item called Attic Stud Wall.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Attic stud wall insulated and plastered on both sides.

The Attic Stud Walls Dimensions Wizard pops up.



274 Tutorial Drawing the Stud Walls



We do require finishing details to both sides of the stud walls on this occasion so enter Y next to all treatments required.

8. Review the remaining details and click Finish.



The Command Window prompts: Select Roof Line.



The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

The stud wall runs along the bottom of the staircase, so we'll use a point on the staircase to give us the X coordinate for the partition.

- 10. Hold your cursor over the top right corner of the staircase, as you view it on screen, to find the 'Int' \times snap point.
- 11. Press the X key on your keyboard.



- 12. Move your cursor up the screen until it's hovering over the inside of the rear upstand, and a 'Near' Snap point appears.
- 13. Click the left mouse button to place the start of the stud wall.



The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point

- 14. Move your cursor down the screen until you find the 'Perp'⊥ snap point on the inside of the front upstand.
- 15. Click the left mouse button to place the end of the stud wall.
- 16. Click the right mouse button to stop drawing stud walls.

PlansXpres	SS	
?	Do you want to place any additional floor joists beneath the wall?	
	Yes No	

- The dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place any additional floor joists beneath the wall.
- 17. Click No.
- If, once you've placed the wall, you notice that it overlaps the staircase; you'll need to change the Justification of the wall. To alter the Justification of the wall, continue from step 19. If your wall has been placed correctly, continue from step 20.



19. Click on the Justification drop down box and select Right.

Justification	Left	•	
External Side	Left Centre		
	Right	R	

Let's now draw the stud wall which divides the bathroom and storage cupboard from the landing.



20. Press the button at the top of the Attic menu to draw another length of stud wall of the same specification.

The Command Window prompts: Select Roof Line.





The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.

The stud wall is 1600mm from the external wall, so we'll enter a dimension relative to a point on the external wall.

22. Place your cursor over the interior corner where the left external wall meets the rear upstand, and locate the 'End' snap point.

	d.	 	 		 	 	 		
								-	
				•					





The Distance dialog box pops up.

- 25. Enter a distance of 1600.
- 26. Click OK.

The start of the stud wall is automatically placed.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point

- 27. Press the F7 key on your keyboard to turn on Snap mode.
- 28. Move your cursor down the screen until you find the 'Perp'⊥ snap point on the inside of the front upstand.
- 29. Click the left mouse button to place the end of the stud wall.
- 30. Click the right mouse button to indicate that you've completed this section of wall.

The dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place any additional floor joists beneath the wall.

31. Click No.

Now we need to draw the wall which divides the bathroom and storage cupboard.



Press the button at the top of the Attic menu to draw another length of stud wall of the same specification.

Distance	23
Input Sizes	
© Free Input	
Distance Direction	
1600	
O Brick Length No Bricks	
O Brick Height	
Mortar Options	
🔘 Less 1 🔘 Equal 🔘 Add 1	
OK Cancel	

	ra a Perpana ana ana ang
Plans)	press
	Do you want to place any additional floor joists beneath the wall?
	Yes No

33. Draw the wall which divides the bathroom and storage cupboard by selecting the ridge line, finding the point where the vertical stud wall meets the rear upstand and using the R and down arrow keys to enter a relative dimension of 3000mm. Click the right mouse button to indicate that you've completed the section of wall and say No to placing additional floor joists.



Your loft plan should now look like this:

34. Press the Save button.

PLACING THE DOORS

5 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial talks you through placing standard-size and custom-size internal doors and cupboard doors in your plans.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

• insert custom-size doors.

You will also revise how to:

• place doors.

You will need to refer to Diagram I, on page 215, during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:



Now the stud walls are placed, we can place the internal fire doors. We'll install 762 wide fire doors into the bathroom and bedroom.



PlansXpress® Tutorial

- 1. Press the Doors dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 2. Click on the type called Typical Fire Doors.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called 762 Door into Studding.

The Dimensions Wizard pops up.



4. Review each page of the Dimensions Wizard, and once you're happy with the details entered on the final page, click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall

- 5. Place your cursor over the stud wall just above the stairs.
- 6. Click the left mouse button to place the door.



- Move your cursor to the bedroom side of the wall and down the screen, so that the door is shown opening to the right.
- 8. Click the left mouse button to register the direction the door opens in.



9. Repeat this process to place the door to the bathroom, which opens outwards.

10. Finally, let's place the double doors into the storage area. Because these doors fit under the slope of the roof, we'll need to use the Custom Size Double Internal Doors.



- 11. Press the dropdown arrow next to the Doors button.
- 12. Click on the item called Custom Size Doors.
- 13. Click on the type called Custom Side Double Internal Doors.
- 14. Click on the dimensional template called Internal Double Doors.

The Dimensions Wizard pops up.

Enter Dimensions Page 1 of 4	0
Location: Internal Wall -	
	Duding factor for spal 1500
DOOR ELEVATION Reveals and fixing details Show Tech Labels	Accept Defaults 🗙 Cancel 👻 Back 🐵 Next
Decoration specification	
Is threshold board to be primed (v/N)	Does door casing require add1 primer (YN) Y Does door casing require painting (YN) Y
Number of architraves 2.000	Does door require door primer (1)(0)
Architraves fixing centres (M) 0.500	
Are architraves to be primed (V/N) Y Are architraves to be painted (V/N) Y	Are reveals to be painted (Y/N) \ensuremath{Y}
Options Show Tech Tip	Accept Defaults 🗙 Cancel 💿 Back 💿 Finish

- 15. Set the door height to 0.8
- 16. Set the door width to 1.2.
- 17. Click Next.

 Review the remaining pages of the Dimensions Wizard, and once you're happy with the details entered, click Finish.

- 19. The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion point on wall
- 20. Hold your cursor over the stud wall between the landing and storage area until you locate the 'Mid' ana snap point.



21. Wove your cursor to the right of the stud wall and click the left mouse button to place the door.





22. Click the right mouse button to finish placing doors.

23. Press the Save button.

A

IMPORTANT! You must remember to open up the Custom Size Double Internal Doors Workbook once you've imported the job into **EstimatorXpress**® and specify the door and associated details, as these items are not specified in a Custom Size Door Workbook.



PLACING THE ROOF WINDOWS



This section of the Tutorial talks you through adding roof windows to the loft plan.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

• insert roof windows using snap points and 'by eye'.

You will need to refer to Diagram I, on page 215, during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:



When inserting roof windows, you are prompted to enter the height of the top of the windows from the attic floor. **PlansXpress**[®] uses this information to place the window vertically, so all you have to do is place the window horizontally along the roof.

Architectural Drawing & Annotation Non-Estimated S	ymbols Modify & Selection	Views & 3D Settings					
	r 🕅 💻		0	181	1		🚔 Chimneys 🕞
External Internal Feature Doors Windows Openings and Stairs	Flooring Roofs Extend	Attic Drainage External Works	Electrical	Plumbing F	Plastering Decoration	Renovation	Fire Stops 🔹
Walling Openings Stain	Flooring Roofs and A	▲ Attic Suspended Floor		Tra	des	Renovation	Miscellaneous
		Attic Suspended Floor for Truss Root	E 🕨				
		🔬 Attic Suspended Floor for Side Voids	•				
		Attic Side Voids (using existing joists) +				
		Attic Suspended Floor Accessories	•				
		∠ Upstand Walls for Cut Roof	-				
		Upstand Walls for Truss Roof	-				
		Attic Block Wall	1				
		Attic Stud Wall					
		Sloping Ceiling for Cut Roof	1				
		Sloping Ceiling for Truss Roof					
		Collared Ceiling	1				
		Collared Ceiling for Truss Roof					
		Attic Shaped Wall Finishing					
		Mall Dormers					
		Z Roof Dormers	<u> </u>				
		Roof Windows	<u> </u>	Velux M	08 780 X 1400 Windo	v	
				Velux M	06 780 X 1180 Windo	v	
				Velux F0	6 660 X 1180 Window		
			_ <u> </u>	Velux M	04 780 X 980 Window		
			. L	Velux CO	12 550 X 780 Window		

- 1. Press the Attic dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 2. Click on the item called Roof Windows.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Velux M08 780 x 1400 Window.





Enter Dimensions Page 3 of 3	0
Plastering and decoration details	
Are reveals plastered (?/R) V Are reveals to be parked (?/R) Does window regate add1 primer teatmally (?/R) Does window regate add1 primer teatmally (?/R) Does window regate parking itemally (?/R) Dess window regate parking itemally (?/R) SECTION THEOLEAL WINDOW	stemały (7/10) N. stemały (7/10) N.
Options Show Tech Labels Accept Defaults X Cancel	💿 Back 💿 Finish

4. The Window frame dimensions are fine, so click Next.

- 5. Set the Height to top of window to 2. This means the top of the window is 2m from the floor, measured vertically.
- 6. Ensure the Attic floor level relative to top of wall plate is set to 0.2.
- 7. Click Next.

8. Review the Plastering and cill details and once you're happy with the options, click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Select roof eaves line

Click on the eaves line to the rear of the roof. 9

This indicates that the window is to be placed on this slope of roof.



Mid

UP · .



The Command Window prompts: Select Window Position

First let's place the roof window in the centre of the roof.

10. Hover your mouse over the middle of the rear external wall until the 'Mid' A snap point appears.



11. \bigcirc Click the left mouse to place the roof window.

PlansXpress[®] has automatically placed the window halfway between the two ends of the roof.

12. Click the right mouse button to place another roof window of the same size and specification.

This time we will place the window by eye.

The Command Window prompts: Select roof eaves line

13. Click on the eaves line to the rear of the roof once again.



- 14. Hover your cursor just to the left of the bathroom wall, so the window is positioned in the bathroom.
- 15. Once you're happy with the position of the second window, click the left mouse button to place it.

16

 \Box Click the right mouse button to place another roof window of the same size.

We'll place the final window in the middle of the two windows we've already placed. You could measure the distance between the two windows and place the roof window at the point midway between them using the arrow keys, but again, we'll place the window by eye.



The Command Window prompts: Select roof eaves line

Click on the eaves line to the rear of the roof once 17. again.

The Command Window prompts: Select Window Position

- 18. Hover your cursor midway between the two roof windows you've already placed.
- Once you're happy with the position of the window, click the left mouse button to place it. 19.







Once complete, your loft should look like this:

20. Press the Save button.

MARKING OUT THE LOFT FLOOR



This section of the Tutorial talks you through marking out the different sections of the attic floor. The sections of floor which make up the main attic floor require additional strengthening whereas the side void areas, which will be used for storage, can be constructed to a lower specification.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

• mark out areas of attic floor.

Plus you will revise how to:

• apply perimeter sealant to an area of floor.

You will need to refer to Diagram L, on page 218, during this exercise.

By the end of this exercise, your plans will look like this:




- 1. Press the Attic dropdown button on the Architectural tab.
- 2. Click on the Attic Suspended Floor option.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Plastered and Insulated Attic Suspended Floor.

The Suspended floor typical house floor Dimensions Wizard pops up. We will start by drawing the main section of floor at the top of the stairs, labelled Section 1. This area of floor is hung from the upstand at either end, so requires joist hangers at either end.



The Command Window prompts: Give First Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1).

We'll use the rear upstand as Supporting Wall 1.

- 10. Hold your cursor over the interior corner where the rear upstand meets the external wall on the left of the loft until the 'End' is snap point appears.
- 11. Click the left mouse button to register the first corner of the floor.

The Command Window prompts: Give Second Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1 to indicate Floor Width at Right Angles to the Joists).

This section of floor ends at the top of the stairs, so we'll use the X coordinate of the top of the stairs to place the second corner of the floor.

- Hold your cursor over the top left corner of the staircase (as you look at it on screen) until the 'End' snap point appears.
- 13.

Press the X key on your keyboard.

- 14. Hold your cursor over the internal side of the rear upstand until a 'Near' Snap point appears.
 - P

15. Uclick the left mouse button to register the position of the second corner of the floor.





lu¢

Ne

The Command Window prompts: Indicate the length of the floor (to give Clear Span of Joists).

- 16. Hold your cursor over the internal side of the front upstand until a 'Near' 🖂 snap point appears.
- 17. Click the left mouse button to register the clear span of the floor.

You've finished marking out first floor section.

A dialog box pops up asking whether you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps. If you click Yes, you'll be able to mark out Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps for this section of flooring.

We'll click No for now, and place the Perimeter Sealant after we've finished marking out the entire suspended floor.

PlansXpres	15	
?	Do you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers & End Straps at this stage?	
	Yes No	

18. Click No.

Section 1 of the attic floor is complete, so let's now draw Section 4, to the right of the staircase, which has the same specification as Section 1.

- Δ
- 19. Click the right mouse button to tell **PlansXpress**[®] you want to draw another section of floor with the same specification.

The Command Window prompts: Give First Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1).

Again, we'll use the rear upstand as Supporting Wall 1.

- 20. Hold your cursor over the interior corner of where the rear upstand meets the external wall on the right of the loft until the 'End' snap point appears.
- 21. Click the left mouse button to register the first corner of the floor.



The Command Window prompts: Give Second Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1 to indicate Floor Width at Right Angles to the Joists).

This section of floor also ends on the landing side of the stud wall partition.

- 22. Hold your cursor over the point where the landing side of the stud wall meets the internal side of the rear upstand and an 'End' □ or 'Int' × snap point appears.
- 23. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the second corner of the floor.

The Command Window prompts: Indicate the length of the floor (to give Clear Span of Joists).

- 24. Hold your cursor over the internal side of the front upstand until a 'Near' ⊠ snap point appears.
- 25. Click the left mouse button to register the clear span of the floor.

You've finished marking out second section of attic floor.

The dialog box pops up again asking whether you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps at this point.

26. Click No again.

Now we need to fill in the gaps in the attic floor by drawing Sections 2 and 3.

27. Click the right mouse button to draw another section of floor.





The Command Window prompts: Give First Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1).

Again, we'll use the rear upstand as Supporting Wall 1.

- 28. Hold your mouse over the top right corner of Section 1 of the attic floor and the 'End' Snap point should appear.
- 29. Click the left mouse button to register the first corner of the floor.

The Command Window prompts: Give Second Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1 to indicate Floor Width at Right Angles to the Joists).

- 30. Hold your cursor over the top left corner of Section 4 of the attic floor and either the 'End' □ or the 'Int' × snap point should appear. You can use either of these snap points.
- 31. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the second corner of the floor.





The Command Window prompts: Indicate the length of the floor (to give Clear Span of Joists).

 Hold your cursor over the top edge of the staircase (as you view it on screen) until an appropriate snap point pops up.

33. U Click the left mouse button to register the clear span of the floor.



Æ

The dialog box pops up again asking whether you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps at this point.

- 34. Click No again.
 - . (¹
- 35. Click the right mouse button to draw the final section of floor to the main area of attic. This section of floor also requires joist hangers to one end.

PlansXpress

36. Repeat the same process to place Section 4 of the attic floor.

Once complete, your floor will look like this:

Do you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers & End Straps at this stage?

Yes No

The dialog box asking whether you wish to consider
Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps pops up once
more.

PlansXpress
Do you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers & End Straps at this stage?
Yes No

37. Click No again. We'll place these items after we've drawn the floor to the side voids.

The floors to the side voids will be constructed to a different specification, so we'll use the Architectural tool specifically designed for floors to side voids.

🎗 🗋 🗁 🐰 🖸 🖺 🌖 (*													PlansXpress								٥
Architectural Drawi			awing & Annotation Non-Estimated Symbols			Modify & Selection Views &			rs & 3D	3D Settings					🔍 🖩 💉	2	3	0			
								\triangleleft		4		-13-	2	B		喜			🚔 Chir	neys ·	÷
External Internal Feature Masonary		Doors Windows Openings and * * Steelwork *		Stairs *	Stairs Flooring Roofs		ofs Extend Att			Drainage *	External Works and Landscaping *	Electrical Plumbing Plasteri		Plastering *	Decoration	Renovation	Fire Stops		Ŧ		
Walling				Openii	ngs	Stairs	Flooring	Roo	oofs and At 🖌			tic Suspend	led Floor	۰,	1	rades		Renovation	Misce	laneous	
								٨	Att	tic Suspend	led Floor for Truss Ro	of ►									
								1	Att	tic Suspend	led Floor for Side Voi	ds 🕨	🖌 Plaste	red and Insu	lated Side V	oids with Floori	ng and Ne	w Joists			
										∡	Att	tic Side Voi	ds (using existing jois	its) 🕨							_

- 38. Press the Attic dropdown button again.
- 39. Click on the item called Attic Suspended Floor for Side Voids.
- 40. Click on the dimensional template called Plastered and Insulated Side Voids with Flooring and New Joists

End bearings for jasts (each end	(9)									
End bearrags for justic (each end) (P)										
Cptons Show Tech Tp Show Tech Labels Accept Defaults	K Cancel 🛞 Back 🔘 Next									
nter Dimensions Page 2 of 4	0									

parding required in this sect

SECTION THROUGH FLOOR

The Attic Suspended Floor for Side Voids Dimensions Wizard pops up.

41. Review the Side void suspended floor details and then click Next.

- 42. Ensure that Is floorboarding required in this section of floor? is set to Y.
- 43. Click Next.

OV/ND

Enter Dimensions Page 3 of 4

cept Defaults

🗙 Cancel

Bac

- 44. Set the No of ends to generally have joist hangers to 0.
- 45. Set the Additional no of joist hangers required to 0.
- 46. Set the No of ends to generally have joist boots to 0 and click Next.
- 47. Once you're happy with the Attic floor plastering and decoration details, click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Give First Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1).

Let's draw Section 5 of floor in the left gable, using the gable wall as the Supporting Wall.

- 48. Hold your cursor over the interior corner of where the gable end meets the left wall of the house until the 'End' snap point appears.
- 49. Click the left mouse button to register the first corner of the floor.

The Command Window prompts: Give Second Corner of Floor (on Supporting Wall 1 to indicate Floor Width at Right Angles to the Joists).

- 50. Hold your cursor over the corresponding point on the right hand side of the gable until either the 'End' ☐ or 'Int' × snap point appears. You can use either of these snap points.
- 51. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the second corner of the floor.

The Command Window prompts: Indicate the length of the floor (to give Clear Span of Joists).

- 52. Hold your cursor over the outside of the upstand until the 'Near' ⊠ snap point appears.
- 53. Click the left mouse button to register the clear span of the floor.







The dialog box asking whether you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps pops up once more.

54. Click No.

- Click the right mouse button to draw another 55. section of side void flooring.
- 56. Repeat steps 48 to 54 to complete the remaining sections of floor to the side voids, using the front walls of the house as the supporting wall.
- 57. After you've marked out the final section of floor, click Yes to the dialog box which pops up asking if you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers and End Straps.

Let's now place the perimeter sealant and trimmers.

A dialog box pops up asking if you want to place perimeter sealant on this section of floor.

58. Click Yes.

Yes No

PlansXpress

PlansXpress

We want to place sealant around the perimeter of the attic floor including the side voids.



PlansXpress
Do you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers & End Straps at this stage?
Yes No

Do you want to place perimeter sealant to this section of floor?

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point.



Click on one corner of the suspended floor.



The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point.

60. Or Tracing the perimeter of the floor, click round each corner until you've clicked on all 8 corners of the floor.





61. Once you've clicked on the final corner of the floor, click the C key to complete the sealant.

Do you want to place any Trimmers? No

The dialog box pops up asking if you want to place any more perimeter sealant on this section of floor.

62. Click No.

A dialog box pops up asking if you want to place any trimmers. We placed the trimmers when we marked out the opening in the loft so don't need to place any now.

63. Click No.

A dialog box pops up asking if you wish to place any end straps.

64. We don't require any end straps for the attic floor, so click No.

is now complete. Now we've drawn the floor, we can switch off floor layers to keep the page uncluttered.

Layers Press the Layers button (Views & 3D tab). 65.

The Layers dialog box pops up.

PlansXpres	55
?	Do you want to place any End Straps to this section of floor?
	Yes No

Yes

F	PlansXpress
	Do you wish to consider Perimeter Sealant, Trimmers & End Straps at this stage?
	Yes No

PlansXpress

Ŷ

The attic floor i

rs								
Layers								
Name 🔺	Alias	Colour	Style	÷.	2	۵		Add
Fire Stop		0.4				1		
Fixture		0.05		1		1		Select All
floor		0.05						
Floor Structure		0.5						Edit Selected
Flooring		0.05						Delete Selected
Flooring Sundries		0.05						
Foundations		0.05		1		1		Purge Unused
Heads and Cills		0.15		1		\checkmark		Find
Insulation		0.7		\checkmark		\checkmark		Find
Kitchen Furniture		0.05		\checkmark		1		Use Alias
Kitchen Plan		0.05		1		\checkmark	-	Use Groups
Current Layer urrent Layer Floor								Set Current
							ОК	Cancel

- 66. Untick the Light bulb and Printer tick boxes associated with the Floor and Sealant Layers.
- 67. Click OK.

Your plans should now look like this:

68. El Press the Save button.



ADDING THE BATHROOM SUITE



This section of the Tutorial talks you through adding a bathroom to your plans.

During this exercise you will revise how to:

• add estimated Baths and Sanitaryware to your plans.

You will need to refer to Diagram I, on page 215, during this exercise.

We'll start by adding the WC.

18 -	Architectural	Drawing & Annotation Non-Est	imated Symbols	Modify & Selection Vi	ews & 3D Settings						~ 🚉
Extern	al Internal Feature Masonary *	Doors Windows Openings and Steelwork *	Stairs Flooring	Roofs Extend Attic	Drainage External Works	Electrica	Plumbing Plastering Decoration	Renovation	Chimneys Chimneys Fire Stops Miscellaneous		
	Vieng	- Openings	2003 100000				Image: Addators Undeffoor Heating Bolers Heating System Compone Water Pipes Gas Pipes Pipe Foings Santayware Baths W Wate Connections Bathroom Taps Kitchen Taps Questicat Tape Gas Fire Gas Connections	> Out > > > > > Out > Out	Aicot Range Cheltenham Range Cheltenham Range Chubekarge Cube Range Onyx Range Onyx Range Pride Range Pride Range Zone Range Urinals	Close Coupled W	Basin Basin IC Fitting
1.	Press the Architectu	Plumbing dropdo ral tab.	own buttor	on the					·	 	
2.	Click on th	ne Sanitaryware t	type.								
3.	Click on th	ne Chichester Ra	inge optior	۱.					· · ·		
4.	Click on th	ne item called Clo	ose Couple	ed WC Fitting	g.						
The	Command	Window prompts	s: Give Ins	ertion Point							
5.	Place you	r cursor over the	inside of t	he horizonta	 		. [۲ . 		
	snap point	wan, towards the t.	e door, and								\ \
6.		k the left mouse l	outton to p	lace the WC					Noarh		
											•

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Rotate To

- T. A shift Hold down the Shift key on your keyboard.
- 8. Move your cursor to the left until the WC sits flush against the wall.
- 9. Click the left mouse button to register the orientation of the WC.



Now let's add the basin.



- 10. Press the dropdown arrow on the Plumbing menu.
- 11. Click on the Sanitaryware type.
- 12. Click on the Chichester Range option.
- 13. Click on the item called 2TH Cloakroom Basin.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point

14. Place your cursor over the inside of the external wall, towards the partition wall, on a 'Near' Snap point.



 \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to place the basin.



Finally, let's place the bath.

+ Shift

against the external wall.

orientation of the basin.

kevboard.

16.

18.



19. Press the dropdown button on the Architectural tab.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Rotate To

17. Move your cursor up the screen until the basin sits flush

Click the left mouse button to register the

Hold down the Shift key on your

- 20. Click on the item called Baths.
- 21. Click on the Standard Bath option.
- 22. Click on the dimensional template called Bath 2TH no grip 1500 x 700.

The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point

23. Place your cursor in the middle of the bathroom. Because of the position of the insertion point on the bath symbol, we're going to have to insert the bath, and then move it into place.







The Command Window prompts: Give Reference Point

- 31. Place your cursor over the top left corner of the bath on the 'End' snap point.
- 32. \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to select the reference point.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point To Move To

- 33. Place your cursor over the inside of the external wall where it meets the upstand wall.
- 34. Once you're happy with the position of the bath, click the left mouse button to place it.





Your bathroom should now look like this:

35. Press the Save button.

FINISHING OFF THE LOFT PLAN



This section of the Tutorial talks you through adding some extra details to your plans, such as room labels and dimension lines.

During this exercise, you will revise how to:

- add room labels to your plans using the Notes Picker;
- change the font of a text label;
- change the font size of a text label;
- add dimension lines.

You will need to refer to Diagram I, on page 215, during this exercise.

1. You should see the Notes Picker on the right side of the plan. If you cannot see the Notes Picker make sure Notes Picker is ticked on the Show\Hide panel on the Views & 3D tab.









3. Select an alternative font from the Font drop down box.

	200	= = =	
A Bradley Hand ITC \star	1		BI
	0.0		
	Font		

4. Set the Height to 200

The Command Window prompts: Give Text Point

- Position the text using your cursor and click the left mouse button to place the room label.
- Using the Notes Picker, add labels for the Landing, Bathroom and Storage, as per Diagram I on page 215. PlansXpress[®] will remember the Font and Height you selected previously for any labels you subsequently add.

You might find you need to make the Bathroom label a bit smaller so that it fits neatly.

8. You can add a Storage label by typing Storage into the input box at the top of the Notes Picker and pressing the Add button.

We can now add some dimensions for the loft itself. Let's start by adding a dimension line for showing the width of the loft.

9. (Drawing & Annotation tab)

The Command Window prompts: Give First Point.

- 10. Place your cursor over the inside of the rear upstand until you locate a 'Near' Snap point.
 - (\square)
- 11. Click the left mouse button to register the first point of the dimension line.











12. The Command Window prompts: Give Second Point.

Place your cursor over the inside of the front upstand until you locate the 'Perp' \top snap point.

13. Click the left mouse button to register the second point of the dimension line.



The Command Window prompts: Give Dimension point.

- 14. Move your cursor to the place where you want to position the dimension line.
- 15. Click the left mouse button to register the position of the dimension line.



- 16. Click the right mouse button to place another dimension line.
- 17. Continue adding dimension lines as shown on Diagram I on page 215.
- 18. I Press the Save button.



DEVELOPING THE LOFT SECTION

20 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial guides you through drawing a section of the loft to show upstand and ceiling heights.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

- develop a loft section using construction lines;
- draw parallel lines using the Offset button;
- insert angular construction lines.

Plus you will revise how to:

- draw a side elevation;
- trim/extend lines.

You will need to refer to Diagrams H and K, on pages 214 and 7, during this exercise.

Now your loft plan is complete, you can create a section of the loft.

We need to start by drawing a side elevation of the loft. This side elevation will form the basis of our section. We want to create a right elevation of the loft.



- 1. Elevation 3D tab).
- Press the Draw Elevation button (Views &

The Command Window prompts: Select wall on which elevation will be based.

2. Click on the right external wall of the house.



The Command Window prompts: Give observation point for elevation.

- 3. Move your cursor to the right of the wall.
- 4. Click the left mouse button to register the viewpoint.



The Command Window prompts: Give depth of view point for elevation.

- 5. Move your cursor beyond the ridge of the dormer to ensure the dormer roof and valley roof are included in the elevation.
- Click the left mouse button to register the depth of the elevation.



The Command Window prompts: Give left extent point for elevation.

- 7. Move your cursor down the screen beyond the end of the wall.
- 8. Click your left mouse button to register the left extent of the elevation.



The Command Window prompts: Give right extent point for elevation.

- 9. Move your cursor up the screen beyond the other end of the wall.
- 10. Click your left mouse button to register the right extent of the elevation





The Command Window prompts: Give reference point for elevation.

11. Hold your cursor over the roof ridge at the right gable end until you find the 'End' snap point.

P

12. Click the left mouse button to register the reference point.

We need to place the elevation in the bottom right corner of the drawing page.

The Command Window prompts: Give relative position for elevation. Note that the 'reference point' will be placed on the given 'relative position'.

- 13. Move your cursor to the middle of the space in the bottom right of the page.
- 14. \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to place the elevation.
- 15. Click No when the dialog box pops up asking if you want to create elevation for all levels.

After a few moments the elevation appears on screen.

You'll see that **PlansXpress®** has automatically drawn in a line showing the level of the top of the walls/roof wall plate. This line can be used to draw the loft floor level.

Before we start editing the elevation we'll need to explode it in order to edit the individual lines.

 Explode Select the elevation by left clicking on any of the lines then click the Explode button.

We'll draw the floor level by using the Offset tool to place a line 200mm above the wall plate level.

We want the lines we add to the section to be on the same Layer as the existing lines in the loft section, so first we need to set the Layer to Roof Elevations.

17. Select Roof Elevations from the Layers drop down box just below the Command Window at the bottom of the plan.

All lines you subsequently draw will be placed on this Layer.

18. Press the Offset button (Drawing and Annotation tab)

The Command Window prompts: Select Line/Arc/Circle/Ellipse/Polyline to Offset

Offset

```
19.
```

 \bigcirc Click on the line representing the wall plate level.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Offset To

F8

If you move your cursor up the screen, you'll notice a dimension appears to show the distance between the original line and the new offset line. If it doesn't, you may need to switch on X-Y Coordinate mode by pressing F8.

- 20. Find the point 200mm above the wall plate level.
- 21. Click the left mouse button to register the offset point.

Alternatively you can enter 200 into the offset input box which appears in the Properties toolbar at the bottom of your screen.



Commu						
DOIDCO	Roof Structure					naiaj
AUTOS	Sanitaryware					ress
Select	Scaffolding					Multij
Select	Sealant				-	Multij
Layer	Radiator	-	Colour	Layer		-



Mr Olive Roof - Valley Roof Accessories

Poof Elevations



22. **PlansXpress**[®] draws a parallel line 200mm above the original wall plate level. This new line represents the finished floor level of the loft.



We want to convert this elevation into a structural section of the loft, showing timber widths. The elevation shows the main roof with 150mm bargeboards. We need to show 100mm rafters instead.

Delete the internal roof lines showing the bargeboard width by clicking on them with your left mouse button and pressing the Delete key on your keyboard.



We can now offset the apex lines by 100mm to show the rafter width.

24. Press the Offset button again.

The Command Window prompts: Select Line/Arc/Circle/Ellipse/Polyline to Offset

25. Click on right-hand apex roof line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Offset To

- 26. Move your mouse to the left until you find the 100mm offset point.
 - 🕰

27.

 \bigcirc Click the left mouse button to register the offset position.

28. Repeat these steps to offset the left apex roof line by 100mm.





Let's now neaten up the offset lines showing the floor level and rafters using the Trim/Extend button we used earlier in the Tutorial when placing the upstands.

29. **Trim/Extend** Press the Trim/Extend button (Modify & Selection tab).

PlansXpress® Tutorial

The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend.

Let's start by trimming the floor level line.



7 Click on the right end of the floor level line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to



Press the F7 key to switch on Snap mode.

 Move your cursor over the inside of the right roof rafter until the 'Near' Snap point appears.



 Click your left mouse button to register the new end point of the floor level.

Let's now trim the wall plate level on the right-hand side of the roof.



34. U Click the right mouse button to trim/extend another line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend.



 $\mathcal I$ Click on the right end of the wall plate level line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to

- 36. Move your cursor over the inside of the right roof rafter until the 'Near' ⊠ snap point appears.
- 37. Click your left mouse button to register the new end point of the wall plate level.
- 38. Repeat this process to trim the floor level and wall plate level lines on the left-hand side of the roof.











We also need to neaten up the lines on the apex of the roof. Use the Trim/Extend button to shorten each of the rafter lines at the apex, and to shorten the vertical line between the rafters. You'll find there are actually two lines showing the vertical line between rafters, so you'll need to shorten one and delete the other. Use the Trim/Extend button to extend the rafters to the fascia board on either side and to trim the fascia boards.



Delete the soffit lines, as they're no longer required, by clicking on them with your left mouse button and pressing the Delete key on your keyboard.



The dormer needs a bit of neatening. First of all we need to delete the dormer valley line and the lines which make up the fascia board, which are surplus to requirements in this instance.

40. Letri Hold down the Ctrl key and click on each of the lines to select them.



41. Press the Delete key on your keyboard to remove the lines.

Having deleted the fascia lines, we now need to draw the ceiling height of the dormer.

42. Press the Offset key and select the line representing the floor level.



- 43. Find the point 2200mm above the wall plate level.
- 44. Click the left mouse button to register the offset point.



We now need to trim the roof line to the dormer roof.



The Command Window prompts: Give Arc/Line to Trim/Extend.

46



The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Trim/Extend to

- 47. Place your cursor over the point where the dormer ceiling line meets the main roof.
- 48. Click the left mouse button to register the new end point of the line.
- 49. Repeat this process to trim the right side of the ceiling, extend the wall to the ceiling and trim the dormer bargeboard line. You may find that there are more than one line for the bargeboard so trim the first and delete any others that you do not need.

Now we've drawn the elevation, we can develop the section – adding the structure of the loft including upstands and collared ceilings - using construction lines to transpose the upstand and ceiling details from the plan to the elevation. Because everything is drawn to scale, the section through the loft will be 100% accurate.



- Hold your cursor over the ridge line on the loft plan unti you find a 'Near' ⊠ snap point.
- 52. Click your left mouse button to place the Construction Line.



53. Vertical Press the Vertical Construction Line button.

- 54. Hold your cursor over the apex ridge line on the side elevation/section until you find an 'End' snap point.
- 55. Click your left mouse button to place the Construction Line.

	Na.
End	The second secon

These two Construction Lines allow us to match up the position of ridge in plan with the position of the ridge in elevation.

Angular Press the Angular Construction Line button.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point.

- 57. Place your cursor over the point where the Horizontal and Vertical Construction Lines intersect until you locate the 'Int' × snap point.
- 58. Click your left mouse button to register the one point on the Angular Construction Line.
- The Command Window prompts: Give Second Point.
- 59. ▲ Shift Hold down the Shift key on your keyboard.

This locks the Construction Line into 45 degree increments.

- 60. Move your mouse down and to the left until the Construction Line crosses your screen from bottom left to top right at a 45 degree angle.
- 61. Click the left mouse button to register the angle of the line.

This 45 degree line will allow us to rotate the horizontal lines in the loft plan – the collared ceiling and upstands – round 90 degrees, so that they are transposed into vertical lines on our section. If that sounds confusing now, it will all become clear in a few moments!





318 Tutorial Developing the Loft Section

- 62. We now need to place horizontal Construction Lines through the collared ceiling and upstands in the loft plan. We'll work our way from the top of the plan to make sure we don't miss any of the lines we need.
- 63. Horizontal Press the Horizontal Construction Line button.
- 64. Starting at the top of the loft plan, click on a 'Near' Snap point on each side of the rear upstand to place horizontal Construction Lines.





65. Click on a 'Near' Snap point on each line of the collared ceiling to place horizontal Construction Lines.



66. Uclick on a 'Near' Snap point on each line of the each side of the front upstand to place horizontal Construction Lines.



Your screen should now look like this, with a horizontal Construction Line marking out the upstands and ceiling in the loft plan.

All we need to do now is place vertical Construction Lines at the points where the horizontal Construction Lines intersect the diagonal Construction Line to mark out where the upstands and collared ceiling should be in the loft section.

67. Zoom into the area where the construction lines cross so you can clearly see the intersections. It's crucial that the vertical Construction Lines are placed correctly to ensure the loft section is correct.

68. Vertical Press the Vertical Construction Line button.

69.

- Click on each point where the diagonal Construction Line crosses a horizontal Construction Line.
- Once complete, click the right mouse button to show that you've finished placing the Vertical Construction Lines.



Your page should now look like this:

The pairs of lines on either side of the roof show the placement of the upstands. The two lines either side of the ridge show the corners of the collared ceiling. If you trace each Construction Line back, you can see how the loft plan has been transposed to develop the loft section, by turning each line through 90 degrees at the diagonal Construction Line.

You can now use the line tool to draw in the upstands and collared ceiling, using the Construction Lines as guides.

71. Press the Line button.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point

- 72. Hold your cursor over the 'Int' × snap point where the vertical Construction Line representing the inside of the left upstand meets the floor line.
- 73. Click the left mouse button to place the start of the line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point

- 74. Hold your cursor over the 'Int' × snap point where the vertical Construction Line representing the inside of the left upstand meets the rafter.
- 75. Click the left mouse button to place the next point on the line.





76. Once complete, click the right mouse button to indicate that you've finished drawing this line.

77. \bigcirc Click the right mouse button to start a new line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point

- 78. Hold your cursor over the 'Int' × snap point where the vertical Construction Line representing the outside of the left upstand meets the floor line.
- 79. Click the left mouse button to place the start of the line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point

- 80. Hold your cursor over the 'Int' × snap point where the vertical Construction Line representing the outside of the left upstand meets the rafter.
- 81. Click the left mouse button to place the next point on the line.





Once complete, click the right mouse button to show that you've finished drawing this line.

82. Click the right mouse button to start a new line.

 Repeat steps 72 to 82 to draw in the upstands on the other side of the roof.

84. Draw the internal side of the dormer wall by clicking where the internal side of the right upstand's construction line meets the top of the rafter, then where it meets the roof joist line.



Finally, you can draw the line marking out flat ceiling.



The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point

- Hold your cursor over the 'Int' X snap point where the vertical Construction Line representing one corner of the ceiling meets the rafter.
- 87. $\bigcup_{\text{line.}}$ Click the left mouse button to place the start of the

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point

- 89. Click the left mouse button to place the next point on the line.





90. E

 \bigcirc Click the right mouse button to show that you've finished drawing this line.

We've now finished with the Construction Lines so can remove them from the page.



91. Delete Press the Delete Construction Lines button.

A dialog box pops up asking if you're sure you want to delete all the Construction Lines.

PlansXpress

Are you sure you want to delete all construction lines ?

Yes
No

92. Click Yes.

You have now placed the main features of the loft. All you need to do is add some more detail.

Let's draw in the ceiling joist. To do this, we'll place a Construction Line 100mm above the line showing the finished ceiling height, and then trace over it using the line tool.



The Command Window prompts: Give Point

- 94. Hold your cursor over the line showing the ceiling height until a 'Near' ⊠ snap point appears.
- 95. Press the R key on your keyboard.
- 96. Press the up arrow key on your keyboard.



Distance	23			
Input Sizes				
O Free Input				
Distance	Direction			
100	^			
O Brick Length	No Bricks			
🔘 Brick Height	0			
Mortar Options				
🔘 Less 1 🔘 Equal 🔘 Add 1				
OK Cancel				

The Distance dialog box pops up.

- 97. Enter 100 into the Distance input box.
- 98. Click OK.

The Construction Line is placed 100mm above the ceiling level.

99. Now press the Line button.



- 100. Hold your cursor over the 'Int' X snap point where the Construction Line intersects the inside of the rafter.
- 101. Click the left mouse button to place the start point of the line.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point

- 102. Hold your cursor over the 'Int' X snap point where the Construction Line intersects the inside of the rafter on the other side of the roof.
- 103. Click the left mouse button to place the end point of the line.





Click the right mouse button to finish drawing the line. 104.

Let's now delete the construction lines.



- 105. Delete Press the Delete Construction Lines button.
- 106. Click Yes to the dialog box which pops up.

Let's add a line showing the bottom of the dormer window.



- 107. Line Press the Line button.
- The Command Window prompts: Give Start Point
- 108. Hold your cursor over the point where the dormer front meets the ceiling line of the dormer roof.



Press the down arrow key. 110

The Distance dialog box pops up.

- 111. Enter 900.
- 112. Click OK.

The Command Window prompts: Give Next Point



Press the F7 key to switch on Snap mode.

- 114. Hold your cursor over the inside line of the dormer front until you find the 'Perp' snap point.
- 115. Click the left mouse button to place the second point of the bottom line of the window.





Distance	83			
Input Sizes				
© Free Input	ור			
Distance Direction				
900				
O Brick Length No Bricks				
O Brick Height				
Mortar Options				
🔘 Less 1 🔘 Equal 🔘 Add 1				
UK Cancel				


Click the right mouse button to finish drawing the line.

Let's now add some dimensions to the sections.

Linear Dimension Press the Linear Dimension button (Drawing & Annotation tab)

The Command Windows prompts: Give First Point

Let's start by adding a dimension line showing the height of the left upstand.

- 116. Place your cursor at the bottom of the upstand, over the 'Int' × snap point where the internal face of the upstand meets the floor.
- 117. Click the left mouse button to register the first point of the dimension line.

The Command Windows prompts: Give Second Point

- 118. Place your cursor at the top of the upstand, over the 'Int' × snap point where the internal face of the upstand meets the rafter.
 - **A**
- 119. Click the left mouse button to register the second point of the dimension line.

The Command Windows prompts: Give Dimension Point (H)orizontal, (V)ertical or (A)ligned

- 120. Move your cursor to the right to place the dimension line to the right of the upstand.
- 121. Click the left mouse button to position the dimension line.







122. Repeat this process to add a dimension showing the ceiling height, floor height, width of loft at collared ceiling and width of loft at floor level, dormer ceiling height and window height.



123. If you spend a few moments reviewing the dimensions, you'll see that the upstand height and ceiling height match the details you entered in the Dimensions Wizards, and the loft width matches the dimension on the plan view of the loft.

We will now add a title to the section.





The Edit Text dialog box pops up.

- 125. Type Section through Loft Side1.
- 126. Click OK.



127. Click the left mouse button to place the title below the section.



Section through Loft Side 1

128. Add a label saying Structural Floor Level to demonstrate that the section shows the structural level rather than finished floor level of the loft.



Section through Loft Side 1

129. You can repeat this process to develop a section through from the opposite side of the house, showing the roof windows. To do this use the same methodology as in this chapter except draw the diagonal construction line at 45 degrees from top left to bottom right. This will have the effect of mirroring the details from the plan view so they appear the right way round in the section. Add a title of Section through Loft Side 2.



APPLYING PLASTER AND DECORATION TREATMENT TO GABLE WALLS



This section of the Tutorial explains how to estimate, and show that you have estimated, plastering and decoration to the existing gable walls on your plans. Plastering and decoration to the upstands, stud walls and ceiling areas are estimated as you draw each element of the fabric of the loft. Plastering and decoration to the gable ends must be done using a separate Workbook designed specifically for the purpose.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

apply plastering and decoration 'treatment' to gable shaped walls.

You will need to refer to Diagrams I and K, on pages 215 and 227, during this exercise.





- 1. Press the dropdown arrow next to the Attic button.
- 2. Click on the item called Attic Shaped Wall Finishing.
- 3. Click on the dimensional template called Typical gable wall finishing.

The Attic Shaped Wall Finishing Dimensions Wizard pops up.



Enter Dimensions Page 2 of 3

- 4. Enter the Width of collared ceiling, Width of base plaster, Height of upstand and Height of ceiling according to the dimension lines on your loft plan and section.
- 5. Click Next.

6. Review the Skirting details and click Next.



- 7. Set Plaster and skim walls? to Y.
- 8. Set Apply decoration to walls? to Y.
- 9. Click Finish.

The Command Window prompts: Select Entity to add Treatment To

10. Click anywhere on the right gable end wall of the loft.



The Command Window prompts: Give Insertion Point

Your cursor now controls the position of the label associated with the wall 'treatment', which shows that you have allowed for plastering and decoration to the gable wall.

Note: The label may appear to be upside down but you set the rotation after placing the label.

11. Place the label near the gable wall and click the left mouse button to place it.

The Command Window prompts: Give Point To Rotate To

Hold down the Shift key and move your cursor to the right so the label is horizontal.

13. U Click the left mouse button to register the rotation of the label.



- 14. Click the right mouse button to apply plastering and decoration to the other gable wall.
- 15. Repeat steps 10 to 13 for the opposite gable wall.

You have now estimated, and noted on the plans that you have estimated, the plastering and decoration to the gable end walls.

16. Press the Save button.

CREATING A REAR ELEVATION



This section of the Tutorial guides you through drawing a rear elevation of the house which will show how the loft conversion has changed the appearance of the exterior of the house.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

• create an elevation using the ground floor, first floor and loft plan.

You will need to refer to Diagram H, on page 214, during this exercise.

Remember, because we're drawing a rear elevation, the left and right extents are the opposite way round on screen. It doesn't matter which floor plan you use to draw the elevation as you are going to say yes to creating an elevation based on the levels you have already set for your separate floors.



1. Elevation Click the Draw Elevation button (Views & 3D tab).

The Command Window prompts: Give wall on which elevation will be based

Click on the rear wall of the floor layout.

This tells **PlansXpress**[®] that the selected wall is to be included in the Elevation.

The Command Window prompts: Give observation point for elevation :

- Move your mouse up the page to view the elevation as if you're standing out the back of the house viewing the rear wall.
- 4. Click the left mouse button to indicate where the elevation is being viewed from.





The Command Window prompts: Give depth view point for elevation :

5. Move the mouse down the page so it's slightly beyond where the roof ridge line is (or equivalent if not using the loft floor plan).



6. Click the left mouse button to indicate that this is the furthest point to be viewed on the elevation.

The Command Window prompts: Give left extent point for elevation :

7. Move your mouse to the RIGHT until it's beyond the right wall of the house.

If you were stood behind the house, this would be the left extent of the elevation.

Click the left mouse button to indicate the left extent of the elevation.

The Command Window prompts: Give right extent point for elevation :

9. Move your mouse to the LEFT until it's beyond the left wall of the house.

If you were stood behind the house, this would be the right extent of the elevation.

10. Click the left mouse button to indicate the right extent of the elevation.

The Command Window prompts: Give reference point for elevation :

- 11. Hold your mouse over the top right corner of the house until the 'End' snap point appears.
 - **e**.
- 12. Ulick the left mouse button to register the Point of Reference.







The Command Window prompts: Give Point to Indicate the desired Position of the Elevation.

We want to place the rear elevation to the right of the loft layout. You cursor will dictate where the left-most point of the elevation will be, because we selected the left corner of the elevation as our Point of Reference.

13. Move your mouse down the page, until it's level with the bottom of the loft layout, and across to the right into the space.



14. \Box Click the left mouse button to register the position of the rear elevation.



15. Click Yes on the dialog box that pops up asking if you want to create elevation for all levels.



You will notice that the top of the wall extends above the roof line. This is down to the fact that **PlansXpress**® does not take into account the tricks that are used on-site to cut off the bottom of a rafter, add a tilting fillet or adjust how far down the fascia board hangs below the rafter"s end.

We can easily remedy this by selecting and moving the lines representing the roof, dormer and roof windows.

16. Explode Select the elevation by left clicking it and press the Explode button so that we can edit the individual lines of the elevation.



17. Click and drag a box around the roof from left to right.



18. Middle click the selection and click Move Selection.

The command window prompts you to Give Reference Point :

19. Move your mouse to where the left wall and bottom roof line intersect and left click.



20. Move the mouse to the top of the left wall and click again to place the roof on top of the wall line.



Rear Elevation

PRINTING THE PLANS

5 Minutes

This section of the Tutorial guides you through preparing the A1 loft drawing to send to the printers, and through printing A4 printouts of smaller sections of the drawing on your PC at home or in the office.

During this exercise, you will learn how to:

• export your drawings to a PDF.

You will also revise how to:

- create Layouts;
- set up a drawing ready to print.

We'll start by removing any items we don't want to show in the plans we print out.

 Delete the dimension lines around the first floor layout by clicking on each of the dimension lines and pressing the Delete key on your keyboard. These dimensions aren't needed for the loft conversion.



We need to switch off some of the Layers we don't want to show in the printouts.



2.

Press the Layers button (Views & 3D tab).

The Layers dialog box pops up.

- Work your way down the layers called: Binders, Drain Run, Drainage, Estimating Labels and Purlins, unticking the Light bulb and Printer tick boxes so that these Layers won't appear on screen or in any printouts.
- 4. We want to show the roof on the loft printouts, so work your way down all the Roof Layers drawn with a red pen – Roof, Roof – End, Roof – Hip, Roof – Ridge, Roof – Side, Roof Valley – ticking the Printer tick box so they appear in our printouts.

	Name -	Alas	Colour	Style	- 10 1	1	2	-	Add
E	Binders		0.5						
E	Block Cavity		0.2		1		V		Select All
E	Block Fill		0.05		1		1		Canal I I
E	Block Paving		0.05		7		V		Edit Selected
E	Block Pavior Edgings		0.15		V		V		Delete Selecter
E	Block Wall		0.2		V		V		
E	Bolers		0.05		1		V		Purge Unused
E	Brick Cavity		0.2		1		V		
E	Brick Fill		0.05		1		V		Pind
E	Brick Hatching		0.05		1		V		🖌 Use Alias
le.	Brick Wall		0.2		\checkmark		\mathbf{V}	_	Use Groups

- 5. Click OK.
- 6. Add any Notes to the drawing and fill out the Drawing Details in the Title Block on the right hand side of the page.

7. Make sure that Layouts is ticked in the Show/Hide panel on the Views & 3D tab.

Let's delete out the Drainage Layout which isn't required for the loft plans.

8		Layout Explorer	Ρ	×
0.	select it.			_
9.	Press the Delete Layout button.	Drawing		
10.	Click on Drawing in the Layout Explorer to return to the main drawing.	Layout Explorer	P	×
		B Drawing		

Now your plans are ready to print. First we'll create A1 plans which we can convert to PDF ready to send to the printers and then we'll create an A4 printout of a loft layout which can be printed on an A4 printer.





Select everything on the page including the page border and Title and Notes block by dragging your mouse from outside the top left of the page to outside the bottom right of the page. Layout Explorer **D P X** 同 12. Press the New Layout button. Wrawing New Layout Layout Explorer 🕒 🖳 🖪 🖪 👘 PlansXpress® creates a new Layout of the page which excludes the ground floor plan in the main drawing. 🗈 Drawing Layout1 Layout Explorer **D P X** ⁷ Single click on Layout1 in the Layout Explorer. 🕒 🖳 🖪 🖪 👘 🗈 Drawing A1 Print Layout 14. Rename the Layout 'A1 Print Layout'.

You can now convert the Layout to a PDF file.

11.

13.

15. Go to the File menu tab, hold your mouse over Export until it opens up and then click on the Adobe PDF option.



AutoCAD Drawing

AutoCAD DXF

AutoCAD DWF

Adobe PDF

.dwg .dwg

The Export dialog box pops up.

- 16. Select a location to save the PDF to.
- 17. Click Save.
- 18. Click ok to the PDF Security box that pops up.

After a moment, the PDF document appears in the location you saved it. The PDF version of the drawing is A1 size, the same size as your drawing page.

8

New

Open

Save

Close Drawing

You can now email the document to your printer or save it to a CD or flash disk to take down to your printer.

Let's now create an A4 printout of the loft layout.





D P

同

X



Layout Explorer

E.

🗈 Drawing

🕒 💽

A1 Print Layout

Loft Layout

20. Select the loft plan and title by dragging your mouse from the top left of the plan to the bottom right of the plan and title.

21. Press New Layout button on the Layout Explorer.

PlansXpress® creates a new Layout showing only the loft plan.

- 22. Single click on Layout 2 in the Layout Explorer.
- 23. Rename the Layout 'Loft Layout'.

We now need to adjust the print settings to print the loft layout on an A4 page with a 1:100 scale.



24. Go to the File tab and click Print > Printer Settings.

The Print Options dialog box pops up.

- 25. Click Actual Scale.
- 26. Select 1:100 from the adjacent drop down box.
- 27. Tick the Centre on Page and Monochrome tick boxes.
- 28. Click OK.
- 29. Ensure the page size is set to A4.
- 30. Set the margins to 0.
- 31. Click OK.

A dialog may pop up informing you that the margins are outside the printable area and giving you the option to increase the margins to an appropriate size. If this dialog box pops up, click Yes.

Size: A4 Source: Automatically Select	Scale Scale To Fit Actual Scale I:100				
Orientation Orientation Derivrait Landscape	Options Options Options Monochrome Monochrome with Colour Fill Une Thickness				
Margins Left 0 Right 0 Top 0 Bottom 0 Print Preview Print Pens OK Cancel					

	New	۲		Print
	Open			Print Preview
	Save	۲		Drinten Settin en
8	Close Drawing			Printer settings
0	Drawing Properties			
EE¢	Import	۲		
	Export	۲		
	Print	•		
×	Exit			
	About PlansXpress			

32. Click Print > Print Preview on the File tab to preview the printout.



33. If you're happy with the appearance of the printout, click the Print button in the top left corner.



- 34. You can repeat this process to create Layouts for the first floor plan, rear elevation and loft sections, and then print them to an A4 page with a 1:100 scale. Alternatively, if you have an A3 printer, you can print the drawings with a 1:50 scale.
- 35. 📕 Press the Save button.

TERMS & CONDITIONS TERMS & CONDITIONS FOR PLANSXPRESS®

(PLEASE NOTE IN PARTICULAR THE "LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY" PROVISIONS BELOW)

PLANSXPRESS® - TERMS & CONDITIONS FOR ALL VERSIONS

The software contained in this package is supplied on the terms and conditions of the software licence contained in the enclosed manual & user guide. The supply of this package is conditional upon you reading and accepting the terms and conditions of the licence. If you do not accept the terms and conditions you must not install or use the software and return the software, together with all documentation and all packaging in good condition, to the supplier within 7 days.

Licence Agreement

Please note that this copy of PlansXpress[®] only entitles the user to use the package on one computer and in accordance with the Licence terms detailed below in these notes. This licence agreement applies to all versions of PlansXpress[®] from time to time.

PlansXpress[®] Copyright House Builder XL Limited (HBXL)

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced in any form without the written permission of House Builder XL Limited

This publication contains information, which is confidential to House Builder XL Limited, and all copyright, trademarks and other intellectual property rights of the PlansXpress[®] software and this manual are the exclusive property of House Builder XL Limited.

You have received a single user copy of PlansXpress[®], which entitles you to place the software on one personal computer only, from the date of registration.

You should contact House Builder XL Limited for any other arrangements. House Builder XL Limited 3 Portland Place Pritchard Street Bristol BS2 8RH

Current telephone, fax and email contact details are available at www.hbxl.co.uk

Windows is a trademark of Microsoft Corp.

Registration

All users must register their software online with www.hbxl.co.uk as indicated on loading the software. No support will be provided unless the software has been properly registered.

Annual Charges

The Initial Licence of PlansXpress[®] entitles the user to use of the software on the terms described in this Licence from the initial date of registration.

In order to receive unlimited telephone and email technical support and software upgrades, users must subscribe to PlansXpress[®] HBXL Support and Updates. Support will only be provided with a valid HBXL Support and Updates subscription. On each and every anniversary of the initial PlansXpress[®] HBXL Support and Updates subscription, a renewal fee will become due entitling the user to unlimited telephone and email technical support and all software upgrades for a period of 12 months from the renewal date.

Should the user advise HBXL, prior to the anniversary date of the renewal, that they do not wish to renew their HBXL Support and Updates subscription, then no further renewal fees will be due, and the user's access to technical support, and all software upgrades will cease on the anniversary of the payment of the last subscription.

Technical support

Technical support for PlansXpress[®] is available upon software registration by E-mail via support@hbxl.co.uk or by telephone on 0845 1234 085 with a valid PlansXpress[®] HBXL Support and Updates subscription. Please also view our website www.hbxl.co.uk for further information on telephone technical support options and training.

Telephone support is normally provided between the hours of 9:00am and 5:30 pm Monday through to Friday (excluding Bank and other public holidays). The Company will use its reasonable endeavours to deal with telephone enquiries as soon as possible.

Technical support shall not include the diagnosis and rectification of any fault resulting from the improper use operation or neglect of PlansXpress[®], the modification of PlansXpress[®] or its merger (in whole or in part) with any other unauthorised software, the failure of you to implement upgrades or recommendations in respect of all solutions to faults previously advised by the Company, any repair, adjustment, alteration or modification of PlansXpress[®] by any person other than the Company without the Company's prior written consent, any breach by you of any of your obligations under this Licence or the use of PlansXpress[®] for a purpose for which it was not designed.

Licence

Unless otherwise stated on the CD-ROM, disk or invoice, you have acquired a single user licence, which means that you must only install on one PC only.

House Builder XL Limited hereby grant you a non-exclusive non- transferable licence to use PlansXpress[®] on the terms and conditions herein contained. This licence is personal to you or your company and you may not assign part with or sub let or grant any right or interest in this licence to any other party. You may not copy or alter PlansXpress[®] or transfer it into any other medium. You may not alter, decompile, reverse engineer, disassemble or reverse translate or in any other way derive any source code from PlansXpress[®].

Limited Warranty

The Limited Warranty is included in the cost of the software. House Builder XL Limited, (The Company) warrants that PlansXpress[®] will perform substantially in accordance with the accompanying written materials for a period of ninety (90) days from the date of receipt. The Company does not warrant, guarantee or make any representations regarding the use, or the result of use, of the SOFTWARE or written materials in terms of correctness, accuracy, reliability, currentness or otherwise.

PlansXpress[®] is one product in a range of products available from the Company and whilst the Company makes every reasonable effort to ensure that their products are compatible and will interface with each other, no warranty is given in this respect and by accepting this licence in PlansXpress[®] it is on the basis that its functionality will only be as a stand alone product.

Customer Remedies

The Company and its suppliers entire liability and your exclusive remedy shall be, at The Company's option, either (a) return of the price paid, or (b) repair or replacement of PlansXpress[®] that does not meet this Limited Warranty and which is returned to The Company with a copy of the receipt. This Limited Warranty is void if failure has resulted from accident, abuse or

misapplication. Any replacement software will be warranted for the remainder of the original warranty period or thirty (30) days, whichever is longer.

No Other Warranties

To the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, The Company and its suppliers disclaim all other representations, warranties, conditions or other terms, either expressed or implied, including, but not limited to implied warranties and/or conditions of merchantability and fitness for a particular purpose, with regard to PlansXpress[®], and any accompanying written materials. This Limited Warranty gives you specific legal rights.

Limitations of Liability

YOUR ATTENTION IS IN PARTICULAR DRAWN TO THESE PROVISIONS FOR LIMITATIONS OF LIABILITY.

PlansXpress® is a specialist software product for use by professionals and as such users should apply their professional skill and judgement in assessing outcomes from the application of PlansXpress to a project and the Company accepts no liability with regard to errors or omissions that would be reasonably foreseeable to such a user.

Notwithstanding any other provision of these terms and to the maximum extent permitted by applicable law, in no event shall The Company or its suppliers, or anyone else who has been involved in the creation, production or delivery of this product be liable for any damages whatsoever (including without limitation, direct or indirect damages, loss of business profits, business interruption, loss of goodwill, loss of business information, pecuniary loss, special, incidental or consequential loss) arising out of the use of failure of or inability to use this product, even if The Company has been advised of such damages. In any case, The Company and its suppliers' entire liability under any provision of this agreement shall be limited to the amount actually paid by you for the software or £1,000,000 (being the extent of or the Company's insurance cover) whichever is the lesser.

Nothing in these terms shall limit the Company's liability for death or personal injury caused by the Company or any of its employees or agents negligence.

The Company gives no warranty or service level commitment as regards technical support.

Entire Agreement

This is the only and entire agreement between you and in relation to PlansXpress[®]. It cannot and shall not be capable of modification unless in writing and signed by you and an authorised officer of House Builder XL Limited.

Governing Law

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with the laws of England and Wales and the parties submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the English Courts.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the prior permission in writing from HBXL.